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Unless the context othewise indicates or requires as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

references to we us our or the company refer to RiskMetrics Group Inc and its subsidiaries

References to RiskMetrics refer only to our subsidiaiy RiskMetrics Solutions Inc and its subsidiaries

references to ISS refer only to our subsidiaiy Institutional Shareholder Sevices Inc and its subsidiary

In this annual report on Form 10-K all dollar amounts are expressed in thousands unless indicated

otherwise References to our clients include each business unit division or wholly-owned subsidiaiy of

parent company which has entered into separate customer contract with us

THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K CONTAINS FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT
OF 1995 AND OTHER FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS THESE FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS ARE BASED ON OUR PRESENT INTENT BELIEFS OR EXPECTATIONS AND
MAY NOT OCCUR ACTUAL RESULTS MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE
CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY OUR FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AS RESULT

OF VARIOUS FACTORS SEE ALSO ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS EXCEPT AS REQUIRED BY

LAW WE UNDERTAKE NO OBLIGATION TO UPDATE OR RELEASE ANY FORWARD
LOOKING STATEMENTS AS RESULT OF NEW INFORMATION FUTURE EVENTS OR
OTHERWISE

Item Business

Our Company

RiskMetrics Group is leading provider of risk management and corporate governance products

and services to participants in the global financial markets We enable clients to better understand and

manage the risks associated with their financial holdings to provide greater transparency to their

internal and external constituencies to satisfy regulatory and reporting requirements and to make more

informed investment decisions Our offerings address multiple asset classes markets and geographies

and are sold to diverse client base including asset managers hedge funds pension funds banks

insurance companies financial advisors and corporations As of December 31 2008 we had

approximately 3400 clients located in 56 countries Among our clients are 69 of the 100 largest

investment managers 42 of the 50 largest mutual fund companies and 41 of the 50 largest hedge funds

in each case measured by assets under management

Our company consists of two industry leading businesses RiskMetrics and ISS Institutional

Shareholder Services Together these businesses offer what we believe is the most comprehensive suite

of risk management and corporate governance products and services available in our industry covering

the market credit portfolio governance accounting legal and environmental risks associated with our

clients financial holdings

RiskMetrics The RiskMetrics segment is leading global provider as measured by revenues of

multi-asset position-based risk and wealth management products and services We provide our clients

with comprehensive interactive products and services that allow them to measure and quantify

portfolio risk across security types geographies and markets Our flagship RiskManager mark-to-market

risk system integrates consistently-modeled market data with our widely adopted analytical models and

robust processing capabilities to address our clients risk reporting requirements Our clients generally

license RiskManager as secure interactive web-based application service or as fully-outsourced risk

reporting service In similar fashion we provide clients with solutions based on credit-event risk

through our CreditManager application as well as proposal-generated solutions for financial advisors

at private banks through our WealthBench application The breadth performance and scalability of

our hosted systems are the result of nearly decade of investment in research and development which

we believe provides us with significant competitive advantage On October 2008 in order to

expand our suite of solutions to further address client needs in the area of multi-asset performance



attribution we acquired Applied4 Technology Ltd RiskMetrics serves diverse group of approximately

600 clients worldwide

ISS ISS is leading provider as measured by revenues of corporate governance and specialized

financial research and analysis services to institutional investors and corporations around the world

Through ISS which we acquired on January 11 2007 we provide our clients with fully-outsourced

proxy research voting and vote reporting service to assist them with their proxy voting responsibilities

Through our web-based delivery platform clients can access our in-depth research reports and proxy

voting recommendations We offer both global security coverage and comprehensive proxy voting

solution from policy creation to comprehensive research vote recommendations reliable vote

execution post-vote
disclosure and reporting and analytical tools Our Financial Research and Analysis

products also provide our clients with research reports
and analytical tools covering many investment

criteria that have become increasingly important to investors including companies environmental

social and governance attributes and accounting and compensation practices On August 2007 in

order to further supplement the Financial Research and Analysis product and service offerings of the

ISS business we acquired the Center for Financial Research and Analysis CFRA forensic

accounting research firm ISS serves approximately 2800 clients

We sell our products and services primarily on an annual subscription basis and generally receive

upfront subscription payments from our clients As of December 31 2008 our annualized contract value

ACV was approximately $286.0 million For the year ended December 31 2008 we generated

approximately 93.9% of our revenues from annual subscriptions to our products and services for which

our clients generally pay us in advance In addition during the year ended December 31 2008 we had

renewal rate of approximately 86.3% Our products and services are generally priced based on the

access to our applications and services including volume of data research voting and reports

purchased Our experience has been that over time our clients have often added users and purchased

additional products and services from us which has led to increases in our revenues per client Refer to

Selected Consolidated Financial Data for further discussion regarding annualized contract value

recurring revenue and renewal rate

RiskMetrics hallmarks are significant collaboration with the worlds foremost financial institutions

transparency of key analytics broad academic feedback and client testing Similarly ISS actively works

with institutional investors and industry professionals around the world to formulate its recommended

policies on key corporate governance and accounting issues We believe that our collaborative business

processes
and the breadth of our products and services will help establish common standards to

quantify assess understand and articulate many aspects of financial risk

We serve our global client base through network of 19 offices in 11 countries For the year

ended December 31 2008 approximately 39% of our revenues were generated from clients outside the

Americas

Company History and Acquisitions

At RiskMetrics Group we help people understand and manage broad spectrum of risk across

their financial portfolios Originally founded upon measurement of market risk in portfolio our

business today is built upon more global multi-dimensional view that is unique in the marketplace

RiskMetrics Group offers investors and other financial market participants multiple views and access

into the risk profile of company security or portfolio of financial assets and the expertise to better

understand them We believe profoundly that effective risk mitigation and management hinges on the

ability to fully understand it

The RiskMetrics methodology was developed within JPMorgan in 1992 and was published publicly

in 1994 In 1998 RiskMetrics was spun off and became an independent company providing risk

management products and services



On January 11 2007 recognizing that our clients view of risk needed to broaden beyond market

and credit risk we acquired ISS in order to increase the scale and scope of our risk management

product and service offerings ISS was founded in 1985 with the goal of promoting good corporate

governance practices in the private sector It was the pioneer in the development of policy-based proxy

voting recommendations and today is leader in corporate governance with the broadest research

coverage in the market

On August 2007 we completed the acquisition of CFRA CFRA was founded in 1994 and

provides forensic accounting risk research legal and regulatory risk assessment due diligence and

educational products and services Our acquisition of CFRA further increased the range of specialized

financial research and analysis products and services that we are able to offer to our clients

In January 2008 we completed our initial public offering of 14000000 shares of our common

stock which included 4035816 shares sold by selling stockholders We did not receive any proceeds

from the sale of the shares by the selling stockholders In addition we granted the underwriters an

option to purchase maximum of 2100000 additional shares of common stock from us to cover

over-allotments which was exercised in full in January 2008 Our net proceeds from the offering

including the exercise of the underwriters allotment were $193.9 million after deducting underwriting

discounts and commissions and approximately $3.5 million of offering expenses

On October 2008 we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Applied4 Technology Ltd

Applied4 for approximately $1.8 million in cash Additional purchase price consideration of between

approximately $1.4 million and $1.7 million may be paid for the acquisition of Applied4 if certain

earning targets are achieved during 2009 through 2011 The purpose of this acquisition was to broaden

the performance attribution analytical tools we can offer our clients

In 2008 we recorded non-cash impairment charge for goodwill and intangible asset totaling

$160.1 million as result of the Company annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset

impairment review The impairment charge included $154.2 million write-down to ISS goodwill

primarily as result of the negative equity market conditions which caused material decline in

industry market multiples in the second half of 2008 In addition the impairment charge also included

$5.9 million writedown to an ISS product tradename as result of an integration plan for the

tradename which reduced its expected life

On February 13 2009 we signed definitive stock purchase agreement to acquire Innovest

Strategic Value Advisors for approximately $16 million in cash subject to working capital adjustments

Headquartered in New York Innovest is leading provider of sustainability research for the

institutional investment community The purpose of this acquisition is to enhance the product offerings

and services we may offer our customers in assessing risk within the environmental social and

governance sectors The acquisition is expected to close March 2009

Our Growth Strategy

We intend to continue to develop and sell products and services that enable investors to make

more informed investment decisions monitor and comply with exposure and risk limits provide greater

transparency to both internal audiences and external constituencies and meet regulatory and reporting

requirements Most of our clients are in the financial services industry In 2008 stock market volatility

and lack of available credit led to the closure or consolidation of number of our clients We expect

these 2008 events to impact our financial results including our renewal rate and new sales growth in

the near term



The major components of our growth strategy are as follows

Increase Sales to Existing Clients

We plan to broaden our relationships with our clients in the following ways

Provide additional data research and analytical products and services We continue to expand

RiskMetrics coverage of asset classes and its library of analytical models in response to our

clients needs This expansion has allowed us to sell more data applications and services to our

clients Similarly as ISS increases its global research coverage and develops new issue-specific

research products and services we expect to continue to increase our product subscriptions

through volume-based expansion of proxy research and voting services and by providing

additional financial research and analytical products and services

Offer more products and services Our clients increasingly rely on us for more fully-outsourced

risk management services significant percentage of our new sales to existing clients have

involved fully-outsourced offerings We expect
this trend to continue and have invested in the

scalable technology and data infrastructure necessary to support our outsourced products and

services In the year ended December 31 2008 approximately half of our new subscription

annualized contract value resulted from sales to existing customers Further our average

contract value has significantly increased over the last five years

Leverage our sales force As of December 31 2008 we had global sales force of approximately

67 employees in 11 offices worldwide We believe that our sales force which has been integrated

to sell RiskMetrics and ISS products will allow us to cross-sell our suite of products and services

to our combined client base In particular we expect to sell more products and services to our

existing clients as we work with more business groups or units within their organizations as

result of our expanded suite of risk and governance products and services

Expand our Client Base

We plan to continue to pursue the following initiatives to further expand our client base

Sell our portfolio risk reporting products and services to new clients Despite the growth of our

RiskMetrics business the market for outsourced risk reporting is relatively new and many

financial institutions continue to rely on in-house risk management products and services We

believe that over time many of these institutions will choose to integrate our fully-outsourced

risk reporting management and analysis systems to reduce costs and improve functionality

Sell our Governance Services and Financial Research and Analysis offerings to new clients We

believe that additional opportunities exist with respect to institutional investors who currently

conduct research and vote their proxies themselves Additionally we believe there is an

opportunity to increase our penetration among front office portfolio managers whom we have

not traditionally targeted by selling them our financial research and analysis products and

services

Expand our significant global presence We believe that the international market for corporate

governance products and services is growing and that we will be able to capitalize on increased

demand by leveraging our globally-recognized RiskMetrics Group brand international presence

and combined sales force We also expect to provide
additional specialty financial research and

analytical products to our clients outside the United States

We have evidenced strong track record of adding new clients For the year ended December 31

2008 we added over $72.4 million in ACV of which approximately $30.4 million was from new clients



Enhance and Extend our Products and Services

We plan to continue to augment our suite of risk management and corporate governance products

and services in the following ways

Enhance our product capabilities RiskMetrics has broadened its coverage of asset classes

enhanced its analytical models and launched three major upgrades of its entire risk services

product suite Additionally ISS has broadened its research coverage and introduced new

governance and research products including MA Edge We intend to continue to develop new

products that enable our clients to measure and manage many elements of risk by broadening

the scope of our product and service offerings

Extend our service offerings We have continuously upgraded the features functionality and

scalability of our infrastructure in order to offer our clients additional fully-outsourced risk

reporting and electronic proxy voting services We believe that this continued investment will

allow us to continue to improve our outsourcing capabilities

Selectively pursue acquisitions In 2008 we supplemented our internal product and service

development efforts with our acquisition of Applied4 As result we have entered into the

multi-asset class performance attribution business with the purpose of building strategic value

onto our existing product platform Also in February 2009 we agreed to acquire Innovest which

will enhance the product offerings and services we may offer our customers in assessing risk

within the environmental social and governance sectors We intend to continue to selectively

pursue acquisition opportunities to complement our product and service offerings to provide the

most comprehensive risk management offerings to our clients

Continue to Develip our Distinct Corporate Culture

Our ability to develop new products and services has been and will continue to be crucial to

keeping pace with evolving financial markets Consequently we believe that our success will continue to

depend on the strength of our intellectual capital and that our employees and distinct corporate

culture provide us with significant competitive advantages We work hard to retain our employees by

ensuring that they have challenging rewarding and fun work environment We also encourage our

employees to follow their instincts and develop new ideas which have resulted in many of our most

important analytical and technological developments At the same time we strive to engender team

spirit and sense of common purpose that we believe enables us to attract and retain talented

employees

Our talented employees share unique sense of purpose With little corporate hierarchy and no

formal titles we value substance over form and question every assumption Every employee is an

owner as we see ownership as key to providing the highest level of service to our clients as well as

attracting developing and retaining the talent we seek in todays highly competitive labor market This

work environment and ownership create culture of respect empowerment and shared purpose that is

aggressively managed to ensure our long-term success



Business Segments Products and Services

We divide our business operations into two segments RiskMetrics and ISS We acquired ISS on

January 11 2007 We have included in the table below revenue data for ISS prior to its acquisition

because the ISS business represents significant amount of our current and expected future revenues

The table below shows revenue by business segment for each of the past three years

For the years ended December 31

Revenue by Segment
2006 2007 2008

RiskMetrics1 $101236 $121126 $154626

Revenue Growth 19.6% 27.7%

ISS2 $103269 $119175 $141767

Revenue Growth 15.4% 19.0%

RiskMetrics revenue growth was impacted by the termination of JPMorgan online

service agreement on April 30 2006 For the year ended December 31 2006 we derived

$4.3 million of revenue from the JPMorgan online services agreement

ISS revenue in 2007 does not include $3.3 million in revenue generated by ISS from

January 2007 through January 11 2007 In addition ISS revenue growth in 2007 was

impacted by the acquisition of CFRA on August 2007

Business segment revenue segment income from operations and assets attributable to foreign and

domestic operations are set forth in Note 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included herein

RiskMetrics Segment

Overview

RiskMetrics is leading provider
of multi-asset position-based

risk and wealth management

products and services to global asset managers hedge funds banks insurance companies pension funds

and wealth managers We provide our clients with access to customizable applications interactive

analytics and risk reports
based on comprehensive and consistently-modeled market data that are fully-

integrated with their holdings We believe that our comprehensive approach to analyzing
multi-asset

portfolios and our ability to fully integrate with our clients holdings enable us to provide products and

services which are an integral and essential part of our clients portfolio risk management systems

These products and services provide timely and actionable insights into the market and credit risks of

clients portfolios

These products and services allow our clients to

measure their trading credit and counterparty risk

monitor and comply with internal or external exposure and risk limits

deploy and optimize their use of capital

communicate risk in transparent fashion to regulators investors clients and creditors

meet regulatory requirements address suitability criteria and implement best practices and

create investment planning proposals for high net worth individuals

All of our RiskMetrics products and services include integrated access to our extensive set of

market-related data Embedded within our RiskMetrics offerings are over 750000 market data time

series spanning global interest rates foreign exchange rates equity prices implied volatilities credit



spreads commodity prices and inflation rates These data are systematically quality-controlled by our

dedicated teams of analysts who examine the data for outliers missing data points and other anomalies

These data are then transformed into form suitable for use in risk management systems We also

collect and process international benchmark data for thousands of equity fixed-income and commodity

indices These data are used by asset managers and pension plans who track standard or customized

benchmarks as well as by clients to measure their risk and exposure relative to an index

The pricing model for our RiskMetrics products and services is primarily subscription-based

typically for period of one year Depending upon the solution offering our RiskMetrics products and

services are available through variety of delivery options including hosted web-based applications

fully- outsourced managed services local installation and on component-by-component basis

Our comprehensive suite of products and services covers broad range of asset classes including

equities bonds commodities foreign exchange futures options derivatives structured products

interest-rate products and credit products and is designed to provide our clients with transparent

assessment of the risk in their portfolios in the following three areas Market Risk Credit Risk and

Wealth Management

Market Risk

Managing the risk inherent in our clients portfolios has become difficult task for both asset and

portfolio managers Increasingly complex instruments expanding asset classes complex trading

strategies and significant data requirements have created complicated risk assessment task Our

approach is to combine all the analytics technologies and data required into one comprehensive

offering accessible through common portal We provide our clients with comprehensive interactive

products and services that allow them to measure and quantify portfolio risk across security types

geographies and markets

During 2008 our Market Risk offerings accounted for approximately 87% of RiskMetrics revenue

Our Market Risk products and services consist of RiskManager and its related services HedgePlatform

and DataMetrics Although we sometimes sell our data on stand alone basis our data are usually

embedded in our products and services

RiskManager

RiskManager our flagship market risk system provides clients with comprehensive solution for

measuring risk in their portfolios and for running sensitivity and stress test analyses Underlying

RiskManager is service-oriented architecture which is flexible scalable and extensible Because we

host our products and deliver our services from scalable common technology and data infrastructure

all of our clients benefit from advances in our RiskManager market risk system



RiskManager incorporates three primary components delivery mechanisms services platform

and the core risk elements as shown in the following diagram

Clients

Delivery

Mechanisms

Services

Platform

Core Risk

Elements

Services

Delivery MechanismsOur delivery mechanisms enable our clients to access risk analyses and

reports in one of three methods as an interactive web-based application operated in self-directed

fashion as fully- outsourced or managed service offering in which RiskMetrics utilizes the system on

behalf of the client or as web service in which clients systems access our core risk elements by

connecting directly to our systems Each of these methods involves varying degrees of interaction with

the key components of our system When accessed as web-based application clients have complete

control over when and how often they upload positions and holdings into the system application

Clients can create their own ad hoc analysis build dynamic what-if scenarios design custom reports

for immediate use run intra-day pre-trade tests and schedule their own overnight data processing and

report generation As fully-outsourced or managed service we configure the services platform to

create customized risk reporting service for our clients In doing so we take on the additional

responsibility
of uploading the clients positions and holdings from the clients internal systems fund

administrator broker or custodian schedule and direct the running of all risk analyses and produce

risk reports our clients use for their internal and external requirements

Web service clients bypass our other delivery mechanisms and instead have their own systems

connect directly to our core risk elements Clients typically use our web services to seamlessly embed

the functionality available in RiskManager directly into their own systems and interfaces

Services PlatformOur proprietary platform is at the core of our scalable services-oriented

architecture and allows us to manage many processes simultaneously The platform orchestrates the

flow of information between us and our clients as well as directs the internal operations of our risk

elements Using todays latest server technologies our platform allows us to simultaneously process

millions of positions for hundreds of clients per day The platform is monitored 24 hours day seven

days
week by group of dedicated operations engineers to ensure peak performance of the entire

system



Core Risk ElementsThe core risk elements underlying RiskManager represent our key

intellectual property and consist of significant amounts of data complex analytical models and

proprietary software applications These elements include

DataMetricsQuality-checked and consistently-modeled market and reference data

incorporating over four million active global securities and over 750000 market data time series

per day Embedded within RiskManager and available for use by any other core risk elements

these market data span global interest rates foreign exchange rates equity prices implied

volatilities credit spreads commodity prices and inflation rates These data are systematically

analyzed by dedicated teams at RiskMetrics for outliers missing data points and other anomalies

after which the data are further transformed into wide range of risk-related data series such as

issuer-specific yield curves implied-volatility surfaces and constant-maturity futures

RiskServerThe engine behind all RiskManager analytics and calculations RiskServer contains

our proprietary analytical models

ReportServerAutomates the generation of custom reports for client use investor disclosure or

to meet regulatory requirements

PortfolioServerMatches client positions with data from our market database and tags the data

based on specific client needs

HedgePlatform

HedgePlatform is reporting service allowing clients that invest in hedge funds including funds of

funds pension funds and endowments to measure evaluate and monitor the risk of their hedge fund

investments across multiple hedge fund strategies We collect position-level information from hedge

funds on monthly basis and provide our clients with risk report for each individual hedge fund in

which they invest as well as an aggregate risk report for their overall portfolio of hedge funds Our

clients who use RiskManager to measure the risk of their own holdings can further integrate the

positions collected via our HedgePlatform service to allow computation of risk across their entire

portfolio but retains the proprietary nature of the underlying hedge fund holdings HedgePlatform

reports include statistics such as exposure long short net and gross sensitivities scenario analysis

stress tests and VAR analysis

DataMetrics

DataMetrics is data service that allows clients to access the market data embedded in

RiskManager for use in their own proprietary or other third-party systems In addition to direct access

to market data time series DataMetrics can provide clients with customized data processing services

Credit Risk

Our credit risk products and services allow our clients to consolidate multiple types of credit

exposures across an institution Our CreditManager product is portfolio credit risk management

system used primarily by banks to calculate economic capital facilitate risk-based pricing and measure

risk concentrations The application is designed to consolidate and compare risks and opportunities

across multiple credit exposures including bonds credit derivatives and traditional lending

Wealth Management

WealthBench WealthBench is an investment planning platform for private banks financial

advisors brokerages and trust companies WealthBench delivers fully-informed tailored investment

planning proposals for high net worth individuals reflecting their needs goals and risk tolerances while

10



remaining consistent with firm-driven investment and risk-based policies
WealthBench incorporates

robust analytics market-consistent inputs and transparent methodologies

Risk Compliance We provide portfolio
risk statistics to the affluent and mass-affluent segments of

consumer banks to allow their financial advisors to ensure compliance with clients stated investment

policies and risk tolerances at the point of sale and monitor compliance on an ongoing basis

ISS Segment

Overview

ISS is leading provider of corporate governance and financial research and analysis services to

institutional investors and corporations around the world We facilitate the voting of proxies by

institutional investors and provide in-depth research and analysis to help inform their voting decisions

and assess issuer-specific risk ISS products and services consist of Governance Services to institutional

investors and Financial Research and Analysis services to institutional investors corporations and

professional service firms The majority of ISS products and services are delivered through our

Governance Analytics web-based platform The pricing model for ISS products and services is

primarily subscription-based and varies depending on the product or service purchased

We provide proxy services to institutional investors globally We are the largest proxy advisory firm

that offers fully-integrated end-to-end proxy voting service including policy creation comprehensive

research vote recommendations reliable vote execution and reporting and analytical tools Although

some of our Proxy Research and Voting clients purchase our proxy research on stand-alone basis the

vast majority purchase comprehensive research and voting product In 2008 we issued proxy research

and vote recommendations for more than 45000 shareholder meetings across 110 countries and voted

on behalf of our clients 7.6 million ballots representing over 1.3 trillion shares We believe these

amounts are substantially more than any of our competitors During 2008 Governance Services

accounted for approximately 66% of ISS revenues

We also offer Financial Research and Analysis products and services designed to assess the overall

financial health of companies by analyzing the investment implications of companies accounting

policies legal and regulatory exposure environmental social and governance practices mergers and

acquisitions initiatives and compensation plans Our product and service offerings are provided

primarily to portfolio managers for investment analysis to corporations to monitor compliance with

corporate governance practices and to professional services organizations to support due diligence

efforts These offerings are either bundled with other services or sold on an individual basis and allow

investors to add specialized qualitative analysis to more traditional research used in the investment

decision-making process During 2008 Financial Research and Analysis accounted for approximately

34% of ISS revenues

Governance Services

We categorize our Governance Services products and services into three distinct categories Proxy

Research and Voting Global Proxy Distribution Services and Securities Class Action Services

Proxy Research and Voting

Through our Governance Analytics platform we provide our clients with vote recommendations

comprehensive analyses and online voting capabilities that enable users to make informed decisions

about how to vote on all items with respect to each shareholder meeting agenda that we cover execute

their votes and monitor and track their votes for reporting purposes Our Proxy Research and Voting

staff currently operates out of numerous offices around the world providing global network of local

11



expertise In 2009 we plan to deliver new proxy voting platform which will help provide more

effective product for our clients and allow us to achieve headcount and operational efficiencies

The following diagram illustrates our Proxy Research and Voting services and how they integrate

into the flow of the proxy process

Proxy

Research

cry ces

Processing

Proxy Research We provide research coverage on over 6900 U.S.-based companies and

approximately 25900 non-U.S companies Our standard global coverage includes Morgan Stanley

EAFE stocks FTSE All-Share and TSE 300 listings selected Goldman Sachs/FTA securities the first

section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange selected sponsored ADRs from broad range of countries as

well as securities in emerging markets The size breadth and experience of the research team allows

ISS to maximize an in-depth understanding of local business practices proxy voting requirements

language and culture across most developed corporate governance markets globally

ISS policy board works to ensure that ISS voting policies are developed and applied within

framework of corporate governance best practices ISS actively works with institutional clients and

industry professionals around the world to gather input on its proxy voting policies Each year through

an annual policy survey of our institutional clients and other forums institutional investors are invited

to share their ideas on corporate governance issues including board structure executive compensation

mergers and acquisitions and corporate accountability to ensure that our standard voting policies are

aligned with the views of our institutional clients

Our Proxy Research and Voting recommendations are based on the application of ISS voting

policies to the particular voting items on an issuers agenda Our research and recommendations are

produced based on benchmark specialized and custom policies

ISS develops separate benchmark policies for U.S securities and non-U.S securities ISS non-U.S

benchmark policies are adjusted to address in-country concerns ISS benchmark policies serve as an

industry standard and best practice guide to corporate governance In addition to our benchmark

policies we recognize that the philosophies and policies used to make proxy voting decisions range

widely among different types of investors Understanding the diverse needs of our clients we are able

to create policies that meet their requirements through number of specialized policies such as SRI

policies based on environmentally and socially responsible guidelines and our Taft-Hartley policy which

is based on AFL-CIO guidelines For many institutional investors with highly specialized or unique

needs for proxy research and policy we also offer custom proxy advisory services in which we work

with our clients to develop and refine governance policy guidelines that match their particular views

and are unique to them

Proxy Voting Our Proxy Voting services include notifying clients of upcoming shareholder

meetings receiving proxy ballots from third-party proxy distributors generating consolidated proxy

ballots and instructions across our clients portfolios executing and tabulating our clients votes in

accordance with their instructions maintaining voting records and providing comprehensive vote

reporting

Proxy Voting

Policy

Proxy

Research

Vote

Recommendations

Vote

Decisions

Vote

Confirmation
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Utilizing our Governance Analytics platform our integrated platform for proxy voting and research

as well as our Financial Research and Analysis products proxy administrators and investment managers

are able to access timely governance data and ensure efficient and reliable vote execution in highly

automated fashion Our vote reporting lets our clients stay informed and empowered with accurate and

timely information including full vote audit trails and intra-day updates of all fund meeting and

agenda information In addition to daily audits and detailed vote reconciliation we conduct automated

end-of-day production checks to ensure all votes are executed accurately

Our account representatives and voting operations professionals worldwide provide expert guidance

and dedicated support to make sure all clients votes are cast in accordance with their established proxy

guidelines In addition we have Straight Through Processing or STP arrangement with Broadridge

Financial Solutions with respect to U.S and global ballots This STP arrangement allows for ballots to

be received and proxy votes to be made electronically minimizing the manual aspects of the proxy

voting process
and limiting the risk of error inherent in manual processes This STP arrangement and

other arrangements with third party
ballot distributors and custodians have allowed our number of

ballots processed to increase from 2.0 million in 2000 to 7.6 million in 2008

Vote Disclosure is cost-effective proxy voting solution to help U.S investment companies comply

with the SEC disclosure rules and give shareholders easy access to institutional voting records For

users of this service we collect report and record the information required by the SEC in the

Form N-PX and provide users with reports
and personalized easily navigable web site for public vote

and proxy policy
disclosure

Global Proxy Distribution Services GPD
Our GPD service offers complete global proxy distribution solution to custodian banks for

non-U.S securities through single independent platform GPD provides for the efficient distribution

and voting of proxies giving
clients the ability to review and download detailed meeting information

and individualized account information GPD also provides online access to customized record-keeping

and reporting across all custodians and sub-custodians

Securities Class Action Services SCAS
We deliver complete class action monitoring and claims filing service to institutional investors

who have potential recovery rights in class action lawsuits We provide comprehensive securities

litigation database including up-to-date case information and detailed historical class action data and

provide fully-outsourced notification tracking and claims filing services to our institutional clients Our

arrangements with claims administrators and law firms around the world enable us to advise on new

developments in global markets and streamline the filing process

SCAS offers more detailed portfolio specific views of cases and settlements with an online report

library that allows clients to keep track of the complete securities class action lifecycle from when

case is first identified until payment is disbursed Securities class action data provided to our clients

include class periods settlement dates status reports award amounts claim deadline dates claims

administrator details and pertinent related data

Financial Research and Analysis

We provide specialized financial research and analysis products and services to asset managers

hedge funds corporations and professional services firms across many dimensions of risk governance

accounting environmental social and legal issues Most of our Financial Research and Analysis

products and services are delivered through our integrated Governance Analytics platform Throughout

its history CFRA has provided early warnings on numerous high profile accounting irregularities in
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North America and Europe including many of the major accounting scandals and key issues such as

options backdating and pension accounting reform

Our Financial Research and Analysis offerings fall into four general categories CFRA Forensic

Accounting Research Environmental Social and Governance Services MA Edge and Compensation

Services

CFRA Forensic Accounting Research

Through rigorous and proprietary research process our global team of analysts assesses the

reported financial results of over 10000 companies worldwide We focus on providing our clients with

timely and actionable risk analysis reports regarding earnings and cash flow quality and sustainability

legal and regulatory risk and overall business health Our clients rely on our continuous analysis and

objective perspective

CFRAs largest product is Accounting Lens leading forensic accounting risk research report

offering for investors providing early warning signals for companies showing signs of operational or

financial distress The reports consist of in-depth company research educational and industry research

access to our proprietary earnings quality database and research analyst contact In 2007 CFRA
launched new service Legal Edge which is focused on identifying and analyzing hidden legal and

regulatory risks CFRA also provides customized research services for client-defined projects

Environmental Social and Governance Services

Our ESG Research and Analytics products and services include screening and modeling tools

that allow institutional investors to apply socially responsible guidelines to portfolios understand the

implications of restrictions on portfolios and examine company-specific profiles These services also

include our Corporate Governance Quotient or CGQ quantitative ratings of corporate securities based

on relative attractiveness of their corporate governance profiles Our services also help clients manage

portfolio risk by incorporating an in-depth set of quantitative and qualitative ESG information into

their investment decision making processes

Our ESG Analytics provides sector-based research reports on over 5000 companies across more
than 80 social and environmental issues These reports are designed to summarize key issues and to

facilitate discussions on social and environmental policies between institutional investor clients and

global companies Relative scoring data for each company enable investors to compare performance

and capabilities across industry sectors to assess companys progress towards best practices

Our CGQ ratings currently cover more than 7400 companies across 34 countries with underlying

data for up to 70 individual corporate governance variables The CGQ ratings rate the corporate

governance practices of companies based on framework developed by ISS Areas of particular focus

include board of directors audit charter and bylaw provisions anti-takeover provisions and executive

and director compensation

MA Edge

Our MA Edge service provides an independent in-depth analysis that focuses specifically on

proposed merger and acquisition deals and proxy contests to inform institutional investors This

offering complements our traditional proxy research by providing the same foundational analysis and

vote recommendation but also delivers ongoing deal notes that keep users abreast of key events as the

deal or contest evolves Coverage continues as issues develop from the date of announcement through

the shareholder vote The analysis covers key aspects of transaction including strategic rationale

corporate governance and shareholder rights issues
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Compensation Advisoty Services

We provide set of turnkey products and services that enable compensation professionals and

committee members to optimize compensation plan design by modeling analyzing and benchmarking

executive compensation Our Compensation Advisory Services provide access to experienced and

dedicated compensation plan analysts and support to our clients in modeling the cost of equity

compensation plans and determining optimal compensation plan design Alternatively we provide

web-based compensation modeling tool Compass that measures the cost of equity-based
incentive

plans using binomial option pricing model

Our Clients

We have global footprint which allows us to support our highly-diversified
client base across

numerous geographies with in-depth analysis based on local knowledge No client represented more

than 1% of our revenues during the year
ended December 31 2008 and our top 20 clients represented

less than 11% of revenues Our client base is geographically diverse as well with 39% of our revenues

during the year
ended December 31 2008 generated from clients located outside of the Americas

As of December 31 2008 RiskMetrics annualized contract value by client type was distributed

approximately as follows 57% asset management 22% alternative investment managers 15%

commercial and investment banking and trading and 6% corporate professional services and other As

of December 31 2008 our clients in the Americas EMEA and Asia comprised approximately 58%

36% and 6% of RiskMetrics annualized contract value respectively

RiskMetrics

Approximately 600 clients worldwide rely on us for their portfolio risk management needs Our

RiskMetrics clients include leading asset managers hedge funds pension funds commercial and

investment banks central banks insurance companies private banks and regulators The following table

summarizes RiskMetrics revenue on percentage basis by geographic region based on the country in

which the customer is located

For the years ended December 31

RiskMetrics Revenue by Region
2006 2007 2008

Americas 52.1% 46.7% 45.6%

EMEA Europe Middle East and Africa 39.0% 45.0% 47.3%

Asia

Total
100% 100%

ISS

Approximately 2800 organizations worldwide rely on ISS for their corporate governance proxy

voting and financial research and analysis needs Clients of our financial research and analysis services

generally include institutional investors hedge funds insurance underwriters and diversified financial

institutions We also provide our Financial Research and Analysis products and services to corporations

and regulatory
bodies worldwide The following table summarizes ISS which we acquired on
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January 11 2007 revenue on percentage basis by geographic region based on the country in which

the customer is located

For the years ended December 31

ISS Revenue by Region 2006 2007 2008

Americas 80.0% 77.6% 78.0%

EMEA Europe Middle East and Africa 16.0% 17.4% 17.6%

Asia 4AJ% 5.0% 4.4%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Our ISS business serves both institutional and corporate clients and we recognize that there is

potential for conflict of interest with respect to the provision of products and services to corporate

issuers and the products and services we provide to our institutional investor clients We have instituted

multiple safeguards to mitigate any real or perceived conflicts of interests We have formed subsidiary

that provides governance services to corporations This subsidiary ISS Corporate Services has distinct

resources and firewall that prevents the flow of information from ISS Corporate Services to ISS

Every ISS Corporate Services contract indicates that the purchase of corporate services will not result

in preferential treatment from ISS and does not influence ISS proxy recommendations or CGQ scores

Recommendations and CGQ scores are based solely on the application of ISS published policies and

by an issuers actual governance policies and practices

Our Industry and Market Opportunity

Industiy

In 2008 the global financial markets were adversely impacted by the current market environment

that includes illiquidity market volatility widening credit spreads changes in interest rates currency

exchange fluctuations and new legal and compliance requirements These market conditions and the

reduced business activity have had negative impact on number of our clients and have resulted in

decline on renewal rates and new sales growth However we are exploring numerous other risk

management opportunities around view that in the aftermath of the financial crisis we will see more
risk regulation in the financial industry going forward In general regulation has been key driver to

our business growth In the event that the current financial crisis results in further regulation we
believe that such regulation could be driver for growth in our business

As result of increasing complexity of investment strategies governments and regulatory

authorities are increasing the requirements on financial services firms and investment firms to track and

report risk as part of their daily operations To satisfy their risk management needs firms across the

financial services industry have significantly increased their expenditures on portfolio risk management

technologies Financial services firms have traditionally developed these products and services through

in-house information technology or IT and research and development staffs However the increasing

scale and specialization needed to support multi-asset class portfolios and complex securities and

strategies have in many cases caused these firms to turn to more comprehensive products and services

from dedicated providers who can furnish more effective solutions than internal development teams In

addition an increasing number of firms are utilizing risk management solutions from external vendors

in order to provide the third party independent risk reports often demanded by their clients We
believe the current financial crisis may result in further regulation with respect to risk

Government regulation is also driving significant changes in governance practices In the United

States proxy voting is both legal requirement and non-discretionary event for many institutional

investors Through its oversight of ERISA the U.S Department of Labor requires that pension funds

treat their proxy or right to vote as an asset which must be exercised At the same time the SEC
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requires mutual funds to disclose to their customers how they voted the proxies of the securities they

hold In the United States corporate governance-related regulation aimed at issuers such as the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act further strengthens the focus among investors on governance and related issues

While the United States remains at the forefront of regulation-mandated corporate governance

practices
the rest of the world is increasingly adopting more stringent corporate governance

requirements This is illustrated by the adoption of the Company Reform Law in the United Kingdom

and increased proxy voting requirements in countries such as Germany Italy and Japan

The visibility of corporate governance and recognition of the risks associated with poor governance

practices have increased significantly during the past several years Corporate governance has shifted

from compliance function to business imperative Whether driven by high-profile corporate scandals

or increasing shareholder activism both investors and issuers are far more cognizant of the

consequences of governance practices on their businesses or portfolio returns Public companies that

ignore best practices increasingly risk shareholder dissent and reputation risk As institutional equity

ownership grows the power of institutional investors to effect change in their portfolio companies has

grown in tandem Along with the focus on corporate governance investors are increasingly focusing on

environmental and social issues in making investment and proxy voting decisions This has increased

the need for in-depth proxy research as tool for investors engaging in socially responsible investing

Traditional research models are also undergoing significant change as market forces reshape both

the supply of and demand for research products and services While traditional Wall Street research

retains an important role investors are increasingly demanding specialized or targeted research that is

free from any perceived conflicts of interest or satisfies specific needs Participants in the financial

services industry including investors underwriters and regulators are increasingly demanding

specialized research perspectives to better inform their decision-making processes These specialized

services are often used to help identify risk generate investment opportunities or supplement internal

due diligence efforts As many of the large brokerage firms have reduced the size of their research

staffs given new regulatory and economic realities independent research firms have increased their

capabilities

Market Opportunity

Our target market is cross-section of global financial services firms that includes asset managers

hedge funds commercial and investment banks pension funds and insurance companies We also target

other market participants such as third-party advisors corporations underwriters and central banks

We believe that number of key market trends are driving the growth of our business and increasing

the value we can offer to our expanding client universe

Growing Global Financial Markets and Investment Portfolio Complexity The variety complexity and

geographic diversity of financial assets held by investors have expanded significantly resulting in multi-

asset class multi-national portfolios often including derivatives and other structured products

Increasing Demand for lJansparency RiskMetrics believes that the viability of the global financial

community is founded upon transparency and trust Investors increasingly need to document their risk

profile on regular basis for both internal audiences such as risk committees as well as external

constituencies such as limited partners
and regulators In order to satisfy these demands

comprehensive risk management has become an essential requirement Furthermore institutional

investors have increasingly used their proxy voting power as tool to motivate companies to

demonstrate better accountability and transparency We believe that as investors continue to demand

greater transparency
with respect to multiple dimensions of financial risk demand for our

comprehensive suite of risk management services will continue to grow
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Increasing Regulatory Requirements Regulatory bodies around the world continue to drive change

and create opportunities in the markets we serve Portfolio risk reporting and measurement regulations

such as UCITS III U.S Department of Labor proxy voting requirements and corporate governance

related regulations including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have increased regulatory compliance

requirements and have further emphasized the need for comprehensive risk management tools We

believe the increased focus on regulatory requirements around the world will drive further demand for

our products and services

Increasing Focus on Corporate Governance During the past several years there has been significant

growth in the visibility of corporate governance and recognition of the risks associated with poor

governance practices Whether driven by high-profile corporate scandals or increasing shareholder

activism both investors and issuers are far more cognizant of the consequences of governance practices

on their businesses or portfolio returns Furthermore investors are increasingly focusing on companies

environmental and social attributes when making investment and proxy voting decisions We believe

that these trends are driving the need for in-depth specialized research as tool for investors engaging

in socially responsible investing and will continue to fuel demand for ISS products and services

Increasing Demand for Outsourced Products and Services Many financial services firms are

increasingly utilizing outsourced solutions that enable them to focus on their core competencies and

provide greater capabilities and are more cost effective than their in-house systems As third-party

alternatives have improved in quality reliability efficiency and scalability even the largest firms are

recognizing the value of outsourcing In particular an increasing number of firms are utilizing risk

measurement and management solutions from external vendors These vendors provide independent

risk reporting products and services which are often requested by the financial services firms clients As

provider of market leading fully-outsourced risk and governance services we believe that we will

continue to be able to capitalize on this trend

Competition

The competitive landscape for multi-asset class risk management and corporate governance and

financial research and analysis products and services is characterized by limited number of external

third-party competitors ISS competes with firms such as Broadridge Financial Solutions which

provides proxy voting services Glass Lewis Co which provides research voting recommendation

and voting execution services and Proxy Governance Inc which provides research voting

recommendation and voting execution services In addition RiskMetrics competes with firms such as

JP Morgans Measurisk BlackRock Inc.s BlackRock Solutions unit DST Systems Inc Fimalac S.A.s

Algorithmics unit Moody Corporations KMV unit MSCI Barra and SunGard Data Systems Inc We
also face competition from internal development at financial institutions and corporations We compete

in these markets primarily on the basis of brand recognition market coverage methodology and

breadth of service offering

Research and Development and Operations

Research and Development

RiskMetrics

The RiskMetrics research and development team is responsible for our risk research data and

analytics engineering infrastructure and application development testing implementation and

deployment The teams years of collaborative innovation and research with our clients which include

many of the worlds leadinfinancial institutions has resulted in an institutional knowledge which we

believe would require substntial time and investment to replicate We seek to maintain this

competitive advantage through significant ongoing investment in research and development
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Iss

ISS has invested in systems processes
and controls to handle an increase in transactions processed

We have technology infrastructure and proven track record in automating and scaling operationally

complex and time critical tasks Our ISS development team has created integrated processing systems

which have been developed in scalable architecture linked to centralized data warehouse The ISS

research and development team also supports ISS Governance Analytics platform which provides our

clients with complete transparency
related to the outsource arrangement they have in place with ISS

Research and development expenses amounted to $21202 $31142 and $41593 for the years

ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

Operations

Our operations group manages the internal technical infrastructure of RiskMetrics including data

centers networks and telecommunications and the daily operational elements of our hosted

applications
which run all analytics data and client processes Daily functions include processing our

market data time series securities reference data and benchmarks from our global data providers

loading and processing millions of client positions and monitoring and ensuring peak performance Our

primary operations are hosted at two redundant data centers in New York City and Boston connected

together via secure network We also host two additional data centers in Switzerland We maintain

RiskMetrics operations teams in New York London Oklahoma and Singapore

Many of ISS clients outsource proxy voting and vote reporting to ISS We have had success in

meeting client requirements while also increasing our transactional volume through increased

automation and by leveraging our operations center in Manila Philippines which has grown in the last

five years to over 182 employees This operations center reduces the operational cost per transaction

and has been key component of our success

Sales Marketing and Client Support

We sell our products and services primarily through direct interaction with our clients As of

December 31 2008 we had sales force of 67 people in 11 offices around the world Sales employees

are compensated on salary and commission basis

Our account management staff is composed of approximately 122 employees in 14 offices

worldwide Account managers are assigned to our clients based on geographic location and client type

Our account management team works closely with our clients to optimize our clients use of our

products and services and we believe that our account management teams product knowledge and

local presence differentiates us from our competition

Our marketing and communications team supports
all of our business units with the aim of helping

us increase sales generate qualified sales leads enhance our brand increase our visibility improve the

client experience
and educate the financial community about risk and governance Key areas of focus

include communications and industry outreach and event management The team also proactively

manages our relationship with the media which frequently seeks our opinion on industry issues

particularly in the area of corporate governance

Government Regulation

ISS is registered investment advisor and must comply with the requirements of the Investment

Advisers Act of 1940 and related SEC regulations Such requirements relate to among other things

disclosure obligations recordkeeping and reporting requirements marketing restrictions and general

anti-fraud prohibitions
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Employees

Our employee base is comprised of talented people from diverse backgrounds Some of our

employees have extensive experience at prominent financial institutions and Fortune 500 companies As
of December 31 2008 we had approximately 1103 full time employees in 11 countries During the

proxy season March to July ISS typically retains approximately 100 temporary employees We believe

that we maintain good working relationships with our employees None of our employees are subject to

collective bargaining agreement

Website Access to our Periodic SEC Reports

Our corporate headquarters are located at One Chase Manhattan Plaza New York New York

10005 and our telephone number is 212 981-7145 We maintain an Investor Relations website on the

Internet at wwwriskmetrics.com We make available free of charge on or through this website our

annual quarterly and current reports and any amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably

practicable following the time they are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC To access

these just click on the SEC Filings link found on our Investor Relations homepage

Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or any other document filed with the SEC

Item 1A RISK FACTORS

The Company is exposed to the risk factors described below You should carefully consider the

following risk factors as well as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before

deciding whether to invest in our common stock If any of the events highlighted in the following risks

actually occurs our business results of operations or financial condition would likely suffer In such an
event the trading price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your
investment

Risks Relating to our Business

Our revenues and earnings depend substantially upon conditions in the financial services industry and

signflcant or prolonged downturn in the financial services industry could decrease demand for our products
and services

Recently general worldwide economic conditions have experienced deterioration due to credit

conditions
resulting from the recent financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial markets

and other factors including slower economic growth concerns about valuations and decreased consumer
confidence These conditions make it extremely difficult for our customers and us to accurately forecast
and plan future business activities We cannot predict the timing or duration of any economic slowdown
or subsequent economic recovery If the economy or markets in which we operate do not continue at

their present levels or continue to deteriorate we may record charges related to restructuring costs and
further impairments to goodwill and long-lived assets and our business financial condition and results

of operations will likely be materially and adversely affected

Our revenues are principally derived from the provision of risk management and corporate

governance products and services to the financial services industry The vast majority of our business

involves the sale of products and services to clients in the financial services
industry including asset

managers banks insurance companies hedge funds pension funds as well as professional organizations
that serve the financial services

industry The global financial markets have been
particularly adversely

impacted by the current market environment that includes illiquidity market
volatility widening credit

spreads changes in interest rates currency exchange fluctuations and new legal and compliance
requirements These market conditions and the reduced business activity have had

negative impact on

20



number of our clients and could negatively impact our future revenues due to the potential for

declining sales and renewal rates

Similarly we are exposed to other market trends in the financial services industry Consolidation in

the financial services industry could reduce our existing client base and the number of potential clients

This may negatively impact our ability to generate future growth and may reduce demand for our

products and services which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

or results of operations

Our investments in recorded goodwill and other intangible assets as result of prior acquisitions including

goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from our ISS and CFRA acquisitions could be impaired as

result of future business conditions requiring us to record substantial write-downs that would reduce our

operating income

We have goodwill and intangible assets of $457.0 million recorded on our balance sheet as of

December 31 2008 During 2008 we recorded $160.1 impairment charge to goodwill and intangible

assets primarily as result of the negative equity market conditions which caused material decline in

industry market multiples in the second half of 2008 and reduction in the useful life of an ISS

tradename We evaluate the recoverability of recorded goodwill amounts and intangible assets annually

or when evidence of potential impairment exists The annual impairment test is based on several factors

requiring judgment Changes in fair market valuations and our operating performance or business

conditions in general could result in additional future impairments of goodwill which could be

material to our results of operations In addition if we are not successful in achieving anticipated

operating efficiencies associated with acquisitions our goodwill and intangible assets may become

impaired

We have incurred significant indebtedness which could affect our ability to finance our operations pursue

desirable business opportunities or successfully run our businesses in the future

As of December 31 2008 we have outstanding indebtedness of $290.6 million The 2008 interest

costs to service the remaining first lien debt were approximately $21.2 million In addition we are

required to make quarterly principal payments of $0.7 million beginning on June 30 2009 and re-pay

the entire amount outstanding in December 2013 This indebtedness has created substantial demands

upon our available cash to pay interest and future debt principal requirements Our leverage and debt

service obligations could have important consequences to you including the following

The terms of the indebtedness obligations that we have incurred contain numerous restrictive

covenants which among other things restrict our ability to pay dividends on or make other

distributions or repurchase our capital stock or make other restricted payments incur additional

indebtedness or issue preferred stock make investments enter into transactions with affiliates

and sell assets or merge with or into other companies or otherwise dispose of all or substantially

all of our assets In addition we are required to satisfy and maintain specified financial ratios

and tests If we do not comply with these obligations we may cause an event of default which if

not cured or waived could require us to repay the indebtedness immediately

We may be vulnerable in the event of downturns and adverse changes in our businesses in our

industries or in the economy generally due to our debt service

We may have difficulty obtaining additional financing if necessary at favorable interest rates or

at all to meet our requirements for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions general

corporate purposes or other purposes

We are required to dedicate substantial portion of our current cash flow to the payment of

interest on our indebtedness and future cash flow to principal indebtedness which will reduce

the amount of funds available for operations capital expenditures and future acquisitions
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We require highly trained and skilled management and other key employees to maintain and expand our

analytical models proxy voting recommendations and other important aspects of our product and service

offerings

Our strategic direction and growth as well as the development maintenance and support of our

products and services are dependent upon the knowledge experience and ability of our highly skilled

educated and trained employees The members of our research and development and operations groups

have in many cases advanced degrees and backgrounds in quantitative disciplines including physics

engineering and economics and use their experience and expertise to design product and service

enhancements In addition the members of ISS policy board use their experience and expertise in

corporate governance and policy formation to ensure that ISS voting policies are developed and

applied within framework of corporate governance best practices Other ISS employees have

extensive experience in the process and mechanics of voting proxies The success of our business

depends to significant extent upon the continued service of our executive officers and other key

management research sales and marketing information technology and other technical personnel In

particular Ethan Berman our chief executive officer and key participant in the formulation of our

growth strategy to date has been instrumental to our success The loss of Mr Berman could have

serious negative effect on the future development of our business particularly if we are not able to

implement an effective succession plan We do not have employment agreements with any of our

executive officers

We believe that success in our business will continue to be based upon our intellectual capital

Consequently we must hire and retain employees with the technical expertise and industry knowledge

necessary to continue to develop our services and effectively manage our growing sales and marketing

organization to ensure the growth of our operations Despite the current market conditions the market

for highly skilled employees remains very competitive and we compete for talent with some of the

largest financial institutions and corporations in the world

If we are unable to retain and recruit sufficient number of these employees at all levels our

ability to maintain and grow our business could be negatively impacted

We face competition that may cause price reductions or loss of market share

We are subject to competitive conditions in all
aspects of our business We are one of the largest

providers of outsourced multi-asset class market risk management and the largest provider of

outsourced proxy research and voting services The competitive landscape for multi-asset class risk

management and corporate governance and financial research and analysis products and services is

characterized by limited number of competitors ISS competes with firms such as Broadridge

Financial Solutions which provides proxy voting services Glass Lewis Co which provides

research voting recommendation and voting execution services and Proxy Governance Inc which

provides research voting recommendation and voting execution services ISS also competes with local

niche proxy voting and research providers in certain international markets In addition RiskMetrics

competes with firms such as BlackRock Inc.s BlackRock Solutions unit DST Systems Inc
Fimalac S.A.s Algorithmics unit Moody Corporations KMV unit MSCI Barra and SunGard Data

Systems Inc We also face competition from

the in-house operations of the businesses we seek as clients

other general and specialized proxy reporting and business information services providers and

other information and professional service providers

Intense competition could harm us by causing among other things price reductions reduced

margins and loss of market share We could further be required to reduce the fees we charge clients as

result of competitive pressure which could result in lower revenues and profitability
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Our ability to compete succeed and generate profits depends in part on our ability to obtain data from third-

party vendors on commercially reasonable terms

We currently obtain data for use in our products and services from number of third-party

vendors Termination of one or more of our significant data agreements or exclusion from or restricted

use of data providers information could decrease the available information for us to use and offer

our clients and may have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of

operations In addition ISS relies on our data feed agreement with Broadridge Financial Solutions

which allows for many ballots to be received and proxy votes to be made electronically minimizing the

manual aspects of the proxy voting process and limiting the risk of error inherent in the manual

process If our data feed agreement with Broadridge was terminated we would have to incur significant

expenses in order to input our clients voting instructions directly into Broadridges proprietary

electronic voting systems and our business and results of operations would be materially adversely

affected Since we also compete with Broadridge in some markets with respect to providing certain

aspects of proxy voting services Broadridge may have an incentive not to renew our data feed

agreement when its initial term expires or to offer renewal terms which we may deem unreasonable

Some of our competitors could enter into exclusive contracts with our data suppliers If our

competitors enter into such exclusive contracts we may be precluded from receiving certain data from

these suppliers or restricted in our use of such data which would give our competitors an advantage

Such exclusive contracts would hinder our ability to provide our clients with the data they prefer which

could lead to decrease in our client base and could have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition or results of operations

In addition some data suppliers may seek to increase licensing fees for providing their content to

us If we are unable to renegotiate acceptable licensing arrangements with these data suppliers or find

alternative sources of equivalent content we may be required to reduce our profit margins or

experience reduction in our market share

Any perceived conflicts of interest resulting from providing products and services to institutional investors in

addition to proxy voting recommendations or providing products and services to corporations which are the

subject of our proxy recommendations or other analytical products and services could harm our reputation

and business

ISS institutional clients rely on us to provide them with informed vote recommendations

benchmark proxy voting guidelines and unbiased analyses of companies environmental social and

governance attributes The institutional clients of both our RiskMetrics and ISS businesses particularly

hedge funds and more active institutional investors may have material economic and other interests in

the corporations on which we provide proxy analyses and ratings or which are the subject of our

financial research and analysis products and services In some cases these institutional clients pay us

significant amount of money for RiskMetrics or ISS products and services and accordingly there may

be perception that we might advocate particular position or provide research that supports

particular conclusion with respect to corporation in order to satisfy the unique economic or other

interests of particular
institutional client As result institutional clients competitors and other

market participants could raise questions about our ability to provide unbiased services which could

harm our reputation

Through our ISS Corporate Services subsidiary we provide products and services to corporate

clients who often use our services to learn about and improve their governance practices Accordingly

there may be perceived conflict of interest between the services we provide to institutional clients and

the services including our Compensation Advisory Services provided to certain corporate clients For

example when we provide corporate governance services to corporate client and at the same time

provide proxy vote recommendations to institutional clients regarding that corporations proxy items
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there may be perception that we may treat that corporation more favorably due to its use of our

services

The safeguards that we have implemented may not be adequate to manage these apparent

conflicts of interest and clients or competitors may question the integrity of our services In the event

that we fail to adequately manage these perceived conflicts of interest we could incur reputational

damage which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating

results

Our businesses rely heavily on electronic delivery systems and the Internet and any failures disruptions or

slowdowns may adversely affect our ability to serve our clients

Technological factors may affect our ability to deliver our products and services to our clients We

depend heavily on the capacity reliability and security of our electronic delivery systems and the

Internet Access to our products and services and to data for our products and services via the Internet

involves security availability architectural compatibility and reliability risks Our ability to effectively

use the Internet may be impaired due to infrastructure failures service outages at third-party Internet

providers or increased government regulation If failures disruptions or slowdowns of our electronic

delivery systems or the Internet occur our ability to distribute our products and services effectively and

to serve our clients may be adversely affected If our products and services or the technology

foundations upon which they are built and delivered have design or implementation flaws or otherwise

malfunction and cause harm to clients or third parties claims may be brought against us

Changes in the legislative regulatory and corporate environments in which our clients operate may adversely

impact our financial results

ISS historical growth has been due in large part to increased regulatory requirements highly

visible corporate scandals increased shareholder activism and corporate chief executive officers and

boards of directors that are increasingly concerned about and responsive to shareholder concerns To

the extent that any of these trends change the demand for our products and services could be reduced

and this could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of

operation In addition beginning with the 2004 publication of International Convergence of Capital

Measurement and Capital Standards Revised Framework or Basel II which created an international

standard for risk management at banks and continuing with the adoption of Undertakings for

Collective Investment in Transferable Securities or the UCITS III directives which require European

Union member countries to adopt policies governing investment managers risk practices portion of

the growth of RiskMetrics has been due to regulatory requirements To the extent these regulations

change or are not extended to other markets our business financial condition and results of operation

could be materially adversely affected

Changes in government regulations relating to our business could materially adversely affect our financial

condition or results of operations

The financial services industry is subject to extensive regulation at the federal and state levels as

well as by foreign governments It is very
difficult to predict the future impact of the legislative and

regulatory requirements affecting our business and our clients businesses In particular as registered

investment advisor our ISS subsidiary is subject to the requirements and regulations of the Investment

Advisers Act of 1940 The Investment Advisers Act relates to among other things fiduciary duties

recordkeeping and reporting requirements disclosure requirements limitations on agency and principal

transactions between an advisor and advisory clients as well as general anti-fraud prohibitions We may

also be adversely affected as result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC
other U.S or foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise

the financial markets around the world In addition we may be adversely affected by changes in the
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interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and

self-regulatory organizations
It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws

regulations or initiatives that may be proposed or whether any of the proposals
will become law The

introduction of any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and

affect the manner in which we conduct business

Our products and services support the proxy voting and risk analysis processes of clients Consequently we

may be exposed to potential liability claims brought by our clients or third parties as result of the

operational failure of our products and services

Our products and services support the proxy voting and risk analysis processes of clients If we

were to fail to provide
the services provided for in our client contracts we could be required to provide

credits to our clients and in some cases we may be subject to contractual penalties Our client

agreements generally have provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential liability claims brought

by our clients or other third parties based on the operational failure of our products and services

However these provisions could be invalidated by unfavorable judicial decisions or by federal state

foreign or local laws Any such claim even if the outcome were to be ultimately favorable to us could

involve significant
commitment of management personnel financial and other resources

Any failure to ensure and protect the confidentiality of client data could adversely affect our reputation
and

have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations

Many of our products and services involve the exchange of information with our clients through

variety of media including the Internet We rely on complex network of process
and software

controls to protect the confidentiality of client data such as client portfolio data that may be provided

to us or hosted on our systems If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls including

any failure to implement required new or improved controls or if we experience difficulties in

implementation of our internal controls client data could be misappropriated Such internal control

inadequacies could damage our reputation expose us to litigation and have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition or results of operations

Our revenues expenses
assets and liabilities are subject to foreign currency exchange fluctuation risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange fluctuation risk Exchange rate movements can impact

the U.S dollar reported value of our revenues expenses assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S

dollar currencies or where the currency of such items is different than the functional currency of the

entity where these items were recorded We do not currently hedge the foreign exchange risk of assets

and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency

For all operations outside the United States where the Company has designated the local non-U.S

dollar currency as the functional currency revenue and expenses are translated using average monthly

exchange rates and assets and liabilities are translated into U.s dollars using month-end exchange

rates For these operations currency translation adjustments arising from change in the rate of

exchange between the functional currency and the U.S dollar are accumulated in separate

component of shareholders equity In addition transaction gains and losses arising from change in

exchange rates for transactions denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the

entity are reflected in operating expenses

We generally
invoice our clients in U.S dollars however we invoice portion of our clients in

euros pounds sterling and limited number of other non-U.S dollar currencies For the year
ended

December 31 2008 approximately 20% of our operating revenues were invoiced in currencies other

than U.S dollars
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We are exposed to additional foreign currency risk in certain of our operating costs Although our

expenses are generally in U.S dollars some of our operating expenses are incurred in non-U.S dollar

denominated currencies Approximately 15% of our operating expenses for the year ended

December 31 2008 were denominated in foreign currencies the significant majority of which were
denominated in pounds sterling euros Swiss franc and limited number of other non-U.S dollar

currencies

We have certain assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than local functional

amounts and when these balances were remeasured into their local functional currency loss resulted
from the devaluation of the value of the functional currency As result of these positions we
recognized foreign currency exchange losses of $1.3 million within operating expenses and $3.0 million

of unrealized translation losses within stockholder equity for the year ended December 31 2008 These
losses on foreign currency exchange were primarily due to the

strengthening of the US dollar

To the extent that our international activities recorded in local currencies increase in the future
our exposure to fluctuations in

currency exchange rates will correspondingly increase and could have
material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations

We have engaged in hedging transactions and may engage in other hedging transactions which involve risks

that could have materially adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations

In February 2007 we entered into two interest rate swap agreements to reduce our interest rate

risk and to manage interest expense and we may engage in similar transactions in the future As of

December 31 2008 the interest rate swaps had notional amounts of $279.4 million and fair value

liability of $22.3 million Our interest rate swaps effectively changed portion of our variable-rate debt

obligations pursuant to our credit facilities to fixed-rate debt obligations Developing an effective

strategy for dealing with movements in interest rates is complex and no strategy can completely
insulate us from risks associated with such fluctuations In addition counterparty to derivative

instrument could default on its obligation thereby exposing us to credit risk Further we may have to

repay certain costs such as transaction fees or brokerage costs if derivative instrument is terminated

by us Finally our interest rate risk management activities could expose us to substantial losses if

interest rates move materially differently from our expectations As result our economic hedging
activities may not effectively manage our interest rate sensitivity or have the desired beneficial impact
on our financial condition or results of operations

Operations outside the United States involve certain risks which may adversely affect our ability to grow our
business outside the United States

significant portion of our business is conducted outside the United States For the year ended
December 31 2008 approximately 39% of our revenues were generated from sales to clients outside of
the Americas In addition as of December 31 2008 approximately 37% of our combined employee
base was located in our offices outside of the United States As result we are subject to certain risks

inherent in doing business in some jurisdictions outside the United States including the following

Challenges in establishing local presence In order to continue to expand our growth outside the
United States we must establish and maintain local presence of sales distribution and

customer service by establishing local offices throughout the world If we do not successfully
establish these offices and continue to attract and retain local employees our ability to expand
outside the United States may be impaired

Difficulty in maintaining products and services that are tailored to the needs of local clients In order
to penetrate markets outside of the United States we must provide suite of products and
services that fit the needs of the local market If we do not appropriately tailor our products and
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services to the local market we may be unable to effectively grow sales of our products and

services outside of the United States

D4/ficulty maintaining and monitoring effective and consistent internal policies and procedures around

the world When we establish local offices and hire local employees we must maintain consistent

internal policies and procedures across our offices The various jurisdictions
in which we

establish offices from time to time may have differing rules and regulations affecting our

operations Consequently it may be difficult for us to maintain consistent employee policies and

procedures across our organization If we are unable to effectively maintain and monitor

consistent policies and procedures while simultaneously complying with applicable local rules and

regulations our ability to continue to grow our business and maintain our distinct corporate

culture may be impaired

Lack of local acceptance or knowledge of our products and services Demand for our products and

services are still nascent in many parts
of the world Many countries have not fully developed

laws and regulations regarding
risk management procedures or corporate governance and in

many cases institutions in these countries have not developed widely accepted best practices

regarding the same There can be no assurances that demand for our products and services will

develop in these countries

These risks could affect our ability to continue to expand our business outside the United States

which may adversely affect our ability to increase our revenues and to service non-U.S clients

Potential Acquisitions May Disrupt the Corporation Business and Dilute Stockholder Value

Acquisitions may require significant capital infusions typically entail many risks and could result in

difficulties in assimilating and integrating the operations personnel technologies products and

information systems of acquired companies or businesses We have in the past and may in the future

experience delays in the timing and successful integration of an acquired companys technologies and

product development In addition key personnel of an acquired company may decide not to work for

us The acquisition of another company or its products and technologies may also require us to enter

into geographic or business market in which we have little or no prior experience These challenges

could disrupt our ongoing business distract our management and employees harm our reputation and

increase our expenses These challenges are magnified as the size of the acquisition increases

We cannot assure you that we will be able to consummate any pending or future acquisitions such

as our anticipated acquisition of Innovest or that we will realize any anticipated benefits from these

acquisitions We may not be able to find suitable acquisition opportunities that are available at

attractive valuations if at all Even if we do find suitable acquisition opportunities we may not be able

to consummate the acquisitions on commercially acceptable terms and any decline in the price of our

common stock may make it significantly more difficult and expensive to initiate or consummate

additional acquisitions

Risks Related to an Investment in our Common Shares

Our common share price is likely to be volatile

The market price of our common shares may be volatile in response to number of events

including

our quarterly operating results

sales of our common shares by principal shareholders

small trading volumes and small public float
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changes in financial forecasts and recommendations by securities analysts or the termination of

coverage by one or more securities analysts

general market conditions economic conditions including the recent economic downturn and

the other risks described in this section

In addition if the market for stocks in our industry or the stock market in general experiences

loss of investor confidence the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated

to our business financial condition or results of operations If any of the foregoing occurs it could

cause our stock price to fall and may expose us to lawsuits that even if unsuccessful could be costly to

defend and distraction to management

Future sales of shares of our common stock by our affiliates and other stockholders or by us may adversely

affect the price and the future exercise of options may lower the price of shares of our common stock

We cannot predict what effect if any future sales of shares of our common stock or the

availability of shares for future sale may have on the trading price of our common stock Future sales

of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders and other stockholders or by us or the

perception that such sales may occur could adversely affect the market price of shares of our common
stock and may make it more difficult for you to sell your shares of our common stock at time and

price that you determine appropriate

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

As of the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K there were no unresolved comments from the

staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission

Item Properties

Headquartered in New York City we maintain global presence with offices throughout the

United States as well as in 10 other countries Our New York City facility contains approximately

35000 square feet and the lease relating to this facility expires in July 2012 ISS is headquartered in

Rockville Maryland Our primary Rockville facility contains approximately 64000 square feet and the

lease relating to this facility expires in July 2012 In the first quarter of 2008 we moved into new

26000 square feet leased property to serve as our London office for both RiskMetrics and ISS which

expires in August 2012

We also have smaller offices which support our operations locally in Ann Arbor Michigan

Brussels Belgium Cambridge Massachusetts Chicago Illinois Frankfurt Germany Geneva
Switzerland Iselin New Jersey Leeds England Manila Philippines Melbourne Australia Norman
Oklahoma Paris France San Francisco California Singapore Tokyo Japan and Toronto Canada

Item Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business we are involved in routine litigation incidental to our business

In the opinion of management none of these matters presently pending are expected to have

material adverse effect on our overall financial position or results of operations

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to vote of the companys security holders during the fourth

quarter of 2008
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Part II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RMG Our

stock was first publicly traded on January 25 2008

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the

cumulative total return on the SPs 500 Index and the NYSE Financial Sub-Industry Index for the

fiscal year ended December 31 2008 assuming an investment of $100 at January 25 2008 and the

reinvestment of any dividends The comparisons in the graphs below are based upon historical data and

are not indicative of nor intended to forecast future performance of our common stock
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The following table shows the quarterly range of the closing high and low sale prices for our

common stock as reported by the NYSE Such prices do not include retail markups markdowns or

commissions

Common Stock

High Low

Year Ended December 31 2008

First Quarter $24.45 $10.76

Second Quarter $22.07 $16.00

Third Quarter $26.43 $15.86

Fourth Quarter $20.31 $10.06

Holders

As of February 24 2009 there were approximately 125 stockholders of record and the closing price

of RiskMetrics Group common stock was $12.36 per share as reported by the New York Stock

Exchange
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Dividends

We have not paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock during the period covered

by the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K We have retained and

currently anticipate that we will continue to retain all of our earnings for use in developing our
business In addition our credit facility restricts us from declaring and paying dividends

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation pkns

The following table sets forth information as of December 31 2008
regarding our compensation

plans and the Common Stock we may issue under the plans

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities

Number of securities to
remaining available for

be issued upon exercise Weighted-average exercise future issuance under
Plan Category of outstanding options price of outstanding options equity compensation plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by stockholders 12819587 $7.20 3322805
Equity compensation plans not

approved by stockholders

Total 12819587 $7.20 3322805

Stock Repurchases

We do not have publicly announced share repurchase plan As of December 31 2008 we had

243154 shares of treasury stock

J7 Issuance of Securities and use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Securities

On January 25 2008 we granted 1563500 options to our employees immediately prior to the

consummation of our initial public offering including an aggregate of 1031500 options related to 2007

compensation for certain employees and an aggregate of 532000 options to all full time employees

representing one-time grant of 500 options to each of our employees

On January 30 2008 we completed our initial public offering of 16100000 shares of our common
stock which included 4035816 shares sold by our selling stockholder pursuant to our Registration
Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-146167 that was declared effective on January 24
2008 We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares by the selling stockholders Our net

proceeds from the offering were $193.9 million after deducting underwriting discounts and

commissions and approximately $3.5 million of offering expenses

In January 2008 we utilized portion of proceeds from the initial public offering to prepay the

entire outstanding indebtedness under the second loan lien credit facility which amounted to

$125.0 million and 1% prepayment penalty fee or $1.25 million The remainder of proceeds from the

initial public offering have been and will continue to be utilized for general corporate purposes

including working capital

Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Our selected consolidated financial and operating data for each of the years ended December 31
2004 2005 2006 2007 and 2008 are presented below The information set forth below should be read

in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Year ended December 31

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Goodwill and intangibles net

Total assets

Deferred revenue

Total debt including current portion

Stockholders equity

As of December 31

2004 2005 2006 200710

Amounts in thousands

$12042 10966 37313 27455

46453 69296 68071

3844 770 635105

89833 115293 136947 743183

45996 53744 58842 101279

422750

30074 44270 56498 136092

2004 2005 2006 200710 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share data

71699 93637 101236 240301 296393Revenues1

Operating costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 18909 23704 25618 77317 93387

Research and development 14095 16099 21202 31142 41593

Selling and marketing 13222 12257 14977 35420 33202

General and administrative 9328 11492 12852 29654 37422

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment2 5170 3551 4081 7419 8779

Amortization of intangible assets3 1079 2713 770 19145 21758

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset4 361 160069

Loss on disposal of property and equipment256 1659 1577 15 734 122

Total operating costs and expenses78 63462 71754 79515 200831 396332

Income loss from operations 8237 21883 21721 39470 99939

Interest dividend and investment income expense net

Interest dividend and investment income 1564 2567

Interest expense 36922 26234
Other expenses 2613

Interest dividend and investment income expense

net 2500 35358 26280

Income loss before provision benefit for income

taxes 126219

Provision benefit for income taxes9 10700

Net income loss 136919

Net income loss per share

Basic 0.36 0.38 0.05 2.28

Diluted 0.32 0.33 0.04 2.28

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 30379564 43496221 42655069 46380175 59970438

Diluted 49813540 48412751 47963666 54364746 59970438

597 1438 2549

49

1438

23321

7640

15681

597

8834

1048

9882

0.33

0.20

24221

8200

16021

4112

1711

2401

2008

$170799

456953

705013

110889

290619

203167
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Other Financial and Operating Data

The financial and operating data below sets forth supplementary information that we believe is

useful for investors in evaluating our underlying operations

Year ended December 31

2004 2005 2006 200710 2008

Amounts in thousands except for percentages

Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA11 $18727 $30085 30223 72801 $101147

Net cash provided by operating activities $31115 $30035 36082 45348 84848

Capital expenditures 4237 6217 3724 11091 8795

Free cash flow12 $26878 $23818 32358 34257 76053

Operating Data

Annualized contract value at period end13 $77660 $96134 $101686 $250238 $285997

Recurring revenue as percentage of total revenue14 94.3% 94.2% 96.6% 92.7% 93.9%

Notes to Selected Consolidated Financial Information and Other Data

In March 2003 we acquired JPMorgan Advisory Inc an entity which primarily provided wealth management products and

services to JPMorgan In connection with the acquisition we entered into three year online services agreement under

which we agreed to provide to JPMorgan customer- specific set of Wealth Management products and services which were

unrelated to our WealthBench product This agreement was terminated as of April 30 2006 Our results of operations

reflect the revenues from the JPMorgan online services agreement through April 30 2006 For the years ended

December 31 2004 2005 and 2006 we derived $13.0 million $12.7 million and $4.3 million of revenue respectively from

the JPMorgan online services agreement

In 2004 we terminated one of our existing leases and disposed of certain furniture and equipment which resulted in loss

of approximately $1.7 million As well in 2004 as part of our ongoing evaluation of the estimated useful lives of our fixed

assets we adjusted such lives on certain hardware from five to three years which resulted in additional depreciation

expense of $1.2 million

In 2005 we reduced the estimated useful lives of our technology intangible assets which resulted in additional amortization

expense of $1.8 million In 2007 we acquired intangible assets from our acquisitions of ISS and CFRA

In the fourth quarter of 2008 we recorded non-cash impairment charge for goodwill and intangible assets totaling

$160.1 million as result of the Companys annual goodwill and intangible asset impairment review The impairment charge

includes $154.2 million write-down to ISS goodwill as result of significant declines in market valuations and earnings

multiples In addition the impairment charge includes $5.9 million write-down to an ISS product tradename as result of

an integration plan for the tradename which reduced its expected life

During 2005 leases for two of our offices were terminated and we relocated into new space As result we wrote off the

remaining value of leasehold improvements on that vacated space and we disposed of other furniture and equipment which

resulted in loss of $1.6 million

In 2007 we abandoned software project and wrote off certain assets in our London office which resulted in loss on

disposal of property and equipment of approximately $0.7 million

For the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 we recorded $3.6 million $6.0 million and $9.9 million

respectively of compensation expense under SFAS 123R Share-Based Payment We adopted this statement on January

2006 under the modified prospective transition method

In 2004 we recorded stock based compensation expense of $2.6 million in accordance with Accounting Principles Board

Opinion No 25 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation to Employees

In 2004 we generated taxable income and recognized the benefit of $2.0 million of net operating loss carry forwards In

2005 we recognized the benefit of $1.1 million of our remaining net operating loss carry forwards As result as of

December 31 2005 we had no remaining net operating loss carry forwards

10 On January 11 2007 we acquired ISS for $542.8 million and incurred indebtedness of $425.0 million to complete the

acquisition In addition on August 2007 we acquired CFRA for $63.0 million and incurred additional indebtedness of

$15.0 million to complete the acquisition which was subsequently repaid in October and November of 2007 As of

December 31 2008 $290.6 million of indebtedness remains outstanding
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11 Adjusted EBITDA as defined in our credit facilities represents net income loss before interest expense interest income

other income expense income tax expense benefit depreciation and amortization of property and equipment

amortization of intangible assets non-cash stock-based compensation expense and extraordinary or non-recurring charges or

expenses It is material metric used by our lenders in evaluating compliance with the maximum consolidated leverage

ratio covenant in our credit facilities The maximum consolidated leverage ratio covenant as defined in our credit facilities

represents the ratio of total indebtedness as compared to Adjusted EBITDA and can not exceed maximum ratio range

which declines from 8.50 to 3.00 over the life of the credit facilities Non-compliance with this covenant could result in us

being required to immediately repay our outstanding indebtedness under our credit facilities Adjusted EBITDA is also

metric used by management to measure operating performance and for planning including preparation of annual budgets

analyzing investment decisions and evaluating profitability

We also present Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental performance measure because we believe that this measure provides

our board of directors management and investors with additional information to measure our performance provide

comparisons from period to period by excluding potential differences caused by variations in capital structure affecting

interest expense tax position such as the impact on periods of changes in effective tax rates or net operating losses the

age and book depreciation of fixed assets affecting relative depreciation expense acquisitions affecting amortization

expense and compensation plans affecting stock-based compensation expense

Adjusted EBITDA is not measurement of our financial performance under U.S GAAP and should not be considered as

an alternative to net income operating income or any other performance measures derived in accordance with U.S GAAP
or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as measure of our profitability or liquidity

We understand that although Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by securities analysts lenders and others in their

evaluation of companies Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation

or as substitute for an analysis of our results as reported under U.S GAAP Some of these limitations are

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or

contractual commitments

Adjusted EBITDA does not include stock based compensation expense

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in or cash requirements for our working capital needs

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service

interest or principal payments on our indebtedness

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges the assets being depreciated and amortized often will

have to be replaced in the future and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such

replacements and

Other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do limiting its usefulness as

comparative measure

The table below sets forth reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income loss on our historical results

Year ended December 31

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Net income loss 9882 $15681 $16021 2401 $136919
Interest other income expense net 597 1438 2500 35358 26280

Income tax expense 1048 7640 8200 1711 10700

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 5170 3551 4081 7419 8779

Amortization of intangible assets 1079 2713 770 19145 21758

Stock-based colnpensationa 2582 3636 6033 9893

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assetb 361 160069

Non-recurring expensesc 465

Loss on disposal of property and equipmentd 1659 1577 15 734 122

Adjusted EBITDA $18727 $30085 $30223 $72801 $101147

In 2004 stock-based compensation expense was recorded in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No 25 Accounting for Stock Compensation to Employees We adopted SFAS 123R on January 2006
utilizing

the modified prospective transition method and recorded stock-based compensation expense for all share- based

payments granted or vested subsequent to December 31 2005

Represents impairment of goodwill and intangible asset during the years ended December 31 2005 and 2008 This

is defined as non-recurring item within our credit facilities
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Represents lease exit costs incurred

Represents the write-off of property and equipment which is defined as non-recurring item within our credit

facilities

12 We define free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures Our management uses free cash

flow and we present it to investors because it is an important measure of the cash generation of our business and our

ability to repay indebtedness and invest in our business

13 We define annualized contract value as the aggregate value on an annualized basis of all recurring subscription contracts

in effect on reporting date We included the value of the JPMorgan online services agreement for purposes of calculating

annualized contract value which amounted to $11.8 million for the years ended December 31 2004 and 2005 The contract

terminated in April 2006 and was therefore not included in annualized contract value after April 2006

14 We define recurring revenue as percentage of total revenue as revenue from subscription contracts divided by total

revenue during the applicable period

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our historical financial statements and the

related notes included elsewhere in this annual report This discussion contains forward-looking statements

that are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties Actual results and timing of events may
differ significantly from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements due to number of

factors including those set forth in the Item lARisk Factors and elsewhere in this annual report

Overview

We are leading provider of risk management and corporate governance products and services to

participants in the global financial markets as measured by revenues Our products and services enable

investors to measure and manage the market credit portfolio governance accounting legal and

environmental risks associated with their financial holdings These offerings address multiple asset

classes markets and geographies to broad group of market participants including asset managers
hedge funds pension funds banks insurance companies financial advisors and corporations Clients

rely on us to better understand and manage risk of their financial holdings to provide greater

transparency to both their internal and external constituencies to satisfy regulatory and reporting

requirements and to make better investment decisions

Our growth strategy is focused on the following

increasing sales to existing clients by providing additional data research analytical products and

processing services which we believe will be enhanced by leveraging our combined RiskMetrics

and ISS sales forces

expanding our client base by further penetrating our markets including expanding our global

footprint and attracting new clients especially financial institutions which currently rely on

internally developed risk management and proxy voting solutions and

enhancing and extending our products and services including the creation of new product and

service offerings and by selectively pursuing acquisitions while leveraging the economies of scale

in our cost structure to grow revenues at greater rate than operating expenses and thereby
increase our operating margin

As of December 31 2008 we had approximately 3400 clients located in 56 countries Among our

clients are 69 of the 100 largest investment managers 42 of the 50 largest mutual fund companies 41

of the 50 largest hedge funds in each case as measured by assets under management

We benefit from number of favorable attributes of our business model These attributes include

Subscription-based revenue model We sell our services primarily on an annual subscription basis

and have experienced high renewal rates Recurring revenues accounted for approximately 93.9% of
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our total revenues in the year ended December 31 2008 and we had renewal rate of 86.3% during

that time Our subscription model and high renewal rates minimize volatility in our revenues and

provide significant visibility for our future results

Leveragable cost structure Because we provide our services from common technology and data

infrastructure we benefit from economies of scale As result we have generally been able to increase

adjusted EBITDA margins as our revenues have grown

Favorable cash flow characteristics Our subscription-based revenues and leveragable cost

structure combined with our positive working capital characteristics and low capital expenditure

requirements have historically allowed us to generate significant cash flow

In evaluating our results we focus on several key financial and operating data including annualized

contract value renewal rates sales to new customers non-recurring revenues and Adjusted EBITDA
Our annualized contract value which is described in detail below is leading indicator of our business

and
represents large portion of our revenue in any given period We track our performance across

geographies and product and service lines

We expect to invest in our business to continue to grow our revenues Compensation data

acquisition and technology infrastructure costs represent significant components of our operating

expense structure While we expect to increase our operating expenses over time to take advantage of

market opportunities we believe that the economies of scale in our operating model will allow us to

grow our operating expenses at lower rate than revenues and thereby increase our operating margins

The vast majority of our business involves the sale of products and services to clients in the

financial services industry including asset managers banks insurance companies hedge funds pension

funds as well as professional organizations that serve the financial services industry The global financial

markets have been adversely impacted by the current market environment that includes illiquidity

market volatility widening credit spreads changes in interest rates currency exchange fluctuations and

new legal and compliance requirements These market conditions and the reduced business activity

have had negative impact on number of our clients and could negatively impact our future revenues

due to the potential for declining sales and renewal rates

We do not believe that our liquidity has been affected by the recent events in the global financial

markets Refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources discussion

Our Revenues

We
generate

substantial majority of our revenues from annual subscriptions to our products and

services for which our clients generally pay us in advance These contracts generally renew

automatically on an annual basis Our products and services are generally priced based on the access to

our applications and services including research voting and reports purchased We do not price our

products and services based on our clients assets under management As result we generally are not

directly subject to revenue fluctuations resulting from changes in our clients assets under management

AUM Our experience has been that over time our clients have often added users and purchased

additional products and services from us which has led to increases in our revenues per client
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Revenues from subscription contracts are referred to as recurring revenues Recurring revenues are

generated through the renewal of existing contracts and the signing of new subscription contracts For

the year ended December 31 2008 approximately 93.9% of our total revenues were generated from

these subscription contracts The subscription fees received from our clients are recorded as deferred

revenues and recognized each month as our services are rendered Our renewal rate which was 86.3%

for the year ended December 31 2008 combined with our level of new subscription contracts

determine our annualized contract value which is leading indicator of our recurring revenues Our

annualized contract value as of December 31 2008 was $286.0 million

We also generate non-recurring revenue from sales of products and services without subscription

contract which represented 6.1% of total revenues during the year ended December 31 2008

Annualized Contract Value CV
As result of our subscription-based model and historically high renewal rates at the end of any

period we generally have subscription contracts in place for high percentage of our total revenues for

the next 12 months We monitor the contracted revenues from these agreements and refer to them as

annualized contract value We define our annualized contract value as the aggregate value on an

annualized basis of all recurring subscription contracts in effect on reporting date Any revenues

associated with subscription contracts that are entered into during reporting period will be reflected

in the annualized contract value beginning at the end of that period As result annualized contract

value at the end of any period is the annualized contract value at the beginning of the period plus the

annualized contract revenue associated with new subscription contracts signed during that period minus

the annualized contract revenues associated with subscription contracts not renewed Annualized

contract value does not include any fees associated with any non-recurring revenues

Annualized contract value is an important metric for our business However annualized contract

value may differ from our future reported revenues due to number of factors which include

new subscription-based revenues

additional one-time revenue

changes in the contract value of our subscription contracts

cancellations and non-renewals of subscription contracts and

revenue recognition timing differences due to the provisions of generally accepted accounting

principles in the United States U.S GAAP
Our annualized contract value for the RiskMetrics business and ISS business as of December 31

2006 2007 and 2008 as well as the percentage growth period over period is set forth separately for

each business in the table below ISS ACV growth in 2007 was complemented by the acquisition of

$15.9 million from CFRA on August 2007

As of December 31

2006 2007 2008

Amounts in thousands

except for percentages

RiskMetrics business annualized contract value $101686 $131716 $160200

Percent growth 29.5% 21.6%

ISS business annualized contract value 89938 $118522 $125797

Percent growth 31.8% 6.1%

Current market conditions have led to foreign currency fluctuations lower than average historical

renewal rates and sales growth which may negatively impact ACV growth
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Renewal Rate

Because non-renewals of subscription contracts decrease our annualized contract value which in

turn decreases our revenues key operating metric is renewal rate Our renewal rate for any period is

defined as the amount of annualized contract value that renews in period divided by the amount of

annualized contract value with an expiration date during that period If client has higher contract

value upon renewal of its existing contract the amount in excess of the prior periods contract is

considered new contract revenue for purposes of this calculation

The renewal rate for our RiskMetrics business and ISS business for the years ended December 31

2006 2007 and 2008 is set forth separately for each business in the table below We have calculated

the renewal rate for our RiskMetrics business for the year ended December 31 2006 including the

JPMorgan online services agreement that was terminated as of April 2006 The lower 75.5% renewal

rate for RiskMetrics for the fiscal year ended December 31 2006 was due largely to the termination of

the JPMorgan online contract which accounted for approximately 12% or half of the 24.5%

non-renewal rate for that period

Year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

RiskMetrics business renewal rate 75.5% 91.1% 87.1%

ISS business renewal rate 91.0% 91.8% 85.4%

Overall consolidated renewal rates were 86.3% for the year ended December 31 2008 as

compared with 91.4% in the prior year RiskMetrics achieved renewal rate of 87.1% which decreased

compared to the prior year rate of 91.1% while ISS had renewal rate of 85.4% which decreased

compared to the prior year rate of 91.8% The RiskMetrics renewal rate declined mainly due to higher

non-renewals in the alternative investment segment offset by steady renewal rates in the asset

management and banking segments. The ISS renewal rate declined primarily due to lower renewal

rates in Corporate Services and CFRA products as well as an approximate 200 basis point decline in

the Proxy business renewal rate

Non-Recurring Revenues

Non-recurring revenues result from sales on non-subscription basis Non-recurring revenues for

the RiskMetrics business and ISS business for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 are

set forth in the table below Our non-subscription services include implementation compensation

advisory services and similar services and overages related to ISS Proxy Research and Voting business

Revenues from implementation are recognized as the related subscription service is provided some

Compensation Advisory Services revenues are recognized over three month period and other

non-recurring revenues are recognized once the service is provided To the extent that clients actual

usage of proxy voting services or proxy research reports exceeds contracted-for limits the excess usage

is considered to be an overage and clients may be charged additional fees Our clients overages are

typically an indication of larger proxy voting contract renewals

Year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

RiskMetrics business percent non-recurring revenue 3.4% 2.4% 1.6%

ISS business percent non-recurring revenue 14.2% 12.3% 11.1%

Our Operating Costs and Expenses

Compensation expense represents substantial majority of our expenses across all of our operating

functions Compensation expenses before stock-based compensation expense are comprised of base
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salary bonuses benefits payroll taxes and sales commissions While we expect to grow our headcount

over time to take advantage of our market opportunity we believe that the economies of scale in our

operating model will allow us to grow our compensation expenses at lower rate than revenues

Other significant operating expenses are data proxy voting fees occupancy and

telecommunications and web hosting costs Since we deliver our products and services using common
data and technology infrastructure we expect these expenses to generally increase at less than the rate

of revenue growth Overall our goal is to keep the rate of growth of these operating expenses below

the rate of growth of our revenues However in order to take advantage of growth opportunities we

may invest in our business in order to support increased revenue growth This might result in variability

in our operating margin in the short term

We allocate compensation expenses including stock-based compensation expense to our cost of

revenues sales and marketing research and development and general and administrative expense

categories based on the actual costs associated with each employee Other costs associated with the

employees such as occupancy travel and telecommunications are included in the same cost categories

as the corresponding employees We allocate shared services to each segment based on usage or

headcount The following summarizes our significant operating expenses

Costs of Revenues

Costs of revenues include costs related to production of proxy research and voting web hosting

data account management implementation and systems operations and allowances for doubtful

accounts Costs in this area consist primarily of staff compensation and related costs and payments to

third party vendors including third party web hosting and data providers

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include costs related to product development research

technology application design technology infrastructure and analytics development Costs in this area

consist primarily of staff compensation costs and related expenses and consultant expenses

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist of costs related to our sales force product management
and marketing professionals These costs include staff compensation costs and related expenses

including commissions and general marketing costs

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of expenses for finance legal accounting human

resources and information technology personnel Costs in this area primarily consist of staff

compensation and related expenses legal costs insurance costs audit and accounting fees and other

professional services fees

Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equipment

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment includes depreciation of software

computer and related equipment furniture and fixtures and telecommunications equipment which is

recorded over the respective useful lives of the related assets Depreciation also includes the

amortization of leasehold improvements which are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease

or the assets useful life and the amortization of capitalized software costs Amortization expense for

leasehold improvements and capitalized software development costs are included in depreciation and

amortization of property and equipment in the statements of operations
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Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization expense includes the amortization of finite life intangible assets such as acquired

technology customer relationships trade names proprietary process and non-compete agreements

acquired which are amortized over their estimated useful lives

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States Our critical accounting policies including the assumptions and

judgments underlying them require the application of significant judgment in the preparation of our

financial statements and as result they are subject to greater degree of uncertainty In applying

these policies we use our judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in calculating

estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses Estimates and

assumptions are based on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances Accordingly actual results could differ from those estimates Our

critical accounting policies include the following

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our revenues are generated from contracted annual subscriptions for which we
receive licensing fees from clients who utilize services Depending on the service offering the services

are available through variety of delivery options including hosted web applications fullyoutsourced

managed services and local software installation Revenues are recognized on straight line basis over

the term of the subscription period which is typically one year

Subscription revenue is recognized in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission or

SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 104 Revenue Recognition since the Company provides

its application as service The Company also recognizes revenue on software sales in accordance with

the AICPA SOP No 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP No 98-9 Modification of

SOP 97-2 SoftwQre Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions

Revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are met

there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement

the service has been provided to the customer

the collection of the fees is reasonably assured and

the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable

License fees associated with local software installations for the RiskMetrics business are

recognized over the term of the license period typically one year The arrangement for local

installation is multiple-element arrangement that consists of software post contract support PCS
including unspecified upgrades and enhancements and other service elements Revenue is recognized

ratably over the term of the license as there is no vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value

for PCS or the other service elements because they are not priced separately or sold separately to

customers and there is no discernable pattern in which PCS and other services are expected to be

performed

The ISS business provides proxy advisory and voting services corporate governance and financial

research and analysis services to institutional investors and corporations The majority of ISSs products

and services are delivered through web based platform and are typically provided through annual

subscription agreements Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription agreement

Many of ISSs subscription agreements are multiple element arrangements that provide for the delivery
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of more than one ISS product or service Revenue is recognized on straight-line basis over the term

of the subscription as each of the services specified in these multiple element arrangements are

performed continuously over the subscription term and there is no discernable pattern in which the

services will be performed

In situations where contracts include client acceptance provisions we do not recognize revenue

until such time as the client has confirmed its acceptance Some of our subscription contracts include

automatic renewal provisions under existing contract terms Reserves for possible losses on subscription

service if any are recognized when determined

portion of our revenues are derived from non-subscription services including implementation

Compensation Advisory Services and overages related to Proxy Research and Voting services Revenues

from implementation are recognized as the services are provided and other non-recurring revenues are

recognized once the service is provided or upon delivery of the required service

Goodwill and Intangibles

Goodwill which consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net

assets of businesses acquired is evaluated for impairment using two-step process that is performed at

least annually on October of each year or whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment

may have occurred The first step is comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit with its

carrying amount including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value

goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the second step is unnecessary If the

carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value second test is performed to measure the

amount of impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill to determination of the

implied value of the goodwill If the carrying amount of the goodwill is greater than the implied value

an impairment loss is recognized for the difference

The implied value of goodwill is determined as of the test date by performing purchase price

allocation as if the reporting unit had just been acquired using currently estimated fair values of the

individual assets and liabilities of the reporting unit together with an estimate of the fair value of the

reporting unit taken as whole The estimate of the fair value of the reporting unit is based upon
information available regarding prices of similar groups of assets or other valuation techniques

including present value techniques based upon estimates of future cash flows

Intangible assets including acquired technology customer relationships certain trade names and

non-compete agreements arising principally from acquisitions are recorded at cost less accumulated

amortization and our finite-lived intangibles are amortized using the straight line method of over the

estimated useful life of the intangible asset Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives

such as certain trade names are not amortized and are subject to an annual impairment tests or

whenever events or circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred Impairment exists if the

carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value For other intangible assets

subject to amortization impairment is recognized if the carrying amount is not recoverable and the

carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset

As of December 31 2008 we had goodwill and intangible assets of $457.0 million During 2008

we recorded non-cash impairment charge to goodwill and intangible assets totaling $160.1 million as

result of our annual goodwill and intangible asset impairment review The impairment charge includes

$154.2 million write-down to ISS goodwill primarily as result of the negative equity market

conditions which caused material decline in industry market multiples in the second half of 2008 The

fair value of the ISS reporting unit was determined using combination of present value techniques

including discounted cash flow as well as fair values of comparable businesses In addition the

impairment charge includes $5.9 million write-down to an ISS product tradename as result of an

integration plan for the tradename which reduced its expected life
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There are many assumptions and estimates that may directly impact the results of impairment

testing including market valuations of comparable companies earnings multiples estimate of future

expected revenues earnings and cash flows and discount rates applied to such expected cash flows in

order to estimate fair value We have the ability to influence the outcome and ultimate results based on

the assumptions and estimates we choose for testing To mitigate undue influence we set criteria that

are reviewed and approved by various levels of management The determination of whether or not

goodwill or indefinite-lived acquired intangible assets have become impaired involves significant level

of judgment in the assumptions underlying the approach used to determine the value of our reporting

unit Changes in market valuations earnings multiples and our strategy or market conditions could

significantly impact these judgments and require adjustments to recorded amounts of intangible assets

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted SFAS 123R as of January 2006 SFAS 123R replaced the existing requirements

under SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock Based Compensation and Accounting Principles Board

Opinion No 25 Accounting for Stock-based Compensation to Employees or APB 25 According to

SFAS 123R all forms of share-based payments to employees including employee stock options and

employee stock purchase plans ar treated the same as any other form of compensation by recognizing

the related cost in the statement of operations

Under SFAS 123R stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on

the fair value of the award and the expense is recognized ratably over the awards vesting period Prior

to the adoption of SFAS 123R we recognized compensation for unvested awards under the graded

vesting method and will continue to do so in all grants made prior to January 2006 For all grants

made subsequent to December 31 2005 we recognize compensation cost under the straight-line

method

We measure the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using Black- Scholes option-

pricing model which requires the use of several estimates including

the volatility of our stock price

the expected life of the option

risk free interest rates and

expected dividend yield

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering in January 2008 we were not publicly

traded company and as result we had limited historical information on the price of our common
stock As result we could not solely rely on historical experience alone to develop assumptions for

stock price volatility As such our stock price volatility also considered an estimated volatility with

reference to peer group of companies

The expected life of options is based on internal studies of historical experience and projected

exercise behavior We estimate expected forfeitures of stock-based awards at the grant date and

recognize compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest The forfeiture assumption is

ultimately adjusted to the actual forfeiture rate Estimated forfeitures are reassessed in subsequent

periods and may change based on new facts and circumstances We utilize risk-free interest rate

which is based on the yield of U.S zero coupon securities with maturity equal to the expected life of

the options We have not and do not expect to pay dividends on our common shares

We estimate expected forfeitures of stock-based awards at the grant date and recognize

compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest The forfeiture assumption is ultimately

adjusted to the actual forfeiture rate Therefore changes in the forfeiture assumptions may impact the
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timing of the total amount of expense recognized over the vesting period Estimated forfeitures are

reassessed in subsequent periods and may change based on new facts and circumstances

We recorded stock-based compensation expense of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31

2008 The use of different assumptions in the Black-Scholes model would result in different amounts of

stock-based compensation expense Furthermore if different assumptions are used in future periods

stock-based compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No 109

Accounting for Income Taxes We record income taxes under the asset and liability method Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary

differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their

respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to

apply to taxable income in the
years

in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered

or settled To the extent needed we record valuation allowances against deferred tax assets if it

determines it is not more likely than not that the assets will be utilized in the future

On January 2007 we adopted FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income

Taxesan interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 or FIN 48 FIN 48 addresses the determination of

whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on tax return should be recorded in the

financial statements Under FIN 48 we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position

only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing

authorities based on the technical merits of the position As result of the implementation of FIN 48

we recognized an approximate $0.4 million increase in the current tax liability for unrecognized tax

benefits and decrease to the January 2007 balance of retained earnings As of December 31 2008

our unrecognized tax benefits totaled $2.0 million and if such liability was reversed would favorably

impact our effective tax rate

Results of Operations

Segments and Periods Presented

Prior to January 2007 we operated as single reportable segment As result of our acquisition

of ISS and based on review of SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related

Information we have determined that we currently operate in two segments the RiskMetrics business

and the ISS business

We have provided discussion of our results of operations on consolidated basis and have also

provided certain detailed discussions for each of our segments We have done so because the results of

ISS are not included in our results of operations until January 12 2007 but constitute substantial

portion of our business As result in order to provide meaningful discussion of our ongoing

business we have provided discussion of RiskMetrics and ISS segment results for 2007 compared to

2006

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Results

As discussed above our acquisition of ISS impacts the comparability of our results of operations

In addition the financial results of CFRA which was acquired on August 2007 have been included

in the results of our ISS business only since the date of its acquisition CFRA supplements the ISS

business and supports the Financial Research and Analysis product and services offerings

In January 2008 we completed an initial public offering of 16100000 shares of common stock

which included 4035816 shares sold by selling stockholders and 2100000 shares sold by RiskMetrics
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Group to cover over-allotments which was exercised in full in January 2008 We received net proceeds

of $193.9 million from the offering We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares by the

selling stockholders As such weighted average common shares outstanding for the year ended

December 31 2008 includes 12100000 additional shares sold in the initial public offering In addition

immediately prior to the completion of our initial public offering we granted each of our full-time

employees an option to acquire 500 shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to the

initial public offering price Such grant resulted in stock-based compensation of $1.9 million being

recorded for the year ended December 31 2008

In January 2008 we utilized portion of proceeds from the initial public offering to prepay the

entire outstanding indebtedness under the second lien loan in the amount of $125.0 million As

result of the prepayment we incurred $5.0 million in expenses during the year ended December 31

2008 which were comprised of $1.25 million debt prepayment penalty fee $2.4 million write-off of

debt issuance costs and $1.4 million loss on an interest rate swap settlement Such costs have been

included in interest dividend investment and other income expense net in the statement of

operations for the year ended December 31 2008

In 2008 we recorded non-cash impairment charge to goodwill and intangible assets totaling

$160.1 million as result of our annual goodwill and intangible asset impairment review The

impairment charge includes $154.2 million write-down to ISS goodwill primarily as result of the

negative equity market conditions which caused material decline in industry market multiples in the

second half of 2008 In addition the impairment charge includes $5.9 million write-down to an ISS

product tradename as result of an integration plan for the tradename which reduced its expected life
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Year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007

The following tables provide information with respect to our consolidated and segment operating

results

Consolidated RiskMetrics Group Inc

Exceeds 100%

Includes stock-based compensation expenses of $6033 and $9893 for years ended December 31

2007 and 2008 respectively

Increase decrease for year

Year Ended ended December 31
December 31 2008 compared to 2007

2007 2008 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

$240301 296393 56092 23.3%Revenues

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 77317 93387 16070

Research and development 31142 41593 10451

Selling and marketing 35420 33202 2218
General and administrative 29654 37422 7768

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 7419 8779 1360

Amortization of intangible assets 19145 21758 2613

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset 160069 160069

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 734 122 612

Total operating costs and expenses1 200831 396332 195501

Income loss from operations 39470 99939 139409

Interest dividend and investment income expense
net 35358 26280 9078

Income loss before provision for income taxes 4112 126219 130331
Provision for income taxes 1711 10700 8989

Net income loss $2401 $136919 $139320

20.8%

33.6%

6.3%
26.2%

18.3%

13.6%

100%

83.4%

97.3%

25.7%
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RiskMetrics Business

Increase decrease for year

Year ended ended December 31
December 31 2008 compared to 2007

2007 2008 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

Revenues $121126 $154626 $33500 27.7%

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 30103 37367 7264 24.1%

Research and development 24002 27235 3233 13.5%

Selling and marketing 17101 17408 307 1.8%

General and administrative 14105 19162 5057 35.9%

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 4439 4624 185 4.2%

Amortization of intangible assets 78 78 100%

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 161 161 100%
Total operating costs and expenses2 89911 105874 15963 17.8%

Income from operations 31215 48752 $17537 56.2%

Includes stock-based compensation expenses of $3383 and $4287 for years ended December 31
2007 and 2008 respectively

ISS Business

Increase decrease for year

ended December 31
2008 compared to the period

Ja 12 2007
January 12 2007 to

nu

Year ended
December 31 2007

December 31 2007 December 31 2008 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

Revenues $119175 $141767 22592 19.0%

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 47214 56020 8806 18.7%

Research and development 7140 14358 7218

Selling and marketing 18319 15794 2525 13.8%
General and administrative 15549 18260 2711 17.4%

Depreciation and amortization of

property and equipment 2980 4155 1175 39.4%

Amortization of intangible assets 19145 21680 2535 13.2%

Loss on disposal of property and

equipment 573 122 451 78.7%

Impairment of goodwill and

intangible asset 160069 160069 100%

Total operating costs and expenses3 110920 290458 179538

Income loss from operations 8255 $148691 $156946

Exceeds 100%
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Includes stock-based compensation expenses of $2650 and $5606 for
year ended December 31

2007 and 2008 respectively

The following table provides information with
respect to our revenues in certain geographic

regions

Consolidated RiskMetrics Group Inc

ISS Business

Year ended

December 31 2007

of

Total

Revenue Revenue

56408

Increase decrease for year
January 12 2007 ended December 31

to Year Ended 2008 compared to the periodDecember 31 2007 December 31 2008 January 12 2007 to

of Total of lbtal
December 31 2007

Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

92473 77.6% $110542 78.0% $18069 19.5%

Year ended Year ended
December 31 2007 December 31 2008 Increase decrease for year

ended December 31%of %of
Total Total

2008 compared to 2007

Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

$148881 62.0% $181039 61.1% $32158 21.6%

75430

15990

$240301

31.4%

6.6%

100.0%

98028

17326

$296393

Region

Americas

Europe Middle East and Africa

EMEA
Asia

Total

RiskMetrics Business

Region

Americas

Europe Middle East and Africa

EMEA
Asia

Total

33.1%

5.8%

100.0%

22598

1336

$56092

30.0%

8.4%

23.3%

Year ended
December 31 2008 Increase decrease for year

ended December 31
2008 compared to 2007

Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

46.6% 70497 45.6% $14089 25.0%

54666

10052

$121126

45.1% 73105 47.3% 18439 33.7%

8.3% 11024 7.1% 972 9.7%

100.0% $154626 100.0% $33500 27.7%

Region

Americas

Europe Middle East and

Africa EMEA
Asia

Total

20764 17.4% 24923 17.6% 4159 20.0%

5938 5.0% 6302 4.4% 364 6.1%

$119175 100.0% $141767 100.0% $22592 19.0%

Set forth below is discussion of our results for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to
the year ended December 31 2008

Revenues Consolidated revenues increased from $240.3 million for the year ended December 31
2007 to $296.4 million for the

year ended December 31 2008 or 23.3% Revenue growth was driven by
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27.7% increase in the RiskMetrics business and 19.0% increase in the ISS business Revenue growth

was also driven by 21.6% increase in the Americas region and 30.0% increase in the EMEA region

driven by increased sales in both businesses in these regions

RiskMetrics revenues increased from $121.1 million for the
year

ended December 31 2007 to

$154.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 27.7% The $33.5 million increase in revenues

was primarily due to $30.9 million or 29.6% increase in revenues from our Market Risk products

The increase in revenues from Market Risk Products was due to 34.4% increase in revenues from

RiskManager due to strong sales of RiskManager to asset managers and hedge funds as they increased

their outsourcing of risk reporting services As percentage of total RiskMetrics revenues revenues

from our Market Risk products and services increased from 86.0% for the year ended December 31
2007 to 87.4% for the year ended December 31 2008 Revenue growth was also driven by 25.0%

increase in the Americas region and 33.7% increase in the EMEA region driven by strong sales of

RiskManager in these regions due to among other things increased investor demand and the need for

financial services firms to comply with regulatory requirements

ISS revenues increased from $119.2 million for the period from January 12 2007 to December 31
2007 to $141.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 19.0% During the period from

January to January 11 2007 ISS recognized revenues of $3.3 million Had these eleven days of

revenue been included in the year ended December 31 2007 revenue would have been $122.5 million

an increase of 15.7% as compared to the year ended December 31 2008 The increase in revenues was

primarily due to $13.9 million increase in revenue from our Financial Research and Analysis products

and services which increased from $34.8 million to $48.7 million or 39.9% due to $9.5 million

increase in CFRA revenue which was acquired on August 2007 and growth from our Corporate and

Compensation Advisory Services ESG and MA Edge products Revenues from our Governance

Services products increased 10.3% from $86.8 million to $93.1 million primarily due to increased

revenue in proxy research services Governance services revenue accounted for 65.7% of total revenue

for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to 70.8% in the prior year Revenue growth was also

driven by an approximate 20% increase in the both the Americas and EMEA region

Operating costs and expenses Consolidated operating expenses increased from $200.8 million for

the year ended December 31 2007 to $396.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 97.3%

The $195.5 million increase in operating expenses was primarily due to $160.1 million non-cash

impairment charge for goodwill and an intangible asset The remaining $35.4 million increase in

operating expenses was due to increased compensation expenses of $15.8 million increased stock-based

compensation of $3.9 million increased depreciation and amortization expense of $4.0 million as well

as increased foreign currency expenses and increased travel data and occupancy costs to support

revenue growth

RiskMetrics operating expenses increased from $89.9 million for the
year

ended December 31
2007 to $105.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 17.8% The increase was mainly due

to increased compensation costs of $7.0 million related to higher headcount bonus expenses and

commission increases increased data costs of $2.0 million as well as increased foreign currency losses

web hosting costs stock based compensation accounting and insurance costs As percentage of

revenues operating expenses decreased from 74.2% to 68.5% due to increased economies of scale

ISS operating expenses increased from $110.9 million for the period from January 12 2007 to

December 31 2007 to $290.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase in operating

expenses was primarily due to $160.1 million non-cash impairment charge for goodwill and intangible

assets The remaining $19.5 million increase in operating expenses was primarily due to an $8.8 million

increase in compensation costs due to increased bonus expense and the full year inclusion of CFRA
increased depreciation and amortization expense of $3.7 million and increased stock based

compensation expense of $3.0 million
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Cost of revenues Consolidated cost of revenues increased from $77.3 million for the
year ended

December 31 2007 to $93.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 20.8% The increase in

cost of revenues resulted primarily from increased compensation and increased data costs As

percentage of revenues cost of revenues decreased from 32.2% to 31.5%

RiskMetrics cost of revenues increased from $30.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007

to $37.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 24.1% The increase was primarily due to

increased compensation costs of $1.8 million increased third- party data costs of $2.0 million increased

occupancy costs of $1.2 million and increased telecommunication costs of $1.6 million As percentage
of revenues RiskMetrics cost of revenues decreased from 24.9% to 24.2% due to increased economics

of scale

ISS cost of revenues increased from $47.2 million for the period from January 12 2007 to

December 31 2007 to $56.0 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 18.7% The increase was

primarily due to the full
year inclusion of CFRA costs increased compensation costs of $4.6 million

and occupancy costs as well as increased stock-based compensation expense of $1.8 million As

percentage of revenues ISS cost of revenues decreased from 39.6% to 39.5%

Research and development expenses Consolidated research and development expenses increased

from $31.1 million for the year ended December 31 2007 to $41.6 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 or 33.6% As percentage of revenues research and development expenses
increased from 12.9% to 14.0% primarily due to increased compensation costs including increased

stock-based compensation of $1.7 million and increased investment in research and development
related to governance service products and platforms

RiskMetrics research and development expenses increased from $24.0 million for the year ended

December 31 2007 to $27.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 13.5% The increase was

primarily due to increased compensation costs of $1.1 million increased occupancy cost of $1.0 million

and increased stock based compensation expense of $0.4 million As percentage of revenues research

and development expenses decreased from 19.8% to 17.6%

ISS research and development expenses increased from $7.1 million for the period from

January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 to $14.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The
increase was primarily due to increased compensation costs of $4.2 million occupancy costs and

increased stock based compensation expense of $1.3 million As percentage of revenues research and

development expenses increased from 6.0% to 10.2% due to continued investment in enhancing the

governance service products and platforms

Selling and marketing expenses Consolidated selling and marketing expenses decreased from

$35.4 million for the year ended December 31 2007 to $33.2 million for the year ended December 31

2008 or 6.3% As percentage of revenues selling and marketing expenses decreased from 14.7% to

11.2% due to synergies achieved from the integration of the Companys global sales force and lower

marketing expenses

RiskMetrics selling and marketing expenses increased from $17.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2007 to $17.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 1.8% The increase was

primarily due to increased commissions as result df the increase in sales partially offset by decline

in marketing expenses

ISS selling and marketing expenses decreased from $18.3 million for the period from January 12
2007 to December 31 2007 to $15.8 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or 13.8% The
decrease was primarily due to $2.1 million decline in compensation costs due to the global integration

of the Companys sales forces as well as decline in marketing expenses
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General and administrative expenses Consolidated general and administrative expenses increased

from $29.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 to $37.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 or 26.2% As percentage of revenues general and administrative expenses

increased from 12.4% to 12.6% due to increased occupancy costs increased compensation costs stock

based compensation expense and increased accounting insurance and consulting costs as result of

being public company

RiskMetrics general and administrative expenses increased from $14.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2007 to $19.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 or 35.9% The increased

was primarily due to increased stock based compensation expense increased compensation costs and

$1.2 million increase in accounting insurance and consulting costs as result of being public

company

ISS general and administrative expenses increased from $15.5 million for the period from

January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 to $18.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 or

17.4% The increase was primarily due to increased compensation costs and the full year inclusion of

CFRA costs

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment Depreciation and amortization of

property and equipment increased from $7.4 million for the year ended December 31 2007 to

$8.8 million for the year
ended December 31 2008 The increase was primarily due to an increase in

capital expenditures for leasehold improvements and computer equipment to support the Companys

increased headcount and facilities expansion

Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of intangible assets increased from $19.1 million

for the year ended December 31 2007 to $21.8 million for year ended December 31 2008 primarily

from our acquisition of CFRA on August 2007 and purchase of an intangible asset in the fourth

quarter of 2007

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Asset We recognized and impairment of goodwill and

intangible asset charge in the amount of $160.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The

impairment charge includes $154.2 million write-down to ISS goodwill primarily as result of the

negative equity market conditions which caused material decline in industry market multiples in the

second half of 2008 In addition the impairment charge includes $5.9 million write-down to an ISS

product tradename as result of an integration plan for the tradename which reduced its expected life

Interest dividend and investment income expense net Net interest dividend and investment

expense decreased from $35.4 million for the year ended December 31 2007 to $26.3 million for the

year ended December 31 2008 This decrease in expense was due to decreased interest expense net of

amortization and increased interest income as result of reduced debt borrowings and increased cash

balances during 2008 In January 2008 we utilized portion of proceeds from the initial public offering

to prepay the entire outstanding indebtedness under the second lien loan in the amount of

$125.0 million As result of the prepayment we incurred $5.0 million in expenses during the year

ended December 31 2008 which were comprised of $1.25 million debt prepayment penalty fee

$2.4 million write-off of debt issuance costs and $1.4 million loss on an interest rate swap settlement

Provision for income taxes The provision for income taxes represents negative effective tax rate

of 8.5% for the year ended December 31 2008 as compared to an effective rate of 41.6% for the

comparable prior year period The Company recorded $10.7 million provision for income taxes

despite pre-tax loss because the effective tax rate for 2008 does not include tax benefit for the

$154.2 million goodwill impairment as this impairment charge is not tax deductible The effective rate

also changed partially due to decrease in non-deductible stock-based compensation expense Effective

tax rates are subject to change based on the taxable income in all the jurisdictions in which we do

business
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Consolidated Risk Metrics Group Inc

Year ended December 31 2007 compared to the
year ended December 31 2006

The consolidated results for the
year ended December 31 2006 do not include the results of ISS

which was acquired on January 11 2007

Includes stock-based compensation expenses of $3636 and $6033 for year ended December 31
2006 and 2007 respectively

The following table provides information with respect to our revenues in certain geographic

regions

Set forth below is discussion of the year ended December 31 2006 compared to the year ended

December 31 2007 for RiskMetrics Group Inc This discussion focuses primarily on the impact of our

acquisition of ISS on January 11 2007 and its effects on our results of operations For more detailed

discussion of the results of operations of each of our RiskMetrics and ISS businesses please see the

Increase decrease for year

Year Ended ended December 31 2007
December 31 compared to 2006

2006 2007 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

$101236 $240301 $139065 137.4%Revenues

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 25618 77317 51699 201.8%

Research and development 21202 31142 9940 46.9%

Selling and marketing 14977 35420 20443 136.5%

General and administrative 12852 29654 16802 130.7%

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 4081 7419 3338 81.8%

Amortization of intangible assets 770 19145 18375 2386.4%
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 15 734 719 4793.3%

Total operating costs and expenses1 79515 200831 121316 152.6%

Income from operations 21721 39470 17749 81.7%

Interest dividend and investment income expense
net 2500 35358 37858 1514.3%

Income before provision for income taxes 24221 4112 20109 83.0%
Provision for income taxes 8200 1711 6489 79.1%

Net income 16021 2401 13620 85.0%

Year ended Year ended
December 31 2006 December 31 2007 Increase decrease for year

ended December 31

Total TOhII
2007 compared to 2006

Region Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in millions except percentages

Americas 52.7 52.1% $148.9 62.0% 96.2 182.5%

Europe Middle East and Africa

EMEA 39.5 39.0% 75.4 31.4% 35.9 90.9%

Asia 9.0 8.9% 16.0 6.6% 7.0 77.8%

Total $101.2 100.0% $240.3 100.0% $139.1 137.4%
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separate discussions of the results of operations for RiskMetrics and ISS for these periods set forth

below

Revenues Revenues increased from $101.2 million in 2006 to $240.3 million in 2007 or 137.4%

The increase consisted of revenues of $119.2 million attributable to ISS and included as result of our

acquisition
of ISS on January 11 2007 and increased revenue of $19.9 million relating to RiskMetrics

Operating costs and expenses Total operating expenses increased from $79.5 million in 2006 to

$200.8 million in 2007 or 152.6% The increase consisted of operating expenses of $110.9 million

attributable to ISS and included as result of our acquisition
of ISS and an increase of $10.4 million

relating to RiskMetrics

Cost of revenues Cost of revenues increased from $25.6 million in 2006 to $77.3 million in 2007

or 201.8% The increase was primarily due to cost of revenues of $47.2 million attributable to ISS and

included as result of our acquisition of ISS and an increase of $4.5 million relating to RiskMetrics

The increase in cost of revenues for RiskMetrics resulted from an increase in client support data and

web hosting costs As percentage of revenues cost of revenues increased from 25.3% to 32.2% This

increase in cost of revenues as percentage of revenues reflects the acquisition of ISS which has

historically operated with cost of revenues as higher percentage of revenues than RiskMetrics as well

as the increased costs at RiskMetrics as discussed above

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased from

$21.2 million in 2006 to $31.1 million in 2007 or 46.9% The increase was primarily due to research

and development expenses of $7.1 million attributable to ISS and included as result of our acquisition

of ISS and an increase of $2.8 million relating to RiskMetrics As percentage of revenues research

and development expenses decreased from 20.9% to 13.0% The decrease in research and development

expenses as percentage of revenues reflects the acquisition of ISS which has historically operated

with research and development expenses as lower percentage of revenues than RiskMetrics

Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses increased from $15.0 million in

2006 to $35.4 million in 2007 or 136.5% The increase was primarily due to selling and marketing

expenses of $18.3 million attributable to ISS and included as result of our acquisition of ISS and an

increase of $2.1 million relating to RiskMetrics As percentage of revenues selling and marketing

expenses decreased from 14.8% to 14.7% Selling and marketing expenses as percentage of revenues

have historically been approximately the same for both RiskMetrics and ISS

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased from

$12.9 million in 2006 to $29.7 million in 2007 or 130.7% The increase was primarily due to general

and administrative expenses of $15.5 million included as result of our acquisition of ISS and an

increase of $1.3 million relating to RiskMetrics As percentage of revenues general and

administrative expenses decreased from 12.7% to 12.3% The decrease in general and administrative

expenses as percentage of revenues reflects the results of ISS merger integration efforts

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment Depreciation and amortization of

property
and equipment increased from $4.1 million in 2006 to $7.4 million in 2007 or 81.8% The

increase was primarily
due to depreciation of $3.0 million resulting from the acquisition of ISS and an

increase of $0.3 million relating to RiskMetrics

Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of intangible assets increased from $0.8 million in

2006 to $19.1 million in 2007 as result of our acquisitions of ISS and CFRA

Loss on disposal of property and equipment Loss on disposal of property and equipment was

primarily due to the abandonment of software project which resulted in loss of approximately

$0.6 million in 2007
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Interest dividend and investment income expense net Net interest dividend and investment

income was $2.5 million of income in 2006 and $35.4 million of expense in 2007 The change was due

to interest expense incurred on the $425 million of debt incurred as result of the ISS acquisition on

January 11 2007 and $15.0 million of additional indebtedness under our first lien revolving credit

facility incurred in connection with our acquisition of CFRA on August 2007

Provision for income taxes Income taxes decreased from provision of $8.2 million in 2006 to

provision of $1.7 million in 2007 or 79.1% The decrease was the result of decline in pre-tax income

in 2007 as result of the large amount of interest expense and amortization resulting from the

acquisitions of ISS and CFRA

The provision for income taxes represents an effective tax rate of 41.6% for 2007 as compared to

an effective rate of 33.9% for 2006 The effective rate changed from 2006 to 2007 mainly due to an

increase in non-deductible stock- based compensation expense attributable to incentive stock options as

well as decline in pre-tax income Effective tax rates are subject to change based on the taxable

income in all the jurisdictions in which we do business

Segment results of operations

RiskMetrics Business

Year ended December 31 2007 compared to the year ended December 31 2006

Increase decrease for year

Year ended ended December 31
December 31 2007 compared to 2006

2006 2007 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

Revenues $101236 $121126 $19890 19.6%

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 25618 30103 4485 17.5%

Research and development 21202 24002 2800 13.2%

Selling and marketing 14977 17401 2124 14.2%

General and administrative 12852 14105 1253 9.7%

Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 4081 4439 358 8.8%

Amortization of intangible assets 770 770 100.0%
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 15 161 146 973.3%

Total operating costs and expenses2 79515 89911 10396 13.1%

Income from operations 21721 31215 9494 43.7%

Includes stock-base compensation expenses of $3636 and $3383 for year ended December 31
2006 and 2007 respectively
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The following table provides information with respect to our revenues in certain geographic

regions

Year ended Year ended

December 31 2006 December 31 2007 Increase decrease for year

ended December 31

Tot t1i 2007 compared to 2006

Region Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in millions except percentages

Americas 52.7 52.1% 56.5 46.7% 3.8 7.2%

Europe Middle East and Africa

EMEA 39.5 39.0% 54.6 45.0% 15.1 38.2%

Asia 9.0 8.9% 10.0 8.3% 1.0 11.1%

Total $101.2 100.0% $121.1 100.0% $19.9 19.6%

Revenues Revenues increased from $101.2 million in 2006 to $121.1 million in 2007 or 19.6%

The $19.9 million increase in revenues was primarily due to $22.3 million or 27% increase in

revenues from our Market Risk products and services partially offset by $4.3 million reduction in

revenues due to the loss of the JPMorgan online services agreement The increase in revenues from

our Market Risk products and services was due to strong sales of RiskManager to asset managers and

hedge funds as they increased their outsourcing of risk reporting services Increased revenues resulted

from both increased sales to existing customers and sales to new customers As percentage of total

revenues revenues from our Market Risk products and services increased from 80% in 2006 to 86% in

2007

Revenue growth was also driven by our sales in the EMEA region as revenues increased 38.2%

from 2006 to 2007 driven by strong sales of RiskManager in this region due to among other things

the need for financial services firms to comply with new regulatory requirements Americas 2007

revenue growth was adversely impacted by the $4.3 million reduction in revenues from the JP Morgan

online services agreement

Operating costs and expenses Operating expenses increased from $79.5 million in 2006 to

$89.9 million in 2007 or 13.1% The increase was mainly due to increased compensation costs of

$7.7 million related to higher headcount bonus accrual and commissions as well as higher data and

web hosting costs As percentage of revenues operating expenses decreased from 78.5% to 74.2%

due to increased economies of scale and the elimination of amortization expense resulting from the

termination of the JPMorgan online contract

Cost of revenues Cost of revenues increased from $25.6 million in 2006 to $30.1 million in 2007

or 17.5% The increase was primarily due to $1.8 million of increased compensation costs primarily

from our London office to support our revenue growth in Europe $0.5 million increase in third-

party data costs due to the increased breadth of product offerings and an increase of $0.5 million in

web hosting costs associated with various locations As percentage of revenues cost of revenues

decreased from 25.3% to 24.9%

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses increased from

$21.2 million in 2006 to $24.0 million in 2007 or 13.2% The increase was primarily due to increased

employee compensation costs due to increased headcount in various locations As percentage of

revenues research and development expenses decreased from 20.9% to 19.8%
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Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses increased from $15.0 million in

2006 to $17.1 million in 2007 or 14.2% The increase was primarily due to increased sales commissions

of $0.8 million based on higher volume of new sales in 2007 increase in marketing expenses and

increased compensation costs As percentage of revenues selling and marketing expenses decreased

from 14.8% to 14.1%

General and administrative expenses General and administrative expenses increased from

$12.9 million in 2006 to $14.1 million in 2007 or 9.7% The increase was primarily due to increased

employee compensation costs and merger integration costs As percentage of revenues general and

administrative expenses decreased from 12.7% to 11.6%

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment Depreciation and amortization of

property and equipment increased from $4.1 million in 2006 to $4.4 million in 2007 or 8.8% due to

increased capital expenditures for computer hardware and software

Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of intangible assets decreased from $0.8 million in

2006 to zero in 2007 During 2005 we were notified that our contract with JPMorgan for online

services would not be renewed As such we accelerated the amortization of the intangible assets

related to the agreement over their remaining useful lives This acceleration resulted in $0.8 million of

amortization expense in 2006

ISS Business

The period January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 compared to the
year

ended December 31 2006

Increase decrease for the period

January 12 2007 to December 31

12 2007
2007 compared to the year ended

Year ended
anuary

December 31 2006

December 31 2006 December 31 2007 Amount

Amounts in thousands except percentages

Revenues $103269 $119175 $15906 15.4%

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 39933 47214 7281 18.2%

Research and development 6070 7140 1070 17.6%

Selling and marketing 15728 18319 2591 16.5%

General and administrative 16678 15549 1129 6.8%
Depreciation and amortization

of property and equipment 3578 2980 598 16.7%
Amortization of intangible

assets 2520 19145 16625 659.7%

Loss on disposal of
property

and equipment 573 573 100.0%

Total operating costs and

expenses3 84507 110920 26413 31.3%

Income from operations $18762 8255 $10507 56.0%

Includes stock-base compensation expenses of $1815 and $2650 for
year ended December 31

2006 and 2007 respectively
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The following table provides information with respect
to our ISS business revenues in certain

geographic regions

Increase decrease
for the period

January 12 2007 January 12 2007

Year ended to to December 31 2007

December 31 2006 December 31 2007 compared to the year

of Total of Total
ended December 31 2006

Region
Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Amount

Amounts in millions except percentages

Americas 83.0 80.3% 92.5 77.6% 9.5 11.4%

Europe Middle East and

Africa EMEA 16.1 15.6% 20.8 17.4% 4.7 29.2%

Asia 4.2 4.1% 5.9 5.0% 1.7 40.5%

Total $103.3 100.0% $119.2 100.0% $15.9 15.4%

Revenues Revenues increased from $103.3 million for the year ended December 31 2006 to

$119.2 million for the period from January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 or 15.4% The acquisition

of CFRA on August 2007 generated additional revenues of $7.2 million during the period from

August 2007 to December 31 2007

During the period
from January to January 11 2007 ISS recognized revenues of $3.3 million

Had this revenue been included in the year
ended December 31 2007 revenue for the year ended

December 31 2007 would have been $122.5 million an increase of 18.6% as compared to the year

ended December 31 2006 All the information provided in the remainder of this paragraph reflects the

inclusion of the revenues for this 11-day period The increase in revenues was primarily due to an

increase in revenue from our Financial Research and Analysis products and services which increased

from $24.0 million to $35.7 million or 48% due to the inclusion of $7.2 of CFRA revenue and the

growth of our revenues from our Compensation Advisory Services ESG and MA Edge products

Revenues from our Governance Services increased 9.5% from $79.3 million to $86.8 million and

accounted for 71% of total revenue for the year ended December 31 2007 Revenues from the

Americas accounted for 77.6% of ISS revenues in the year ended December 31 2007 down from

80.3% in the year ended December 31 2006 as ISS continued to diversify geographically

Operating costs and expenses
Total operating expenses increased from $84.5 million for the year

ended December 31 2006 to $110.9 million for the period from January 12 2007 to December 31

2007 or 31.3% The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to $16.6 million increase in

amortization of intangible assets that resulted from the acquisitions
of ISS and CFRA by RiskMetrics

and an additional $7.0 million in operating expenses from CFRA As percentage of revenues

operating costs and expenses increased from 81.8% to 93.1% primarily due to the increase in

amortization expense

Cost of revenues Cost of revenues increased from $39.9 million for the year
ended December 31

2006 to $47.2 million for the period from January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 or 18.2% The

increase was primarily due to increased compensation costs including stock-based compensation of

$0.3 million and $3.1 million of CFRA costs partially offset by the elimination of special bonus paid

to option
holders in 2006 in connection with cash dividend paid by ISS to its stockholders As

percentage of revenues cost of revenues increased from 38.7% to 39.6% primarily due to CFRA

revenue in the current period which historically generates higher cost of revenue than ISS

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses increased from

$6.1 million for the year
ended December 31 2006 to $7.1 million for the period from January 12 2007

to December 31 2007 or 17.6% The increase was primarily due to increased compensation costs
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including stock-based compensation of $0.4 million As percentage of revenues research and

development expenses increased from 5.9% to 6.0%

Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses increased from $15.7 million for

the year ended December 31 2006 to $18.3 million for the period from January 12 2007 to

December 31 2007 or 16.5% The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of $1.4 million in CFRA
costs and increased commissions due to the increase in sales As percentage of revenues selling and

marketing expenses increased slightly from 15.2% to 15.4%

General and administrative expenses General and administrative expenses decreased from

$16.7 million for the year ended December 31 2006 to $15.5 million for period from January 12 2007

to December 31 2007 or 6.8% The decrease was primarily due to the elimination of the special bonus

paid to option holders in 2006 in connection with cash dividend paid by ISS to its stockholders and

reduced compensation as result of reduced headcount partially offset by additional CFRA costs and

increased consulting and accounting costs As percentage of revenues general and administrative

expenses decreased from 16.2% to 13.0% due to integration efforts

Depreciation and amortization of properly and equipment Depreciation and amortization of

property
and equipment decreased from $3.6 million for the year ended December 31 2006 to

$3.0 million for the period from January 12 2007 to December 31 2007 or 16.7% due to the valuation

of such assets in connection with the ISS acquisition by RiskMetrics

Amortization of intangible assets Amortization of intangible assets increased from $2.5 million for

the year ended December 31 2006 to $19.1 million for the period from January 12 2007 to

December 31 2007 The increase was due to $19.1 million of amortization of intangible assets related

to the acquisitions of ISS and CFRA

Loss on disposal of properly and equipment We abandoned software project which resulted in

loss on disposal of property and equipment of approximately $0.6 million in 2007

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents increased $143.3 million in 2008 from $27.5 million at December 31
2007 to $170.8 at December 31 2008 In January 2008 we completed an initial public offering of our

common stock Our net proceeds from the offering including the exercise of the underwriters

allotment were $193.9 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and

approximately $3.5 million of offering expenses of which we utilized $125.0 million to repay in full our

second lien term loan facility We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents our cash flow from

operating activities and availability under our existing credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our

anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months during which time we expect to make

approximately $10.0 million to $11.0 million of capital expenditures We expect to use approximately
$16 million of cash to complete the acquisition of Innovest in March 2009

Our future working capital requirements will depend on many factors including our revenue

growth debt service future acquisitions of businesses and investments in our own business To the

extent our liquidity sources are insufficient to fund our future activities we may need to raise additional

funding through public or private equity or debt offering No assurances can be given that additional

financing will be available in the future or that if available such financing will be on favorable terms

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities increased $39.5 million in 2008 from $45.3 million in 2007 to

$84.8 million in 2008 Operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 provided cash of

$84.8 million primarily reflecting net loss of $136.9 million which includes $160.1 million non-cash
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impairment charge stock-based compensation of $9.9 million depreciation and amortization of

$30.5 million $10.0 million increase in accrued expenses and an $11.2 million contribution from

income taxes Cash flow from operations in 2008 was negatively impacted by $1.3 million of cash used

for debt pre-payment penalty fee and $1.4 million for an interest rate swap settlement in connection

with the pre-payment of debt in 2008 Operating activities for the
year

ended December 31 2007

provided cash of $45.3 million primarily reflecting net income of $2.4 million plus depreciation and

amortization of $26.6 million plus stock-based compensation of $6.0 million Cash flow from operations

for the year
ended December 31 2006 was $36.1 million reflecting primarily net income of

$16.0 million plus depreciation and amortization of $4.9 million stock-based compensation of

$3.6 million $5.1 million increase in deferred revenue and $3.9 million decrease in accounts

receivable

Investing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 used cash of $11.5 million primarily due

to capital expenditures of $8.8 million the acquisition of Applied4 for $1.8 million and $1.0 million

payment for an intangible asset Investing activities for the year ended December 31 2007 used cash of

$468.5 million primarily due to the acquisitions of ISS and CFRA which included the net liquidation

of investments that provided us $68.1 million of cash as well as capital expenditures of $11.1 million

Financing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 provided cash of $74.4 million as

result of $197.4 million raised from our initial public offering $5.9 million from stock option proceeds

$4.9 million of stock option tax benefits partially offset by $132.1 million in debt payments Financing

activities for the year ended December 31 2007 provided cash of $413.6 million as result of proceeds

received from the incurrence of $440.0 million of indebtedness in connection with the ISS and CFRA

acquisitions partially offset by the repayment of $17.3 million in principal debt and $10.1 million in

debt issuance costs

Long Term Debt

In connection with the purchase of ISS on January 11 2007 we incurred $425.0 million of

indebtedness which was comprised of first lien and second lien term loans and first lien revolving

credit facility The terms of the indebtedness include various covenant compliance requirements

including maintaining certain Adjusted EBITDA earning levels as defined in our credit facilities The

Company has pledged all of its assets as collateral against the debt Amounts paid under the term loans

may not be re-borrowed As of December 31 2008 $290.6 million of debt remains outstanding under

the first lien loan and no indebtedness remain outstanding under the second lien term loan or first lien

revolving credit facility The maturity date of the first lien term loan is December 2013

In February 2007 we entered into two interest-rate swap agreements to reduce interest rate risks

and to manage interest expense By entering into these agreements we change the fixed/variable

interest-rate mix of our debt portfolio As of December 31 2008 the interest rate swaps had notional

amounts totaling $279.4 million and fair value liability totaling $22.3 million The agreements

effectively convert our floating-rate debt into fixed-rate debt This reduces our risk of incurring higher

interest costs in periods of rising interest rates and increases our risk of paying higher interest costs in

periods of decreasing interest rates Our interest-rate swap agreements hedge significant portion of

the interest rate risk exposure under our indebtedness The interest rate swap agreements increased our

weighted average effective interest rate on the first lien term loan facility to 7.2% during the
year

ended December 31 2008 The interest rate on the Companys debt was reduced by 25 basis points in

April 2008 due to reduction in the Companys consolidated debt-leverage ratio

In January 2008 we utilized portion of proceeds from our initial public offering to prepay the

entire outstanding indebtedness under our second lien term loan which amounted to $125.0 million In

addition we paid 1% prepayment penalty fee or $1.25 million upon repayment as set forth in the

credit agreement In conjunction with the repayment of our second loan lien we wrote-off debt
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issuance costs of $2.4 million and reduced the notional amount of our interest rate swap by
$19.3 million which resulted in additional expense of $1.4 million during the year ended December 31
2008 During the year ended December 31 2008 we paid an excess cash flow principal payment of

$6.4 million for our first lien term loan as required by the credit facility The next principal debt

payment of $0.7 million is due on June 30 2009

As of December 31 2008 we were in compliance with the covenants of our credit agreements and
we are not aware of any future events or transactions that will impact such compliance

Commitments

In addition to the indebtedness discussed above we enter into routine operating lease obligations
for our facilities and purchase obligations to operate our business Our contractual commitments
including those related to our indebtedness were comprised of the following as of December 31 2008

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligation Total Within year 13 years 45 years After years

Debt including estimated interest $391609 $22800 $46558 $322251
Interest rate swaps 22311 10076 11794 441

Operating leases 24455 6562 12021 5670 202
Purchase obligation for data 9775 7682 2093
Deferred purchase price obligation1 1165 211 454 500

Total23 $449315 $47331 $72920 $328862 $202

Obligation relates to prior acquisitions made by ISS

Does not include $2.0 million of liabilities for uncertain tax liabilities The timing of future cash

flows associated with our liabilities for uncertain tax positions is highly uncertain and we are

unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of the period of cash settlement with the respective

taxing authorities

On February 13 2009 we signed definitive stock purchase agreement to acquire Innovest

Strategic Value Advisors for approximately $16 million in cash subject to working capital

adjustments This amount does not include approximately $16 million of cash expected to be used
in March 2009 to complete the acquisition

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet arrangements transactions obligations or other

relationships with unconsolidated entities that would be expected to have material current or future

impact upon our financial condition or results of operations

Impact of Inflation

Our business may be significantly or adversely affected by inflation Due to the high degree of

competition in the marketplace inflation rate increases might lead to an erosion of our profit margins

Related Party Transaction

In May 2008 we entered into contract for the sale of Market Risk products to Duff Capital
Advisors which expires on March 31 2009 Philip Duff director of the Company is the founder
CEO and General Partner of Duff Capital Advisors The contract was entered into in the normal
course of business on terms that we believe are consistent with and not preferential to those provided
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to our other clients We recognized $0.7 million in revenue from the Duff Capital Advisors contract for

the year ended December 31 2008

Effects of Recently Is sued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 defines

fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value

measurements In February 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 157-2 Effective Date of FASB

Statement No 157 which provides one year
deferral of the effective date of SFAS 157 for

non-financial assets and liabilities such as goodwill except those that are recognized or disclosed in

the Companys financial statements at fair value at least annually Accordingly we adopted the

provisions of SFAS 157 only for its financial assets and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value

on recurring basis effective January 2008 The Companys financial assets measured at fair value on

recurring basis consist of derivative instruments see Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 SFAS 159 The Fair Value Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities providing companies with an option to report selected

financial assets and liabilities at fair value SFAS 159s objective is to reduce both complexity in

accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets

and liabilities differently US GAAP required different measurement attributes for different assets and

liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings SFAS 159 helps to mitigate this type of

accounting-induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value

which may reduce the need for companies to comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting

SFAS 159 also establishes presentation
and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons

between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of asset and

liabilities SFAS 159 requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and

other users of financial statements to more easily understand the effect of the Companys choice to use

fair value on its earnings It also requires entities to display
the fair value of these assets and liabilities

for which the Company has chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet The Company

adopted SFAS 159 on January 2008 but did not elect the fair value option for any qualifying financial

instruments presented in the consolidated financial statements

On December 2007 FASB issued Statement No 141R Business Combinations SFAS 141R
and Statement No 160 Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements an amendment of ARB No 51 SFAS 160 These new standards will significantly change

the financial accounting and reporting
of business combination transactions and noncontrolling or

minority interests in consolidated financial statements SFAS 141R is generally required to be

adopted concurrently with Statement No 160 and is effective for business combination transactions for

which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on

or after December 15 2008 Application of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 is required to be adopted

prospectively except for certain provisions of SFAS 160 which are required to be adopted

retrospectively Business combination transactions accounted for before adoption of SFAS 141R

should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS141 and that accounting previously completed under

Statement No 141 should not be modified as of or after the date of adoption of Statement No.141R

The impact of adopting SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 will be dependent on the business combinations that

the Company may pursue after its effective date

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS No 161 SFAS No 161

establishes among other things the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and for hedging

activities SFAS No 161 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15

2008 The Company is currently assessing the impact that SFAS No 161 will have on its consolidated

financial statements
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In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB staff position FSP FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful

Life of Intangible Assets FSP FAS 142-3 FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors an entity should

consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of

recognized intangible assets under FASB Statement No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are acquired individually or with

group of other assets in business combinations and asset acquisitions FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after December 15 2008 and

as such the Company will adopt FSP FAS 142-3 on January 2009 Early adoption is prohibited The

Company is currently evaluating the impact if any that FSP FAS 142-3 will have on its consolidated

financial statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk associated with short and long-term debt

bearing variable interest rates To manage this interest rate risk exposure we enter into interest rate

swap agreements We are also exposed to foreign currency risk which can adversely affect our sales

and operating profits The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Note 10 of our

consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K which provides further

information on our derivative instruments

Interest Rate Sensitivity

To reduce the exposure associated with our variable rate debt we entered into two interest-rate

swap agreements to reduce interest rate risks and to manage interest expense By entering into these

agreements we change the fixed/variable interest-rate mix of our debt portfolio As of December 31
2008 the interest rate swaps had notional amounts totaling $279.4 million and fair value liability

totaling $22.3 million The agreements effectively convert our floating-rate debt into fixed-rate debt

This reduces our risk of incurring higher interest costs in periods of rising interest rates Our
interest-rate swap agreements hedge substantial majority of the interest rate risk exposure under our

indebtedness The interest rate swap agreements increased our weighted average effective interest rate

on the first lien term loan facility to 7.2% during the year ended December 31 2008 hypothetical

instantaneous increase of one percentage point in the interest rates applicable to the variable interest

rate debt would have increased our net interest expense for the year ended December 31 2008 by

approximately $3.3 million

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We have two separate exposures to currency fluctuation risksubsidiaries outside the United

States which use foreign currency as their functional currency which are translated into U.S dollars

for consolidation of assets and liabilities and non-U.S dollar invoiced revenues Changes in foreign

exchange rates for our subsidiaries that use foreign currency as their functional currency are

translated into U.S dollars and result in cumulative translation adjustments which are included in

accumulated other comprehensive loss At December 31 2008 we had translation exposure to various

foreign currencies including the Euro Pounds Sterling Canadian Dollar and limited number of other

non-U.S doflar currencies The net potential loss resulting from hypothetical 10% adverse change in

quoted foreign currency exchange rates partially offset by corresponding appreciation of the US
dollar as of December 31 2008 amounts to $2.5 million

We primarily invoice our clients in U.S dollars however we also invoice portion of our clients

in Euro Sterling Canadian Dollar Japanese Yen and limited number of other non-U.S dollar

currencies As such the fluctuations in such currencies could impact our operating results
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Item Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is set forth on page F-i through F-42 of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There were no changes in or disagreements on any matters of accounting principles or financial

statement disclosure between us and our independent registered public accountants during our two

most recent fiscal years

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report we carried out an evaluation under the

supervision and with the participation of our management including our chief executive officer and

chief financial officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures- as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended the Exchange Act Based upon that evaluation our chief executive officer and

chief financial officer concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report our disclosure

controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in

reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported

within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and accumulated and communicated to

our management including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of RiskMetrics Group is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate

internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The Companys internal control over financial reporting is process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accounted

accounting principles

All internal control systems no matter how well designed have inherent limitations Therefore

even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to

financial statement preparation and presentation Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to

future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2008 In making this assessment we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework Based on our assessment we determined that as of December 31 2008 the Companys

internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria

Deloitte and Touche LLP Deloitte our independent registered public accounting firm has

performed an audit of the effectiveness of Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO This audit is

required to be performed in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Our independent auditors were given unrestricted access to all

financial records and related data .The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as
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of December 31 2008 has been audited by Deloitte Touche LLP an independent registered public

accounting firm as stated in its attestation report which is included below

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial
reporting during our fiscal quarter

ended December 31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect

our internal control over financial reporting

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

RiskMetrics Group Inc

New York New York

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of RiskMetrics Group Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed by or under the

supervision of the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing

similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the

possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to

error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation

of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the

risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate
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In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

as of and for the year
ended December 31 2008 of the Company and our report

dated Februaly 27

2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule

/s/ Deloitte Touche LLP

New York New York

February 27 2009

Item 9B Other Information

None

Part III

The information required by Item 10 Directors Executive Officers Corporate Governance and

Section 16a Item 11 Executive Compensation Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial

Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Item 13 Certain Relationships and

Related Transactions and Director Independence and Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and

Services of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy

Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which will be filed not later than 120 days

after the close of our year ended December 31 2008
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Part 1V

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Consolidated Financial Statements

The Index to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item on page F-i is incorporated herein

by reference as the list of financial statements required as part of this report

a2 Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule IlValuation and Qualifing Accounts

Charged to Charged to

costs and other

expenses accounts Deductions

Amounts in thousands

48

134

119

Cot

Balance at

end of the

period

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

CoL Cot Cot
Cot

Description

Year Ended December 31 2006

Allowance for doubtful receivables

Year ended December 31 2007

Allowance for doubtful receivables

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Year ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful receivables

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Balance at

beginning of

the period

318

265

405

119

516

265

405

119

338 .583

590471
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a3 Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description

Form of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatlon

3.2 Form of Second Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate

10.1 First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of January 11 2007 among RiskMetrics Group

Holdings LLC RiskMetrics Group Inc Bank of America N.A and the other lenders party

thereto

10.2 First Lien Guaranty dated as of January 11 2007 among each of the subsidiaries of

RiskMetrics Group Holdings LLC listed on the schedules thereto and Bank of America

NA
10.3 First Lien Security Agreement dated as of January 11 2007 among RiskMetrics Group

Holdings LLC the guarantors party thereto and Bank of America N.A

10.4 Registrants 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

10 Registrants 2004 Stock Option Plan

10.6 Registrants 2000 Stock Option Plan

10.7 ISS Equity Incentive Plan

10.8 Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement dated as of January 11 2007

between Registrant
and the stockholders party thereto

10.9 Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement dated as of January 11 2007 between

Registrant and the stockholders party thereto

10.10 Datafeed License Agreement dated October 27 2003 between ISS and ADP Investor

Communications Services Inc

10.11 First Amendment to Datafeed License Agreement dated as of January 2005 between ISS

and ADP Investor Communications Services Inc

10.12 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among RiskMetrics Group Inc RMG Holdco Inc

RMG Merger Sub Inc ISS Merger Sub Inc and Institutional Shareholder Services

Holdings Inc dated as of October 31 2006

21.1 Subsidiaries of RiskMetrics Group Inc

31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executive Officer

31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executive Officer

32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Incorporated by reference to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i File

No 333-146167

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

this 27t11 day of February 2009

RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

By Is ETHAN BERMAN

Ethan Berman

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934 this registration statement has been

signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/5/ ETHAN BERMAN Chief Executive Officer

February 27 2009
Ethan Berman Principal Executive Officer

Is DAVID OBSTLER Chief Financial Officer

February 27 2009
David Obstier Principal Financial Officer

Is ERIC DANIELS
Corporate Controller

February 27 2009
Eric Daniels Principal Accounting Officer

Is L0vIDA COLEMAN JR
Director February 27 2009

Lovida Coleman Jr

Is PHILIP DUFF
Director February 27 2009

Philip Duff

Is STEPANIE HANBURY-BROWN
Director February 27 2009

Stephanie Hanbury-Brown

Is REi KERN
Director February 27 2009

Rene Kern

Is ARTHUR LEVITT
Director February 27 2009

Arthur Levitt

66



Signature

Is CHRISTOPHER MITCHELL

Christopher Mitchell

Is FRANK NOONAN

Frank Noonan

Is LYNN PAINE

Lynn Paine

Is STEPHEN THIEKE

Stephen Thieke

Is ROBERT TRUEDEAU

Robert Trudeau

Title Date

Director February 27 2009

Director February 27 2009

Director February 27 2009

Director February 27 2009

Director February 27 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

RiskMetrics Group Inc

New York New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RiskMetrics Group Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated

statements of operations changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in

the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed

in the Index at Item 15a2 These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Aecounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We

believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of RiskMetrics Group Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2Q08 and 2007 and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended

December 31 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the

basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects
the

information set forth therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated

February 27 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

New York New York

February 27 2009
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2007 AND 2008

In thousands except share amounts

2007 2008

27455

37010
140

8300

5910

78815

174154

460951

16225

8677

4361

$743183

6235

34189

3000

100557

227

144208

419750

28626
722

13785

607091

479

217355

7262
74478

136092

$743183

$170799

42319

2092

4562

5666

225438

148340

308613

15400

5227

1995

705013

1981

40174

2224

109525

211

154115

288395

31405

1364

26567

501846

617

579
431781

17255
211397

203167

705013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Deferred tax assets

Income taxes receivable

Other receivables and prepaid expenses

Total current assets

Intangiblesnet

Goodwill

Property and equipmentnet
Deferred financing costs

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Debt current portion

Deferred revenue current portion

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Debt

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred revenue

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Common stock $.01 par value200000000 authorized 47850652 and

61673960 issued and 47642460 and 61430806 outstanding at

December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively

Treasury stock208192 and 243154 shares at December 31 2007 and 2008

respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

In thousands except share and per share amounts

2006

REVENUES 101236 _____ _______
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES

Cost of revenues 25618

Research and development 21202

Selling and marketing 14977

General and administrative 12852

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 4081

Amortization of intangible assets 770

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset

Loss on disposal of property
and equipment 15

_______ _________
Total operating costs and expenses1 79515

________ __________

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 21721

INTEREST DIVIDEND AND INVESTMENT INCOME
EXPENSE NET
Interest dividend and investment income 2549

Interest expense 49
Other

expenses

Total interest dividend investment and other income

expense net 2500
________ __________

INcoME LOSS BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME
TAXES 24221

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 8200 _______ _______
NET INCOME LOSS 16021

_______ _________

INCOME LOSS PER SHARE
Basic

__________

1iluted

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES
OUTSTANDING

Basic

Diluted

Includes stock-based compensation expense
of

2007 2008

$2001 3614

1199 2877

747 1733

_____
1669

______ ______
9893

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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_2007 2008

240301 296393

77317 93387

31142 41593

35420 33202

29654 37422

7419 8779

19145 21758

160069

734 122

200831 396332

39470 99939

1564 2567

36922 26234
2613

35358 26280

4112 126219
1711 10700

2401 136919

0.05 2.28

0.04 2.28

46380175 59970438
54364746 59970438

0.38

0.33

42655069
47963666

Cost of revenue

Research and development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative

Total stock-based compensation

2006

876

909

490

1361 2086

$3636 $6033



RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

In thousands except share amounts

BALANCEJanuary 2006

Comprehensive income

Net income

Foreign currency translation

adjustment

Change in unrealized loss on

investments

Total comprehensive income

Thx benefit associated with

exercise of stock options

Stock based compensation

Common shares issued upon
exercise of options

Stock repurchased

BALANCEDecember 31 2006

Comprehensive income

Net income

Foreign currency translation

adjustment

Unrealized loss on cash flow

hedge net of deferred tax

benefit of $4585

Change in unrealized loss on

investments

Total comprehensive loss

Retirement of outstanding

treasury stock

Common shares issued upon
exercise of options 1538133

Tax benefit associated with

exercise of stock options

Stock-based compensation

Common shares issued in

connection with acquisition of

ISS see Note 2774351

Options exchanged in connection

with acquisition of ISS see

Note

Adoption of FIN 48

Common shares issued in

connection with the acquisition

of CFRA see Note

Stock repurchased

BALANCEDecember 31 2007

15 5929

201

6033

16021 16021

90

189

16120

1235

3636

255

________
9018

56498

2401

353

6405

4353

5944

201

6033

42426

16634

3257

$136092

Common Shares
Accumulated

Additional Other Total

Number of freasury Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders

Shares Issued Amount Stock Capital Loss Deficit Equity

52717068 527 94 $126334 607 81890 44270

90

189

1235

3636

142392 253

693

52859460 529 $103 $130765

8316

74185

2401

508

353

6405

10329405 103 103

28 42398

16331

1008113 10

47850652 479

16331

365 365

16624

926

$217355 7262

2329

74478
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

In thousands except share amounts

Accumulated

Additional Other

Paid-In Comprehensive

Capital Loss

Total

Accumulated Stockholders

Deficit Equity

3048

Disclosure of realized loss

Unrealized loss on cash flow

hedge

Realized gain loss for cash

flow hedge settlement net of

tax benefit Note 10

Net unrealized loss on cash flow

hedge

2007 2008

6058 $10474

347 3529

6405 6945

See notes to consolidated financial statements

136919 136919
Comprehensive loss

Net loss

Foreign currency translation

adjustment

Net unrealized loss on cash

flow hedge net of deferred

tax benefit of $4376

Total comprehensive loss

Common shares issued upon

exercise of options

Tax benefit associated with

exercise of stock options

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock

Note 14

Common shares recovered in

connection with the acquisition

of CFRA Note
Net proceeds from equity

offering Note

BALANCEDecember 31 2008

Common Shares

Number of Treasury

Shares Issued Amount Stock

3048

6945

5901

4861

9893

147766

577

1611358 16

6945

146912

5917

4861

9893

577

12064184 121 193772 193893

61673960 617 579 431781 17255 211397 203167
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands

2006 2007 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income loss $16021 2401 $136919
Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 4081 7419 8779

Provision recovery for bad debt 53 140 516

Amortization of intangible assets 770 19145 21758
Amortization and write-off of debt issuance costs 1397 3450

Impainnent of goodwill and intangible asset 160069
Stock-based compensation 3636 6033 9893
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options 201 4861
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 15 734 122

Decrease increase in deferred tax benefit 812 1115 2294

Changes in assets and liabilities

Increase decrease in accounts receivable 3923 8599 8177
Increase decrease in other receivables and prepaid expenses 1171 934 192

Increase decrease in other assets 420 88 329
Increase decrease in deferred revenue 5098 4370 10863

Decrease in income and deferred taxes 532 2561 11211

Increase decrease in trade accounts payable 1771 2631 4029
Increase in other accrued expenses and liabilities 2303 996 10016

Net cash provided by operating activities 36082 45348 84848

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment 3724 11091 8795
Cash paid to acquire Institutional Shareholder Services Inc ISS and related

acquisition costs net of cash acquired of $12250 471764
Payment of acquisition related costs incurred by ISS 7413
Cash paid to acquire CFRA and related acquisition costs net of cash acquired of $1213 45946 223

Cash paid to acquire Applied4 and related acquisition costs 1860
Payment of deferred purchase price 128 103
Purchase of intangible asset 250 1000
Purchase of investments 70755 21289
Proceeds from sale of investments 72169 89364

Net cash used in investing activities 2310 468517 11535

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from debt borrowings 440000

Repayment of debt 17250 132131

Payment
of debt issuance costs 10074

Principal payments on capital lease obligations 23 26
Gross proceeds from equity offering Note 197400

Equity offering expenses 1928 1581
Excess tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options 1236 201 4861
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 255 5944 5917

Repurchase of stock 9018 3257

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 7527 413613 74440

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 102 302 4409
NET INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26347 9858 143344

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSBeginning of year 10966 37313 27455

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSEnd of year 37313 27455 170799

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest 35973 22475

Cash paid refunded for taxes 8236 50 3609

NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common stock to purchase ISS 42426

Issuance of stock options to purchase ISS 16331

Retirement of treasury stock 103

Tax benefit associated with exercise of ISS stock options 3463 631

Issuance of common stock to purchase CFRA 16634 577

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

OVERVIEW AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

RiskMetrics Group Inc the Company or RMG is provider of risk management and

corporate governance products and services to participants
in the global financial markets The

Companys products and services enable its clients to better understand and manage the risks

associated with their financial holdings provide greater transparency to their internal and external

constituencies satisfy regulatory and reporting requirements and make more informed investment

decisions The Company provides its products and services across multiple asset classes markets and

geographies to diverse client base including asset managers hedge funds pension funds banks

insurance companies financial advisors and corporations The Company operates
in two business

segments the RiskMetrics business and the ISS business

ReorganizationRiskMetrics Solutions Inc Delaware corporation was formed in June 1998 In

January 2007 the Company which was formed by RiskMetrics Solutions Inc completed

corporate reorganization in which all of RiskMetrics Solutions Inc.s then-outstanding capital stock

automatically was converted into and exchanged for capital stock of the Company and ii acquired

Institutional Shareholder Services Holdings Inc ISS for approximately $542.8 million in order to

increase the scale and scope of the Companys risk management products and services ISS provides

proxy research voting recommendations and governance advisory services to financial institutions and

corporations
worldwide ISS institutional and corporate clients are located throughout North America

Europe Asia and Australia ISS analyzes proxy issues issues research and provides vote

recommendations for companies across markets worldwide Additionally ISS provides services in the

areas of Taft-Hartley proxy research and voting social investment proxy research voting and portfolio

screening global proxy distribution and securities class action services

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of PresentationThe consolidated financial statements include

the accounts of RMG and its wholly owned-subsidiaries which are prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America US GAAP All

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Stock splitIn May 2007 the Company completed 2.5 for stock split All share amounts

reflected herein have been adjusted to reflect the impact of such split

ReclassificationEffective January 2008 gains losses from interest rate swaps were included in

interest expense on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations Accordingly the Company

reclassified $595 from interest dividend and investment income to interest expense in the 2007

consolidated statement of operations

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management Estimates and AssumptionsThe preparation of consolidated financial statements in

conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates judgments and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the

deferral and recognition of revenue impairment of goodwill and intangible assets stock-based
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

compensation gains or losses on derivative instruments accounting for income taxes and other matters

that affect the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures

Foreign Currency Translation.The Company has foreign subsidiaries where the functional currency

has been determined to be the local currency Assets and liabilities are translated using end of period

exchange rates revenues expenses and cash flows are translated using average rates of exchange

These currency translation effects are accumulated as part of other comprehensive loss in the

stockholders equity Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the

consolidated statements of operations Translation gains and losses related to long-term and

permanently invested intercompany balances are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income

The Company does not engage in foreign currency hedging

Cash and Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid securities with original

maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents

Goodwill and Intangible AssetsGoodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair

value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142
goodwill is not amortized and is evaluated for impairment using two-step process that is performed at

least annually on October of each year or whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment

may have occurred The first step is comparison of the fair value of reporting unit with its carrying

amount including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value goodwill of

the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the second step is unnecessary If the carrying value

of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value second test is performed to measure the amount of

impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill to determination of the implied fair

value of the goodwill If the carrying amount of the goodwill is greater than the implied value an

impairment loss is recognized for the difference The implied value of the goodwill is determined as of

the test date by performing purchase price allocation as if the reporting unit had just been acquired

using currently estimated fair values of the individual assets and liabilities of the reporting unit

together with an estimate of the fair value of the reporting unit taken as whole The estimate of the

fair value of the reporting unit is based upon information available regarding prices of similar groups of

assets or other valuation techniques including present value techniques based upon estimates of future

cash flows During the
year

ended December 31 2008 the Company recorded goodwill impairment

charge of $154.2 million Note

Intangible assets including acquired technology customer relationships certain trade names

proprietary process and non-compete agreements arising principally from acquisitions are recorded at

cost less accumulated amortization and the finite-lived intangibles are amortized using the straight line

method over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset Intangible assets deemed to have

indefinite useful lives such as certain trade names are not amortized and are subject to an annual

impairment test or are tested whenever events or circumstances indicate impairment may have

occurred Impairment exists if the carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair

value The Company recorded $5.9 million impairment charge for an intangible asset during the
year

F-9



RISKMET1UCS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

ended December 31 2008 upon the change of an indefinite lived intangible to finite lived intangible

Note

The goodwill acquired in the business acquisitions is subject to the provisions of SFAS 142 and

accordingly is not being amortized Acquired intangibles are carried at cost less accumulated

amortization At December 31 2008 intangible assets See Note are amortized over the following

estimated lives

Acquired technology 35 years

Customer relationships
711 years

Covenants not to compete 13 years

Proprietary process years

Trade names 110 years

Property and Equipment and Related Depreciation and AmortizationProperty and equipment are

stated at cost at the date of acquisition Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets Amortization of leasehold improvements is

calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the life of the asset or the term of the

related lease Improvements are capitalized while repair and maintenance costs are charged to

operations as incurred

The Company follows the provisions of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

AICPA Statement of Position SOP No 98-1 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software

Developed or Obtained for Internal Use for the capitalization of certain acquisition and development

costs related to internal use software Capitalization begins when the preliminary project stage is

complete Capitalization ceases when the internal project is substantially complete and ready for its

intended use Once the project is complete and available for intended use the Company amortizes

these costs over three-year period

During the years ended December 31 2007 and 2008 $3511 and $1629 of internal software

development costs have been capitalized and amortization expense of $681 and $1387 was recorded for

internally developed software respectively

Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equipment Depreciation and amortization of

property and equipment includes depreciation of software computer and related equipment furniture

and fixtures and telecommunications equipment which is recorded over the respective useful life of the

related asset Depreciation also includes the amortization of leasehold improvements which are

amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease or the assets useful life and the amortization of

capitalized
software costs Amortization expense for leasehold improvements and capitalized software

development cOsts are included in depreciation and amortization of property and equipment in the

statements of operations

Amortization of Intangible Assets Amortization of intangible assets includes the amortization of

finite life intangibles such as acquired technology customer relationships proprietary process certain

trade names and non-compete agreements
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsLong-lived assets of the Company other than deferred tax

assets including equipment software development and leasehold improvements trade names and other

finite lived intangible assets and furniture and fixtures are reviewed for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the net carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an

asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset If such assets are

considered to be impaired the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the

carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the asset

Derivative InstrumentsThe Companys derivative instruments are subject to the guidance in SFAS

No 133 SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and are recorded at

fair value the Fair Value Derivatives Changes in fair value of derivatives that have been designated

as cash flow hedging instruments are included in the Unrealized gains on cash flow hedges as

component of other comprehensive income loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of

stocldiolders equity to the extent of the effectiveness of such hedging instruments Any ineffective

portion of the change in fair value of the designated hedging instruments is included in the

consolidated statements of operations Changes in fair value of derivatives that are not designated as

hedging instruments will be included in the consolidated statements of operations

Revenue RecognitionThe majority of the Companys revenues are generated from contracted

annual subscriptions for which the Company receives licensing fees from clients who utilize services

Depending on the service offering the services are available through variety of delivery options

including hosted web applications fullyoutsourced managed services and local software installation

Revenues are recognized on straight line basis over the term of the subscription period which is

typically one year

Subscription revenue is recognized in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission or

SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 104 Revenue Recognition since the Company provides

its application as service The Company also recognizes revenue on software sales in accordance with

the AICPA SOP No 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP No 98-9 Modification of

SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions

Revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are met

there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement

the service has been provided to the customer

the collection of the fees is reasonably assured and

the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable

License fees associated with local software installations for the RiskMetrics business are

recognized over the term of the license period typically one year The arrangement for local

installation is multiple-element arrangement that consists of software post contract support PCS
including unspecified upgrades and enhancements and other service elements Revenue is recognized

ratably over the term of the license as there is no vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

for PCS or the other service elements because they are not priced separately or sold separately to

customers and there is no discernable pattern in which PCS and other services are expected to be

performed

The ISS business provides proxy advisory and voting services corporate governance and financial

research and analysis services to institutional investors and corporations The majority of ISSs products

and services are delivered through web based platform and are typically provided through annual

subscription agreements Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription agreement

Many of ISSs subscription agreements are multiple element arrangements that provide for the delivery

of more than one ISS product or service Revenue is recognized on straight-line basis over the term

of the subscription as each of the services specified in these multiple element arrangements are

performed continuously oyer the subscription term and there is no discernable pattern in which the

services will be performed

In situations where contracts include client acceptance provisions the Company does not recognize

revenue until such time as the client has confirmed its acceptance Some of the Companys subscription

contracts include automatic renewal provisions under existing contract terms Reserves for possible

losses on subscription service if any are recognized when determined

portion of the Companys revenues are derived from non-subscription services including

implementation Compensation Advisory Services and overages related to Proxy Research and Voting

services Revenues from implementation are recognized as the services are provided and other

non-recurring revenues are recognized once the service is provided or upon delivery of the required

service

Deferred RevenueDeferred revenue primarily consists of payments received in advance of revenue

recognition from the Companys subscription services described above and is recognized as revenue

recognition criteria are met The Company generally invoices its customers in annual or quarterly

installments AccOrdingly the deferred revenue balance does not represent the total contract value of

annual or multi-year non-cancelable subscription agreements

Fair Value of Financial InstrumentsThe carrying value of the Companys cash accounts receivable

accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature of

these items As of December 31 2008 the carrying value of the Companys debt was $290619

compared to an approximate fair value of $253000 based on prevailing interest rates at December 31

2008 At December 31 2007 the carrying value of the Companys debt approximated its fair value

Concentration of RiskThe Companys customers are primarily commercial organizations

headquartered in the United States Canada Europe Asia Middle East and Africa

Accounts receivable are generally unsecured Accounts receivable are due in accordance with

payment terms included in contracts negotiated with customers Amounts due from customers are

stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts Accounts that are outstanding longer than the

contracted payment terms are considered past due The Company determines its allowance for doubtful

accounts by considering number of factors including the length of time accounts are past due the
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

customers current ability to pay its obligations to the Company and the condition of the general

economy and the industry as whole The Company writes-off accounts receivable when they are

deemed uncollectible

No customer comprised more than 10% of consolidated revenues during the years ended

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008

Cost of RevenuesCosts of revenues include costs related to production of proxy research and

voting web hosting data account management implementation and systems operations and allowances

for doubtful accounts Costs in this area consist primarily of staff compensation and related costs and

payments to third party vendors including third party web hosting and data providers

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses include costs related to product

development research technology application design technology infrastructure and analytics

development Costs in this area consist primarily of staff compensation costs and related expenses and

consultant expenses

Selling and MarketingSelling and marketing expenses consist of costs related to our sales force

product management and marketing professionals These costs include staff compensation costs and

related expenses including commissions and general marketing costs

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist of expenses for finance

legal audit and accounting human resources and information technology personnel Costs in this area

primarily consist of staff compensation and related expenses legal costs insurance costs accounting

fees and other professional services fees

Income TaxesThe Company follows SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes The Company
records income taxes under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the

years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled To the extent needed
the Company records valuation allowances against its deferred tax assets if it determines it is not more

likely than not that the assets will be utilized in the future

Effective January 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48

Accounting for Uncertainly in Income Taxesan inteipretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48
FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes recognized in an enterprises financial

statements in accordance with SFAS 109 FIN 48 prescribes comprehensive model for the financial

statement recognition measurement presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken or

expected to be taken in income tax returns Under FIN 48 the tax effects of position should be

recognized only if it is more likely-than-not to be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities

based on its technical merits as of the reporting date The tax benefits recognized in the financial

statements from such position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has greater

than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement FIN 48 also provides guidance
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

on de-recognition classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and

transition The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in

income tax expense see Note 11

Accounting for Stock-Based CompensationThe Company adopted SFAS No 123 Revised 2004
Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R as of January 2006 Under SFAS 123R stock-based

compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and the cost

is recognized as expense ratably over the awards vesting period The Company measures the fair value

of stock options on the date of grant using Black-Scholes option-pricing model Prior to the adoption

of SFAS 123R the Company recognized compensation for unvested awards under the graded vesting

method and the Company will continue to do so in all grants made prior to January 2006 For all

grants made subsequent to January 2006 the Company recognizes compensation cost under the

straight-line method

Determining the fair value of stock options required the Company to make several estimates

including the volatility of its stock price the expected life of the option and interest rates Prior to

January 25 2008 the company was not publicly traded company and had limited historical

information on the price of its common stock Because of this limitation the Company cannot solely

rely on its historical experience alone to develop assumptions for stock price volatility Accordingly the

Company also utilizes estimated stock-price volatility with reference to peer group of companies

Determining the companies to include in this peer group involves judgment and the use of different

assumptions in the Black-Scholes model would result in different amounts of stock-based compensation

expense The expected life of the options is based on internal studies of historical experience and

projected exercise behavior of employees based on the Companys future prospects The Company

utilizes risk-free interest rate which is based on the yield of U.S zero coupon securities with

maturity equal to the expected life of the options The Company has not and does not expect to pay

dividends on its common shares

Under SFAS 123R the Company is required to estimate expected forfeitures of stock-based

awards at the grant date and recognize compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest The

forfeiture assumption is ultimately adjusted to the actual forfeiture rate Therefore changes in the

forfeiture assumptions may impact the timing of the total amount of expense recognized over the

vesting period Estimated forfeitures are reassessed in subsequent periods and may change based on

new facts and circumstances

The actual income tax benefit recorded relating to the exercise of stock options was $1236 $201

and $4861 for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively and is classified as

operating cash outflow and financing cash inflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows

ContingenciesContingencies by their nature relate to uncertainties that require management to

exercise judgment both in assessing the likelihood that liability has been incurred as well as in

estimating the amount of potential loss if any The Company accrues for costs relating to litigation

claims and other contingent matters when such liabilities become probable and reasonably estimable

Such estimates may be based on advice from third parties or on managements judgment
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RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Debt issuance costsLoan fees and other costs incurred in connection with the issuance of

long-term debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the related loan using the effective interest

method Such amortization is reported as component of interest expense If debt is repaid prior to

the full amortization of the related issuance costs is recoded as interest expense in the Companys
consolidated statements of operations

Effects of Recently Issued Accounting PronouncementsIn September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS

No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring

fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements In February 2008 the FASB issued

FASB Staff Position 157-2 Effective Date of FASB Statement No 157 which provides one year

deferral of the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities such as goodwill

except those that are recognized or disclosed in the Companys financial statements at fair value at

least annually Accordingly the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 only for its financial

assets and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value on recurring basis effective January 2008

The Companys financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis consist of derivative

instruments See Note 10

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 SFAS 159 The Fair Value Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities providing companies with an option to report selected

financial assets and liabilities at fair value SFAS 159s objective is to reduce both complexity in

accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets

and liabilities differently US GAAP required different measurement attributes for different assets and

liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings SFAS 159 helps to mitigate this type of

accounting-induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value

which may reduce the need for companies to comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting

SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons

between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of asset and

liabilities SFAS 159 requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and

other users of financial statements to more easily understand the effect of the Companys choice to use

fair value on its earnings It also requires entities to display the fair value of these assets and liabilities

for which the Company has chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet The Company

adopted SFAS 159 on January 2008 but did not elect the fair value option for any qualifying financial

instruments presented in the consolidated financial statements

On December 2007 FASB issued Statement No 141R Business Combinations SFAS 141R
and Statement No 160 Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements an amendment of ARB No 51 SFAS 160 These new standards will significantly change

the financial accounting and reporting of business combination transactions and noncontrolling or

minority interests in consolidated financial statements SFAS 141R is generally required to be

adopted concurrently with Statement No 160 and is effective for business combination transactions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on

or after December 15 2008 Application of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 is required to be adopted

prospectively except for certain provisions of SFAS 160 which are required to be adopted

retrospectively Business combination transactions accounted for before adoption of SFAS 141R
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFKANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

should be accounted for in accordance with SFAS141 and that accounting previously completed under

Statement No 141 should not be modified as of or after the date of adoption of Statement No.141R

The impact of adopting SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 will be dependent on the business combinations that

the Company may pursue after its effective date

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS No 161 SFAS No 161

establishes among other things the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and for hedging

activities SFAS No 161 is effective for fiscal
years

and interim periods beginning after November 15

2008 The Company is currently assessing the impact that SFAS No 161 will have on its consolidated

financial statements

In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB staff position FSP FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful

Life of Intangible Assets FSP FAS 142-3 FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors an entity should

consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of

recognized intangible assets under FASB Statement No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are acquired individually or with

group of other assets in business combinations and asset acquisitions FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15 2008 and

as such the Company will adopt FSP FAS 142-3 on January 2009 Early adoption is prohibited The

Company is currently evaluating the impact if any that FSP FAS 142-3 will have on its consolidated

financial statements

ACQUISITIONS

ISS Acquisition

On January 11 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of ISS for

approximately $542.8 million The purpose of the acquisition was to broaden the types of services the

Company could offer its clients The acquisition has been accounted for as purchase and the

operating results of ISS have been included in the financial statements since the date of acquisition

The aggregate consideration paid for the acquisition is as follows

Cash paid $482718

Fair value of 2774351 shares of common stock issued 42426

Fair value of stock options exchanged 1396000 shares underlying the

stock options 16331

Transaction costs 1296

Total purchase consideration $542771
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

The Company valued the shares of common stock issued in exchange for stock options held by

employees and those issued to ISS shareholders at $15.29 per share see Note 13

the fair value of stock options issued in connection with the acquisition was estimated using the

Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the following weighted-average assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 4.7%

Expected term in years 3.0

Expected stock price volatility 31%

Expected dividend yield None

The significant assumptions used in the valuation included factors affecting the duration growth

rates and amounts of future cash flows for each income stream specifically the future economic

outlook for the industry risks involved in the business and the input of competition and technological

changes The following table summarizes the amounts allocated to the acquired assets and assumed

liabilities based upon managements estimates

Cash and cash equivalents and other current assets 47770

Property and equipment 4864

Non-current assets 13300

Intangible assets 172339

Goodwill 418563

Total assets acquired 656836

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 21360
Deferred revenue 43510
Other non-current liabilities 1533
Deferred tax liability 47662

Net assets acquired $542771

Goodwill $418563

Identifiable intangible assets 172339

Deferred tax liability 47662
Net liabilities assumed 469

Total purchase consideration $542771

The goodwill and liabilities assumed have been adjusted during the year ended December 31 2008

to reflect certain liabilities for uncertain tax positions of ISS see Note 11

In accordance with SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes the Company has provided for

deferred taxes of $47662 representing the difference between the estimated book and tax basis of the

net assets acquired The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed was allocated to goodwill The Company did not recognize deferred

tax asset relating to the future tax deduction that will arise when the ISS employee rollover options are

exercised As such exercises occur the Company recognizes tax deduction and such benefit is

recorded as reduction of goodwill
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

The purchase price for ISS was determined based on an auction whereby several companies

arrived at market price for the purchase of ISS The Company believes the purchase price reflects the

financial prospects of the existing business as well as the significant opportunities for revenue growth

cost savings and other synergies including the ability to cross-sell to one anothers clients and offer

more comprehensive and diverse services The value reflected in these elements of the purchase price

does not meet the definition of an intangible asset under SFAS 141 and is therefore reflected as

goodwill The amounts allocated to intangible assets and acquired technology was attributed to the

following categories and estimated useful lives

Acquired technology 25039 years

Customer relationships 117900 911 years

Trade names 29400 10 yearsindefinite

Total intangibles $172339

Center for Financial Research and Analysis CFRA Acquisition

On August 2007 the Company acquired all of the outstanding membership interests of CFRA

for approximately $63.0 million CFRA is provider
of forensic accounting research legal and

regulatory risk assessment due diligence and educational services The purpose of this acquisition was

to broaden the quantitative and qualitative analysis services that the ISS business could offer its clients

The acquisition has been accounted for as purchase and the operating results of CFRA have been

included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of its acquisition

The aggregate consideration paid for the acquisition is as follows

Cash paid includes cash acquired of $1213 $46275

Fair value of 973151 shares of common stock issued 16057

Transaction costs 661

Total purchase consideration $62993

The Company valued the shares of common stock issued in exchange for equity held and issued to

CFRA shareholders at $16.50 per share see Note 13
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

The following table summarizes the amounts allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities

assumed based upon managements estimates

Cash and other current assets 3104

Property and equipment 511

Non-current assets 49

Intangible assets 19710

Goodwill 46736

Total assets acquired 70110

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3326
Deferred revenue 3791

Net assets acquired $62993

Goodwill 46736

Identifiable intangible assets 19710

Net liabilities assumed 3453

Total purchase consideration $62993

The Company believes the purchase price reflects the prospects of the existing business The

amounts and useful lives allocated to intangible assets were as follows

Customer relationships $10250 years

Covenant not to compete 250 year

Trade name 100 year

Acquired technology 240 years

Proprietary process 8870 years

Total intangibles $19710

Proprietary process represents the research technique process
utilized by CFRA to derive

independent value not generally known and is considered an asset apart from goodwill The excess of

the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was

allocated to goodwill which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes

The purchase consideration goodwill and liabilities assumed have been adjusted during the year

ended December 31 2008 to reflect certain sales tax liabilities of CFRA see Note 12

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company recognized an impairment charge for

goodwill and an intangible asset related to ISS and CFRA see Note

Applied4 Acquisition

On October 2008 the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Applied4

Technology Ltd Applied for approximately $1.8 million in cash Applied4 is specialist provider

of technology solutions in the field of investment performance measurement The purpose of this
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ACQUISITIONS Continued

acquisition was to broaden the performance attribution analytical tools the Company can offer to its

clients The acquisition
has been accounted for as purchase and the operating results of Applied4

have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of its acquisition

Additional one time purchase price payment ranging from approximately $1.4 million to

$1.7 million may be paid depending on and if certain earnings targets are achieved from 2009 through

2011 As of December 31 2008 such earnings targets have not been achieved and no amount has been

accrued for additional purchase price consideration

The aggregate consideration paid for the acquisition is as follows

Cash paid $1767

Transaction costs 93

Total purchase consideration $1860

The following table summarizes the amounts allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities

assumed based upon managements estimates

Cash and other current assets 56

Property and equipment 22

Intangible asset 1844

Total assets acquired 1922

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 30
Deferred revenue 32

Net assets acquired $1860

Identifiable intangible asset 1844

Net liabilities assumed 16

Total purchase consideration $1860

fair value of $1844 was allocated to acquired technology in connection with the acquisition and

such intangible asset is estimated to have year useful life

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

In January 2008 the Company completed an initial public offering of 16100000 shares of common

stock which included 4035816 shares sold by selling stockholders and 2100000 shares to cover

over-allotments which was exercised in full in January 2008 The Company did not receive any

proceeds from the sale of the shares by the selling stockholders Net proceeds from the offering

including the exercise of the underwriters allotment were $193.9 million after deducting underwriting

discounts and commissions and approximately $3.5 million of offering expenses of which $1.9 million

and $1.6 million were paid during the years
ended December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively The

Company utilized portion of the proceeds to prepay the entire outstanding indebtedness under the

Companys second loan lien credit facility See Note
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ACCOUNTS RECEiVABLE

Unbilled accounts receivable represents revenue that has been earned based on services

performed however billing has yet to commence under contractual terms of the arrangement

Accounts receivable as of December 31 2007 and 2008 consisted of the following

2007 2008

Billed $35916 $42150

Unbilled 1499 752

Total 37415 42902

Less allowance for doubtful accounts 405 583

Accounts receivable net $37010 $42319

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as of December 31 2007 and 2008 consist of the following

Estimated Useful Life 2007 2008

Cost

Hardware years $16788 20867

Internal use software 34 years 9860 12790

Telecommunications equipment years
587 837

Furniture and fixtures years 2438 2384

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the term of the

lease or life of the asset 6024 6248

35697 43126

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 19472 27726

Property and equipmentnet 16225 $15400

Depreciation expense recorded for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 was $3646

$6958 and $7935 respectively Amortization expense of leasehold improvements for the years ended

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 was $435 $461 and $844 respectively

In 2007 we abandoned software project and wrote off certain assets in our London office which

resulted in total loss on disposal of approximately $0.7 million
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets as of December 31 2007 and 2008 consist of the following

Customer relationships

Acquired technology

Covenant not to compete

Proprietary process

Trade names

Total

In 2007 the Company acquired covenant not to compete for the development of products and

services which will support broad range of corporate governance services for $1250 of which $250

and $1000 was paid during the years ended December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively The covenant

not to compete is being amortized over its estimated useful life of three years

In 2008 the Company determined that the useful life of an ISS product tradename should be

changed from indefinite life to finite life tradename with an estimated useful life of years The

change resulted due to the Company beginning an integration plan in the fourth quarter of 2008 to

transition the product tradename into the RiskMetrics tradename or new tradename which reduced

its expected useful life In accordance with SFAS 142 the Company recorded $5.9 million impairment

charge for the product tradename which represented the difference between the fair value of the

product tradename and related book value at the date of change Such charge has been included in the

impairment of goodwill and intangible asset caption within operating expenses on the accompanying

statement of operations for the
year

ended December 31 2008 As of December 31 2008 the $800 fair

value of the product tradename is included in finite live tradenames and will be amortized over its

remaining useful life

2007

Customer relationships

Acquired technology

Covenant not to compete

Proprietary process

Trade names

Trade names

Total

Useful Lives Gross Amortization Net

711 years $128150 $11286 $116864

years 25279 4878 20401

13 years 1500 208 1292

years 8870 528 8342

110 years 22800 2245 20555

Indefinite 6700 6700

$193299 $19145 $174154

2008

Useful Lives Gross Amortization Net

711 years $128150 $23751 $104399

years 27123 10013 17110

13 years 1500 771 729

years 8870 1795 7075

110 years 23600 4573 19027

$189243 $40903 $148340
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS Continued

Annual amortization expense which is based on the values of intangibles and their useful lives for

the next five years is expected to be as follows

Year ending December 31

2009 $21944

2010 21839

2011 21527

2012 16649

2013 16379

Goodwill

The Company completed the first step of its annual goodwill evaluation as of October 2008

which indicated the carrying value of the ISS reporting unit exceeded its fair value The fair value of

the ISS reporting unit was determined using combination of present value techniques including

discounted cash flow as well as fair values of comparable businesses The decrease in fair value of the

ISS reporting unit was primarily result of the negative equity market conditions which caused

material decline in industry market multiples in the second half of 2008 The Company re-evaluated the

fair value of the ISS reporting unit as of December 31 2008 and noted further decline in the fair

value of the ISS reporting unit due to further declines in comparable market value multiples

Accordingly the Company completed the second step of the goodwill evaluation in order to determine

the implied fair value of ISS goodwill by performing purchase price allocation as if ISS had been

acquired on December 31 2008 Based on the results of the fair value analysis the carrying amount of

ISS goodwill exceeded the implied value of goodwill and the difference of $154.2 million was recorded

as goodwill impairment charge during the year ended December 31 2008

Goodwill changed during the
year

ended December 31 2008 as follows

Balance at January 2008 460951

Impairment of goodwill 154169

Tax benefit on exercise of stock options granted to ISS employees on

acquisition Note 631
Accrual of CFRA sales tax liability Note 12 638

Adjustment to acquired ISS deferred taxes and income taxes 1824

Balance as of December 31 2008 308613
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ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses as of December 31 2007 and 2008 consist of the following

2007 2008

Accrued compensation and related tax $28490 $29492

Accrued data expense 1133 1907

Accrued travel and entertainment 227 393

Accrued professional fees 1813 1392

Current portion of deferred rent 202 273

CFRA sales tax liability Note 12 1836

Other accrued expenses 2324 4881

$34189 $40174

DEBT

In conjunction with the purchase of ISS on January 11 2007 subsidiary of the Company
obtained $450 million of debt of which $425 million was borrowed to complete the acquisition The

debt is comprised of two term loan facilities and revolving credit facility As of December 31 2008

$290.6 million of debt remains outstanding under the first lien loan and no indebtedness remain

outstanding under the second lien term loan or revolving credit facility The maturity date of the first

lien term loan is December 2013

The first lien credit facilities consists of $25 million revolving credit facility and $300 million of

first lien term loan facility and accumulates interest at the option of the Company at the LIBOR

rate plus margin of 1.75% to 2.25% depending on the Companys consolidated leverage ratio or

the higher of the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5% and ii Bank of Americas prime

rate plus margin of 0.75% or 1.25% depending on the consolidated leverage ratio Amounts repaid

under the first lien term loan facility may not be re-borrowed Amounts repaid under the revolving

credit facility may be re-borrowed

The second lien term loan facility was for $125 million and accumulated interest based on at the

option of the Company at the LIBOR rate plus margin of 5.50% or the higher of the

Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 5.0% and ii Bank of Americas prime rate plus margin of

450% In January 2008 the Company utilized portion of proceeds from the initial public offering to

prepay the entire outstanding indebtedness under the second lien loan in the amount of $125.0 million

In addition the Company paid 1% prepayment penalty fee or $1.25 million upon repayment as set

forth in the credit agreement which has been included in other expenses for the
year

ended

December 31 2008 in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations In conjunction with the

repayment of the second lien term loan during the year ended December 31 2008 the Company
reduced the notional amount of the interest rate swap by $19.3 million which resulted in other expense

of $1.4 million in 2008 Note 10

The effective interest rate on the Companys debt was 8.7% and 7.4% for the year ended

December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively
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DEBT Continued

In addition to quarterly interest payments due on the credit facility the Company is required to

repay the principal amounts of the first lien credit facility in quarterly installments of $741 of which

the next payment is due on June 30 2009 Furthermore starting January 2008 the Company is

required to make mandatory payment equal to each years excess cash flow depending on leverage

ratios as defined in the first lien term loan facility within five days of delivery of audited financial

statements During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company made an excess cash flow

principal payment of $6381 for its first lien term loan Based on the Companys consolidated leverage

ratio as of December 31 2008 no future excess cash flow payments would be required as long as that

ratio is maintained The Company is required to repay the aggregate principal remaining on the first

lien term loan facility on the maturity date The Company may voluntarily prepay the first lien credit

facilities in whole or in
part

without penalty

Scheduled repayments of balances outstanding as of December 31 2008 are as follows

2009 2224

2010 2966

2011 2966

2012 2966

2013 279497

$290619

The Company has guaranteed the payment and performance of the credit facilities The Company

has pledged all of its assets as collateral against the debt The restrictive covenants set forth in the first

and second lien credit facilities restrict the Company from among other things permitting liens on

their assets incurring additional indebtedness as defined per the debt agreement making investments

exceeding specific dollar amounts making dispositions making restricted payments making

fundamental changes to the business changes in nature of business restricting ability to pay dividends

entering into transactions with affiliates not in the ordinary course of business use of proceeds to

purchase margin stock making amendments to the organization documents which are materially

adverse to the lenders making changes in accounting polices except as required by generally accepted

accounting principles prepayments of indebtedness subject to amounts defined in the credit facilities

making amendments to second lien documents and indebtedness and becoming legally obligated to

make capital expenditures except
in the ordinary course of business

The indebtedness was obtained by wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company the Borrower
The Company as parent holding company has no independent assets or operations and any other

subsidiaries other than the Borrower and its subsidiaries are minor The Company has guaranteed the

indebtedness and such guarantee is full and unconditional In addition there are no restrictions on the

ability of the Company to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan

The credit facilities include certain covenants related to the delivery of financial results

maintenance of properties
and insurance consolidated leverage ratio limitations and limitations of

capital expenditures Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the credit facilities the lenders

may require that all amounts outstanding be repaid immediately and terminate the Companys ability to
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DEBT Continued

make further borrowings and foreclose on the collateral Events relating to non-payment of amounts

due under the credit facilities breach of covenants misrepresentation insolvency of the Company

certain ERISA events inability to pay the debts change of control invalidity of loan documents

certain judgments against any parties cross-default and failure of collateral agreements to be in effect

are considered to be events of default after the passage of time or notice or both As of December 31

2008 we were in compliance with our credit agreements and we are not aware of any future events or

transactions that will impact such compliance

The Company incurred debt issuance costs of $10074 which have been recorded on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet Such amount is being amortized over the life of the

remaining debt and is reflected as component of interest expense on the accompanying statement of

operations In conjunction with the prepayment of the second lien loan during the year ended

December 31 2008 the Company wrote-off debt issuance costs of $2377 Amortization expense

including write-offs of debt issuance costs for the
years

ended December 31 2007 and 2008 was $1397

and $3450 respectively and is included in interest expense on the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations

10 FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATiVE INSTRUMENTS

Effective January 2008 the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 157 that apply to

financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value within the financial statements which

provides framework for measuring fair value under US GAAP As defined in SFAS No 157 fair

value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date The Company utilizes market data

or assumptions that the Company believes market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation

technique These inputs can be readily observable quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities level significant other observable inputs level or significant unobservable inputs

level The Company primarily uses the income approach which uses valuation techniques to convert

future amounts to single present
amount As of December 31 2008 the Company had interest rate

swap agreements which are valued using level inputs as shown in the following table

Fair value at December 31 2008 using

Significant

Quoted prices in other Significant

active markets for observable unobservable

identical assets inputs inputs

Total Level Level Level

Interest rate swap liability $22311 $22311

Total $22311 $22311

In February 2007 the Company entered into two interest-rate swap agreements to reduce interest

rate risks and to manage interest expense By entering into these agreements the Company changed

the fixed/variable interest-rate mix of its debt portfolio The agreements effectively convert floating-rate
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10 FAIR VALUE OF DER1VATWE INSTRUMENTS Continued

debt into fixed-rate debt over the maturity life of the debt This reduces the Companys risk of

incurring higher interest costs in periods of rising interest rates and increases the Companys risk of

paying higher interest costs in periods of decreasing interest rates The interest rate swap agreements

adjusted the Companys weighted average effective interest rate which resulted in gain loss being

recorded in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The Companys interest-rate swap agreements hedge substantial portion of the interest rate risk

exposure under the Companys debt see Note As of December 31 2007 and 2008 the swap

agreements had notional amount of $317063 and $279375 respectively As of December 31 2007

and 2008 the swap agreements had fair value liability of $10990 and $22311 respectively which is

included in other long-term liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

In conjunction with the prepayment of the second lien term loan during the year ended

December 31 2008 Note the Company reduced the notional amount of the interest rate swap by

$19300 in order to hedge the remaining debt outstanding The reduction of the notional amount cost

$1364 and has been included in other expenses on the accompanying statement of operations for the

year ended December 31 2008

The notional amount of the swap amortizes over the life of the debt and results in gains and losses

being recognized in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations The

gain loss from the amortization and reduction of the swap agreement is summarized in the following

table

Year Ended

December 31

2007 2008

Gain loss from swap agreement $595 $5881

These hedges of interest rate risk relating to the Companys debt have been designated as effective

cash flow hedges at inception and on an ongoing quarterly basis The Company estimates the

effectiveness of the interest rate swap agreement utilizing the hypothetical derivative method Under

this method the fair value of the actual interest rate swap agreement is compared to the fair value of

hypothetical swap agreement To the extent that the agreement is not considered to be highly effective

in offsetting the change in the value of the interest payments being hedged the fair value relating to

the ineffective portion of such agreement and any subsequent changes in such fair value will be

immediately recognized in earnings To the extent that the agreement is considered highly effective but

not completely effective in offsetting the change in the value of the interest payments being hedged

any changes in fair value relating to the ineffective portion of such agreement will be immediately

recognized in earnings Effective gains and losses have been included in the unrealized gain on cash

flow hedges as component of other comprehensive income loss net of tax
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11 INCOME TAXES

Income taxes

The components of income loss before provision for income taxes are as follows

Domestic

Foreign

Total

The components of the tax benefit provision for the years

2008 are as follows

Federal

Current

Deferred

State

2006 2007 2008

$20529 $1423 $139341
3692 5535 13122

$24221 4112 $126219

ended December 31 2006 2007 and

2006 2007 2008

$4976 38 164

342 724 2322

5318 686 2486

1857

128

1985

959

62
897

$8200

53

44

2735

347

2388

$1711

1682

1679

6560

25
6535

$10700

Current

Deferred

Foreign

Current

Deferred

Total
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11 INCOME TAXES Continued

Deferred tax assets liabilities as of December 31 2007 and 2008 consist of the following

2007 2008

Current

Net operating loss carryforwards 1210

Foreign tax credits net of tax on unremitted earnings
915

RD credits 439

Accounts receivable 140 305

Domestic production activity deduction and other liabilities 36 19

Prepaid expenses and accruals 36 206

Net current deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 140 2682

Valuation allowance 590

Net current deferred tax assets 140 2092

Long-term

Intangibles 49307 42035

Capitalized development costs 2389 2263
Deferred revenue 123 405
RD credits 450

Foreign tax credits 2425

Net operating
loss carry forwards 12494

Capital loss 73 66

Deferred rent 462 437

Property and equipment
215 571

Stock based compensation 2362 3702

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge 4585 8522

Net long-term deferred tax liabilities before valuation

allowance 28507 31405

Valuation allowance 119

Net long-term deferred tax liabilities 28626 31405

Net deferred tax liabilities $28486 29313
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11 INCOME TAXES Continued

The expected tax provision calculated at the statutory federal rate differs from the actual benefit

provision for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 as result of the following

2006 2007 2008

Tax provision at U.S Federal statutory tax rate $8477 $1439 $44176
State and local income tax expense benefit net of U.S federal taxes 1290 1088
Meals and entertainment 71 191 234

Nontaxable interest and dividends 733 148
Non-deductible stock option expense under SFAS 123R 832 953 469

APB23 607

Research and development credit 685 465 561
State and local credits 370
U.K unrealized translation gain 237 12 137
Rate differential on foreign earnings 190 382 596
Section 199 deduction 398 39 159
Goodwill impairment 53960
Other 143 90 29
Net tax provision $8200 $1711 10700

As of December 31 2008 the Company had fully utilized all U.S federalnet operating losses

available but still has state net operating loss carryforwards available of approximately $16585 which

expire in 2026 In addition the Company has foreign tax credits and research and development credits

of approximately $1522 and $439 which expire in 2018 and 2028 respectively As of December 31
2008 foreign net operating loss carryforwards approximated $791 Valuation allowances were recorded

against all but approximately $200 of these NOEs

FIN 48

As of December 31 2008 the Companys unrecognized tax benefits totaled $2017 all of which

would favorably impact the Companys effective tax rate if recognized Interest and penalties accrued

during the
years

ended December 31 2007 and 2008 were $74 and $198 respectively

The Companys tax returns for 2005-2007 remain open to examination by the internal Revenue

Service in their entirety They also remain open with respect to international and state taxing

jurisdictions Currently the Company has been selected for audit by the Internal Revenue Service for

2006 New York City for 2004-2006 Illinois for 2005-2006 and Canada Revenue Agency for 2005-2006

As of December 31 2007 and 2008 $259 and $457 was accrued for the payment of interest and

penalties respectively
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11 INCOME TAXES Continued

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized gross
tax benefits is as

follows

Balance at January 2008 $1189

Additions based on tax positions
related to the current year 174

Additions for tax positions of prior years
843

Reductions for tax positions of prior years
189

Balance as of December 31 2008 $2017

12 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is committed to unrelated parties for the rental of office space under operating

leases ISS leases office space and equipment under various operating lease agreements Certain of the

non-cancellable leases contain requirement for the Company to pay its share of any increases in

operating expenses and real estate taxes The lease agreements for RMGs and ISS primary office

space terminate in August 2012 and July 2012 respectively

As of December 31 2008 minimum future rental payments under non-cancellable operating
leases

are as follows

2009
6562

2010
6295

2011
5726

2012
4126

2013
1544

Thereafter
202

Total minimum lease payments
$24455

Rent expense on leases was $1805 $6689 and $8488 for the years
ended December 31 2006

2007 and 2008 respectively The Company had collateralized its obligations to lessor by pledging

$1076 and $1599 in cash deposits
classified as other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets as of December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company incurred $465 of lease exit costs as

result of relocating the Companys London operations
and closing its Washington DC office Such

expenses have been included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statement of

operations

As result of free rent periods lease inducements and escalation clauses of operating leases

deferred rent balances of $1127 and $1488 are included in other long term liabilities and $202 and

$273 of current liabilities are included in accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance

sheet at December 31 2007 and 2008 respectively
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12 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Continued

Data AgreementsThe Company has entered into agreements with other vendors to supply the

Company with data which have terms that extend through 2011 The
aggregate minimum payments

with
respect to these data agreements as of December 31 2008 are as follows

2009 $7682
2010 1740
2011 353

Total $9775

ContingenciesFrom time to time the Company is involved in various litigation matters involving

ordinary and routine claims incidental to its business Management currently believes that the outcome
of these proceedings either individually or in the aggregate will not have material adverse effect on
the Companys business results of operations or financial condition

During 2008 the Company completed an internal study which determined certain sales tax

liabilities are payable in connection with both the pre-acquisition and post-acquisition operational

activity of CFRA As result the Company entered into
voluntary agreement with the local taxing

authority and agreed to pay maximum and probable cost of $1836 of which $1438 relates to

pre-acquisition activity The Company has recovered $800 pursuant to an escrow agreement with the

former equity owners of CFRA comprised of $223 in cash and $577 in shares of the Companys
common stock and has recorded the recovery as reduction to the CFRA purchase price See
Note Accordingly $398 of expense has been recorded in general and administrative expenses within

the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2008 and

$638 has been recorded as an adjustment to CFRA goodwill

13 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

As of December 31 2008 the authorized capital stock of the Company consisted of 200000000
shares of common stock with stated par value of $.01 per share Effective in 2000 the Company
began repurchasing shares of its common stock from employees and held these repurchased shares as

treasury stock During the years ended December 31 2006 and 2007 1432610 and 208192 common
shares were repurchased at total cost of $9018 and $3257 which is included in stockholders equity
on the consolidated balance sheets In 2007 the Company retired 10329405 shares held as treasury
stock

In January 2007 the Company acquired ISS As part of the consideration paid to ISS 2774351
shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of approximately $42.4 million

were issued As well former ISS employee options held were exchanged for 1396000 options of the

Company with an estimated market value of approximately $16.3 million

In August 2007 the Company acquired CFRA As part of the consideration paid in connection
with the acquisition of CFRA the Company issued 1008113 shares of common stock with an
estimated fair value of $16.6 million

In January 2008 the Company completed an initial public offering See Note
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14 STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has incentive plans
that provide for the issuance of equity awards including stock

options and non-vested shares of our common stock non-vested stock

Stock Options

During 2000 the Companys Board of Directors adopted Stock Option Plan the 2000 Plan

that provided for the grant of options to employees consultants and non-employee directors to

purchase common stock which vest over one to four year period and have ten-year contractual

term The maximum number of shares of the Companys common stock available for issuance under

the 2000 Plan was 12500000 and no more than 4000000 were allowed to be issued in any calendar

year The Company retired the 2000 Plan and adopted new option plan the 2004 Plan As of

December 31 2008 5581159 options
issued under the 2000 Plan remain outstanding

The 2004 Plan provides for the grant of options to employees consultants and non-employee

directors to purchase common stock which vest over three to four year period and have ten-year

contractual term To satisfy options granted under the Plan the Company may make common stock

available from authorized but unissued shares or shares held in treasury by the Company The

maximum number of shares of the Companys common stock available for issuance under the 2004

Plan is 7500000 Subsequent to the acquisition of ISS the Company retired the 2004 plan and adopted

new option plan the 2007 plan As of December 31 2008 4391343 options issued under the

2004 Plan remain outstanding

In January 2007 the Companys Board of Directors adopted stock option plan covering the

employees from ISS the ISS Plan which resulted in the rollover of 1396000 fully-vested options

from ISS Under the terms of the ISS Plan no additional options are to be issued As of December 31

2008 161442 options issued under the ISS Plan remain outstanding

In January 2007 the Companys Board of Directors adopted Stock Option Plan the 2007 Plan

that provides for the grant of options
and non-vested stock to employees consultants and

non-employee directors to purchase common stock which generally vest over four year period and

have ten-year contractual term The maximum number of shares of the Companys common stock

available for issuance under the 2007 Plan is 6500000 As of December 31 2008 2685643 options

issued and 235039 shares of non-vested stock granted under the 2007 Plan remain outstanding

As of December 31 2008 approximately 3322805 shares remain available for grant for stock

options and non-vested stock
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14 STOCK BASED COMPENSATION Continued

Summarized infotmation relative to the Companys stock option plans is as follows

Weighted-

Average
Number of Exercise

Shares Price

OutstandingDecember 31 2007 13361282 5.79

Granted 1701500 17.54

Exercised 1611358 3.67

Forfeited 631837 14.27

OutstandingDecember 31 2008 12819587 7.20

Immediately prior to the consummation of the initial public offering the Company
granted 1563500 stock options to its employees at an exercise price equal to the initial

public offering price of $17.50 per share including an aggregate of 1031500 options

related to 2007 compensation for certain employees and an aggregate of 532000 options

to all full time employees representing one-time grant of 500 options to each of our

employees In addition the Company granted 138000 options subsequent to the initial

public offering at various times during 2008
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14 STOCK BASED COMPENSATION Continued

The Companys stock options outstanding at December 31 2008 were as follows

Outstanding Options Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average

Remaining
Contractual Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Exercise Number of Life Exercise Number of Exercise

Prices Options In Years Price Options Price

1.20 911643 2.08 $1.20 911643 $1.20

1.49 83499 2.94 1.49 83499 1.49

2.00 2971631 3.76 2.00 2971629 2.00

2.33 4505 4.16 2.33 4505 2.33

2.40 1697885 5.01 2.40 1697885 2.40

3.42 20365 4.83 3.42 20365 3.42

3.75 234525 5.68 3.75 234525 3.75

4.46 15141 5.76 4.46 15141 4.46

480 1208520 6.03 4.80 1089146 4.80

5.05 17837 6.35 5.05 17837 5.05

5.94 20095 7.12 5.94 20095 5.94

6.00 241262 6.60 6.00 190326 6.00

7.20 1649272 7.07 7.20 1162734 7.20

15.29 2134014 8.19 15.29 803290 15.29

16.50 100393 8.29 16.50 23083 16.50

17.50 1424000 9.05 17.50 225501 17.50

18.01 75000 9.76 18.01 18.01

19.95 10000 9.34 19.95 19.95

12819587 5.94 7.20 9471204 4.63

Of the unvested options as of December 31 2008 2756057 are expected to vest in the future

The options granted in conjunction with the ISS acquisition replaced fully vested options held from

former ISS employees The fair value related to these 1396000 fully vested options is included within

purchase price consideration see Note and therefore no additional compensation expense was or

will be recorded prospectively by the Company

The fair value of stock options at date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model utilizing the following weighted-average assumptions

Year Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

Risk-free interest rate
4.7% 4.7% 2.6%

Expected term in years
5.0 4.5 4.5

Expected stock price volatility
31% 29% 35%

Expected dividend yield
None None None
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14 STOCK BASED COMPENSATION Continued

The weighted-average fair value per share for options granted during the
years ended December 31

2006 2007 and 2008 was $4.72 $5.02 and $5.81 respectively

During the year ended December 31 2007 the Company granted the following stock options with

exercise prices as follows

Number of Fair Value

Stock Options of Common Exercise Intrinsic

Grant Dates Granted Stock Price Value

January 11 2007 1396000 15.29 15.29

May 17 2007 1733250 15.29 15.29

July 26 2007 20000 16.50 16.50

August 2007 164243 16.50 16.50

The fair value was determined based on third party transaction involving the acquisition of ISS

and corporate restructuring which resulted in total enterprise value and was based upon an

agreed-upon exchange ratio which was implicitly equivalent to $15.29 per share The board of

directors determined that the exercise price for options issued at the time of the ISS acquisition

should be at this per share value

The fair value was determined based on contemporaneous internal valuation prepared by

management with the appropriate levels of competency and reviewed by the board of directors

The fair value was determined based on third party transaction involving the acquisition of

CFRA which resulted in total enterprise value and was based upon an agreed-upon exchange
ratio which was implicitly equivalent to $16.50 per share The board of directors determined that

the exercise price for options issued at the time of the CFRA
acquisition should be at this per

share value

The derived fair value of the common shares underlying the options was determined based on an

internal valuation prepared by management with the appropriate level of competency and reviews

by the Board of Directors using generally accepted valuation methodologies Management applies

the guideline companys approach which incorporates certain assumptions including multiples of

EBITDA and the market performance of comparable listed companies as well as the financial

results and growth trends of the Company to derive the total equity value of the Company The

Company has granted options to employees at the estimated fair value without ascribing any
discount
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14 STOCK BASED COMPENSATiON Continued

Non-vested Stock

Stock-based compensation for non-vested stock is measured at the grant date based on the fair

value of the Companys common stock and the cost is recognized ratably over the vesting period The

following table summarizes non-vested stock activity

Unvested shares at January 2007

Granted

Vested

Forfeited _______

Unvested Shares at December 31 2007

Granted

Vested

Forfeited ________

Unvested Shares at December 31 2008

As of December 31 2008 there was approximately $14423 of unrecognized compensation costs

related to stock options and non-vested share-based compensation awards granted under the stock

option plans That cost is expected to be recognized over period of four years

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing net income attributable to common

shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding Diluted earnings per

common share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by diluted

weighted average number of common shares outstanding Diluted earnings per common share reflects

the potential dilution that would occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were

exercised or converted into common stock unless they are anti dilutive

In computing earnings per share for the years
ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 the

difference between basic and diluted number of shares outstanding is as follows

Basic number of weighted-average shares outstanding

Effect of dilutive securitiesEmployee stock options
and

non-vested stock

Diluted number of weighted-average shares outstanding
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Year Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

42655069 46380175 59970438

5308597 7984571

47963666 54364746 59970438

RISKMETRICS GROUP INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS COntinued

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2006 2007 AND 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

347821 16.50

1212

346609

54983

147766

18787

235039

16.50

16.50

22.56

16.50

16.50

$18.01
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15 EARNINGS PER SHARE Continued

Options and non-vested stock of 1714586 2184693 and 9281199 common shares during the

years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively were anti-dilutive and were therefore

excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share

16 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2008 the Company entered into contract for the sale of Market Risk products to Duff

Capital Advisors which expires on March 31 2009 Philip Duff director of the Company is the

founder CEO and General Partner of Duff Capital Advisors The Company recognized revenue of

$674 for the Duff Capital Advisors contract for the year ended December 31 2008

17 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors 401k plan whereby the participants may elect to defer eligible

compensation up to governmental limitations and the Company may make contributions to the plan

Expense related to the 401k plan was approximately $680 $1687 and $3182 for the years ended

December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 respectively

18 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Prior to the acquisition of ISS on January 11 2007 RMG operated within one segment
RiskMetrics with various product offerings made available to our customers

As of December 31 2007 and 2008 the Company has two reportable segments the RiskMetrics

business and the ISS business These designations have been made as the discrete operating results of

these segments are reviewed by the Companys chief operating decision maker to assess performance

and make operating and asset allocation decisions All intersegment transactions have been eliminated

in the consolidated financial statements The Company allocates corporate and other shared services to

each segment based on the employees geographic location and headcount Goodwill and intangible

assets acquired in connection with the ISS and CFRA acquisition are included in the ISS segment
assets

The RiskMetrics business is provider of multi-asset position-based risk and wealth management
products and services The business provides clients with comprehensive interactive products and

services that allow them to measure and quantify portfolio risk across security types geographies and

markets The products and services enable the clients to make more informed investment decisions

monitor and comply with exposure and risk limits provide greater transparency to both internal

audiences and external constituencies and meet regulatory and reporting requirements

The ISS business is provider of corporate governance services to institutional shareholders and

corporations around the world The business facilitates the voting of proxies by institutional investors

and provides in-depth research and analysis to help inform their voting decisions and assess issuer

specific risk It offers both global security coverage and fully integrated products and services from

policy creation to comprehensive research vote recommendations reliable vote execution post-vote

disclosure and reporting and analytical tools
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Results of operations by segment for the years
ended December 31 2007 and 2008 is as follows

RiskMetrics ISS

Business Business Total

Year ended December 31 2007

Revenues $121126 $119175 $240301

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 4439 2980 7419

Amortization of intangible assets 19145 19145

Other operating expenses 85472 88795 174267

Income from operations
31215 8255 39470

Interest dividend and investment income 1564

Interest expense
36922

Income before income taxes 4112

Provision for income taxes 1711

Net income 2401

Asset information at December 31 2007

Segment assets 52158 $691025 $743183

Goodwill $460951 $460951

RiskMetrics ISS

Business Business Total

Year ended December 31 2008

Revenues $154626 141767 296393

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 4624 4155 8779

Amortization of intangible assets 78 21680 21758

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible asset 160069 160069

Other operating expenses 101172 104554 205726

Income loss from operations
48752 148691 99939

Interest dividend and investment income 2567

Interest expense
26234

Other expense
2613

Loss before income taxes 126219

Provision for income taxes 10700

Net loss $136919

Asset information at December 31 2008

Segment assets $187392 $517621 705013

Goodwill $308613 308613
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The following table summarizes revenue for the years ended December 31 2006 2007 and 2008 on

percentage basis by geographic region based on the country in which the customer is located

2006 2007 2008

Americas 52.0% 62.0% 61.1%

EMEA Europe Middle East and Africa 39.0% 31.4% 33.1%

Asia 9i3% 66%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

At December 31 2008 the Companys total assets located outside of the United States of America

are $49346 and receivables from customers outside of the United States of America are $11755 All

other financial instruments or assets located in foreign countries or denominated in foreign currencies

were insignificant at December 31 2008
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19 UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

Selected unaudited quarterly
financial data of the Company for the

years
ended December 31

2007 and 2008 appears below

2007

First Second Third Fourth

Quarterb Quarter Quarterc Quarter

Revenues 52365 58150 62159 67627

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 16593 19368 20705 20651

Research and development 6879 7920 7678 8665

Selling and marketing 8093 8362 8874 10091

General and administrative 6519 6437 7873 8825

Depreciation and amortization of property

and equipment 1584 1739 1869 2227

Amortization of intangible assets 4189 4434 5104 5418

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 732

Total operating costs and expenses 43857 48262 52103 56609

Income from operations 8508 9888 10056 11018

Interest dividend and investment income

expense net 7904 8935 9359 9160

Income before provision for income taxes 604 953 697 1858

Provision for income taxes 283 447 326 655

Net income 321 506 371 1203

Net income per share

Basica 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03

Diluted 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 45016364 45600151 47239323 47626734

Diluted 53377084 53878411 54957187 55257079

May not recalculate due to rounding

The Company acquired ISS on January 11 2007 see Note

The Company acquired CFRA on August 2007 see Note
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19 UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA Continued

20 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

2008

On February 13 2009 the Company signed definitive stock purchase agreement to acquire all of

the outstanding capital stock of Innovest Strategic Advisors Innovest for approximately $16 million

in cash subject to minimum working capital balance of $1.0 million Innovest is an international

investment research and advisory firm specializing in analyzing non-traditional drivers of risk and

shareholder value including companies performance on environmental social and strategic governance
issues The purpose of this acquisition is to enhance the product offerings and services the Company

may offer its customers in assessing risk within the environmental social and governance sectors

On February 23 2009 the Company granted 823500 stock options to its employees at an exercise price

of $11.96 per share which was equal to the closing price of the Companys stock on the date of grant
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Third Fourth

_Quarter Quarter

75554 75493

First Second

Quarter Quarter

Revenues 71220 74126

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of revenues 22704 23176 23507 24000
Research and development 10461 10405 11248 9479
Selling and marketing 9206 9280 9045 5671
General and administrative 9205 9538 8959 9720
Depreciation and amortization of property and

equipment 2115 2165 2153 2346
Amortization of intangible assets 5456 5456 5398 5448
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 160069
Loss on disposal of property and equipment .. 22 57 39

Total operating costs and expenses 59169 60024 60367 216772

Income loss from operations 12051 14102 15187 141279

Interest dividend and investment income

expense net 11477 5000 4860 4943
Income loss before provision for income taxes 574 9102 10327 146222
Provision for income taxes 227 3556 4045 2872

Net income loss 347 5546 6282 149094

Net income per share

Basic 0.01 0.09 0.10 2.43

Diluted 0.01 0.08 0.09 2.43

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 57161701 60522656 60780651 61392215

Diluted 64811753 68046927 68409343 61392215



Exhibit 21.1

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Applied4 Technology Ltd United Kingdom

Corporate Governance Pty Ltd Australia

Institutional Shareholder Services Canada Corp Canada

Institutional Shareholder Services Europe S.A Belgium

Institutional Shareholder Services France S.A France

Institutional Shareholder Services Holdings Inc Delaware

Institutional Shareholder Services Inc Delaware

Institutional Shareholder Services Japan K.K Japan

ISS Corporate Services Inc Delaware

ISS Europe Ltd United Kingdom

ISS RREV Inc
Delaware

Investor Responsibility Research Center Inc Delaware

Research Recommendations and Electronic Voting Ltd United Kingdom

RiskMetrics Group Holdings LLC Delaware

RiskMetrics Group K.K Japan

RiskMetrics Australia Pty Ltd

RiskMetrics Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore

RiskMetrics Solutions Inc Delaware

RiskMetrics Ltd United Kingdom

Securities Class Action Services LLC Delaware



EXHIBIT 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTWE OFFICER

Ethan Berman certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 of

RiskMetrics Group Inc the Registrant

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and Other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure contiols and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e for

the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants intermal control over financial reporting

and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation

of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of

the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and
report financial information and

Any fraUd whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2009

Is ETIw BERMAN

Ethan Berman

Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

David Obstier certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 of

RiskMetriØs Group Inc the Registrant

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations
and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e for

the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants fourth fiscal quarter
that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting

and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation

of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of

the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report
financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2009

Is DAVID OBSTLER

David Obstier

Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTiVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RiskMetrics Group Inc the Registrant on

Form 10 for the year ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report the undersigned certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Date February 27 2009

Is Enw BERMAN

Ethan Berman

Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RiskMetrics Group Inc the Registrant on

Form 10 for the year ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report the undersigned certifies pursuant to 18 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Registrant

Date February 27 2009

/s DAVID OBSTLER

David Obstler

Principal Financial Officer
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Corporate nformation

Officers Board Members

Ethan Berman Ethan Berman Christopher Mitchell

Chief Executive Officer RiskMetrics Group Spectrum Equity Investors

Chairman of the Board
Lovida Coleman Jr Frank Noonan

Gregg Berman Sutherland Asbill Brennan LLP Former Chairman and CEO of

Co-Head Risk Business R.H Donnelly Co
Philip Duff

Stephen Harvey Duff Capital Advisors Lynn Paine

Head of Governance Business John McLean Professor
Stephanie Hanbury-Brown

Harvard Business School
Jorge Mina Golden Seeds LLC

Co-Head Risk Business Steve Thieke
Rene Kern

Former Chairman Risk Management
David Obstler General Atlantic

Chief Financial Officer
Committee of JP Morgan

Arthur Levitt

Robert Trudeau
Carlyle Group

Technology Crossover Ventures

Investor Relations Annual Meeting Stock Symbol

Cheryl Gustitus The annual shareholders meeting of The Companys stock is traded onThe

One Chase Manhattan Plaza RiskMetrics Group will be held on NewYork Stock Exchange under the

New York NY 10005 June 16 2009 at 1000am EST at symbol RMG

866-884-3450 One Chase Manhattan Plaza

646-778-4191 60th Floor

email ir@riskmetrics.com New York NY 10005

Corporate Headquarters Office Locations
_____________ ____________

RiskMetrics Group Ann Arbor Frankfurt Melbourne Rockville

One Chase Manhattan Plaza Beijing Geneva New Jersey San Francisco

NewYork NY 10005 Brussels Leeds New York Singapore

212-981-7475 Cambridge London Oklahoma Tokyo

Chicago Manila Paris Toronto
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